
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND 

ENTERPRISE SPC 
 

TO BE HELD REMOTELY VIA ZOOM   
 

ON TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2022 AT 3.30 PM 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2022
  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes   

 
3 - 8 

2   Matters Arising   
 

 

3   Motion of Notice   
 

 

a   Motion received from Odran Reid and Management Response 
 

9 - 10 

4   Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor Update - William Hynes & Daragh McGreal, 
KPMG   
 

11 - 19 

5   Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan 2024 - Caroline Power, Programme Manager, 
Fingal County Council   
 

20 - 37 

6   Dublin Place Brand Strategy Development - Judith O'Doherty, Eutopia Strategy 
and Mark O'Connell, OCO Global   
 

38 - 67 

7   Dublin City Local Economic and Community Plan Update - Mary MacSweeney, 
Senior Executive Officer/Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development   
 

68 - 70 

8   Published Reports for Circulation    

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm 
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018, 
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained 
in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100. 

 



 

 
a   Dublin City Branding & Placemaking Research Report 

 
71 - 94 

b   Makerspace Provision in Dublin Research Report 
 

95 - 116 

c   Enterprise Hubs Research Report 
 

117 - 
162 

9   European Programme Support Office & International Relations Report - Anthony 
Flynn, Executive Manager, CRES   
 

163 - 
171 

10   Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports 
 

 Economic Development Office  

 Local Enterprise Office 

 Dublin.ie  

 Smart Dublin and Smart Cities   
 
 

172 - 
197 

11   Any Other Business 
 
Next SPC Meeting: 6th September 2022 (3.30pm to 5.30pm) 
 

 

 



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 240122  1  
 

 

 

 

Members Present: 

Cllr. Claire O’Connor (Chair), Dublin City Council  

Cllr. Rachael Batten, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Niall Ring, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Donna Cooney, Dublin City Council  

Cllr. Mary Freehill, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Michael MacDonncha, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Cat O’Driscoll, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Tara Deacy, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Danny Byrne, Dublin City Council 

Cllr. Terence Flanagan, Dublin City Council 

Aidan Sweeney, IBEC; Sectoral Member (Business Rep) 

Evanne Kilmurray, Inner City Enterprise (ICE), Sectoral Member (PPN Rep) 

Natalie McGuinness, Dublin Chamber of Commerce; Sectoral Member (Business Rep) 

Odran Reid, Northside Homecare Service; Sectoral Member (PPN Rep) 

 

Officials Present: 

Richard Shakespeare, Assistant Chief Executive  

Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager  

Greg Swift, Head of Enterprise & Economic Development 

Mary MacSweeney, Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development 

Ross Curley, Senior Economic Development Officer 

Jamie Cudden, Smart City Manager  

Ciara O hAodha, Interim Head of EPSO 

 

Guest: 

Cllr. Deirdre Heney, Dublin City Council  

 

Internal Presenter: 

Deidre Scully, Deputy City Planner, Planning and Property Development  

 

The Chair opened the meeting and advised the Members of the procedure and protocol of remote meetings and asked 

Members to note that the meeting would be recorded and live streamed and available as a webcast on Public I.  Cllr. 

Cooney agreed to act as Deputy Chair, as a contingency plan if any technical problems arose.  
 

1. Minutes 

Minutes of the previous meeting, which took place on 9th November 2021, were agreed by Members. 

 
 

 

Strategic Policy Committee 

Economic Development & Enterprise  

Minutes of Meeting  

24th January 2022 (3.30pm – 5.30pm) 

Delivered Remotely via Zoom 

Page 3



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 240122  2  
 

2. Matters Arising 

None.  
 

3. Motion of Notice  

None received.  

4. Draft Dublin City Development Plan 2022-2028 - Update 

Deirdre Scully, Deputy City Planner, Planning & Property Development  

Copy of presentation was provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack  
 

Deirdre Scully presented to Members. The Chair thanked the Presenter and opened the floor to questions and answers. 

 

Cllr. Freehill wished to acknowledge the work of the Presenter and the wider team and welcomed the draft Plan.  

She commented on the following; a recent Irish Times article and gave praise to both John O’Hara, City Planner and the 

Lord Mayor on DCC’s plans to curb build to rent (BTR) developments and studio and one bedroom apartments; the 

possible adaption of older people’s homes to allow for 2nd income and allow them to stay in their homes; the welcoming 

of the tightening up of Z15’s and the 25% community allowance.  

 

Cllr. Batten expressed concern with the lack of transport needs being addressed in areas of development and how the 

Council are addressing this in line with the draft Plan.  

 

Cllr. Heney asked for explanation of definition “15 minute City”, she commented unfavourably on the takeover of build to 

rent in Clontarf ward, she sought clarification of plans for BTR developments with fewer than 100 units, and queried if the 

discouragement of certain BTR schemes under the City Development Plan would be overruled by Government.  

 

Cllr. Cooney sought clarification on Z15 / Z12 and commented on SDZ’s and the need for connection between planning 

applications and LAP’s.  

 

Odran Reid commented on the industrial/employment issues and many Industrial/Retail Parks in the fringes of Dublin 

City are currently old/underutilised and what plans are there for future development and economic growth in local areas. 

 

Aidan Sweeney reiterated Odran Reid’s comments and the need to look at Dublin as a whole and the need for all plans 

to be aligned. He commented on city centre core shift around retail and how these retail units could not easily be 

switched to other uses, commercial mix in the City and preserving the right mix in terms of night time economy. 

 

The Chair agreed with the comments made by Cllr. Freehill and commended the work of the Lord Mayor in giving the PR 

that was needed in terms of DCC’s stance on curbing BTR developments and studio and one bedroom apartments. She 

put question to the Presenter around the provision of schools/lack of schools giving rise to objections to developments 

and possible conflict between the less than 100 unit BTR developments and the Multi Unit Development Act.  
 

 

The Presenter replied as follows: 

The Presenter thanked the Members for their praise and wished to thank the dedicated team in the Planning Department 

who have worked on this draft Plan.  She commented on the BTR and advised the existing housing model is not a 

sustainable development and the Council seeks to see future developments being more flexible in design and form e.g. 

BTR developments which have the ability to develop into long term housing developments in the future. The Development 

Page 4



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 240122  3  
 

Plan supports age friendly sustainable planning and redevelopment. Transport and development work hand in glove. The 

Council works closely with the NTA in ensuring that the draft Development Plan aligns with the NTA Strategy.  The 

Presenter agreed to email Cllr Heney directly regarding the definition of 15 minute city.  She outlined the reasons for DCC 

not supporting under 100 BTR developments and that DCC are not in breach and are in compliance with the guidelines.  

 

Clarification was given on the following  ; differences between Z15’s and Z12’s,  one of which is the increase of open space 

provision to 25%, mixed use zone and regeneration zoning, retail space change of use in draft Development Plan, 

Metropolitan Plan for Dublin, night time economy under culture and economic sections of draft Development Plan, 

requirement of developers to get sanction from Department for developments of 500 and over in advance of planning 

application and how developer would have to look at services in the area including schools etc., Multi Unit Development 

Act / BTR requirements.  

 
 

 

5. Dublin City Local Economic and Community Plan  

Mary MacSweeney, Senior Executive Officer/Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development  

Copy of Report was provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack  
 

Mary MacSweeney provided a verbal report to Members and proposed that this item becoming a standing item on future 

SPC agendas.  SPC Chair to meet with Chair of LCDC to arrange setting up Advisory Steering Group for LECP as part 

of 6 stage process to develop a new Dublin City LECP in line with guidelines. 

The Chair thanked the Presenter and opened the floor to questions and answers. 

 

Evanne Kilmurray suggested that a member of the EPSO sit on the Advisory Sub-Committee. 

 

Cllr. MacDonncha questioned the benefits of this Plan to the citizens of Dublin, its usefulness and sought for an 

evaluation of the previous plan to further analyse the outcome of previous plan.  

 

Cllr. Cooney welcomed the Plan but expressed concern around how the Plan would be actually implemented within the 

time frame and stressed the importance of it feeding into the City Development Plan.  

 

Cllr. Freehill concurred with the comments made by Cllr. MacDonncha and sought an independent evaluation of previous 

plan to measure its effectiveness.  She requested that: 

 a copy of the EPSO report included in Modgov pack be emailed to SPC Members 

 a copy of the Dublin City LECP 2016-2021 evaluation of socio economic profiles report, prepared by Future 

Analytics, to be circulated to SPC Members.  

 

The Presenter replied as follows:  

 

The Dublin City LECP 2016-2021 evaluation of socio economic profiles report has been prepared by Future Analytics  

based on 2016 census data.  Evaluation report to be shared with SPC Members. The LECP is a sister document to the 

City Development Plan and whilst it addresses some of the common issues and is cognisant of the Development Plan, 

the LECP has a slightly different statutory role than the Development Plan.  

 

Page 5



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 240122  4  
 

Greg Swift advised that the previous LECP 2016-2021 was reported to SPC on a regular basis, all actions in the previous 

Plan were completed with the exception of one. He could only comment on economic side, he could not report on 

community side.  

 

 

6. Published Reports for Circulation  

 Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 2015-2021 Brochure  

 Reset Summit 2020 – Outcomes Report  

Copy of Reports were provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack  

 

Reports noted and were welcomed by the Chair, Cllr Cooney and Evanne Kilmurray.  

 

 

7. European Programme Support Office  

Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager, CRES  

Copy of Progress Report was provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack  

Anthony Flynn presented to Members and ended by acknowledging the work of Ciara O’hAodha as Interim Head of the 

EPSO and wishing her well in pending maternity leave.  The Chair thanked the Presenter and she and other Members 

acknowledged the work of Ciara O’hAodha and opened the floor to questions and answers.  

 

Cllr. Freehill asked what the current position was on DCC working with other institutions, in particular academic 

institutions to enhance and extend the value and use of any programmes DCC were going to engage in, and to explore 

possibility of Members engaging in it to.  

 

She acknowledged recent sanction from Department in relation to EPSO posts and noted that a European Office had 

already been in existence in DCC up to 2014/2015.   

 

She looked for clarification on the Dublin Belfast communications and spoke about the Peace Programme, Urbact and 

Interreg. Two meetings have been held to date of the Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor but a programme has not as yet 

been agreed.  

 

She put question to the Presenter around the City of the Isles Committee, a Committee she set up as Lord Mayor 21 

years ago, and had this Committee been disbanded?  

 

Cllr. Cooney asked for a list of applications made for open calls for European Programme Funding and asked what 

funding applications have been made in relation to Resilience of Cities in face of climate change.   

 

Cllr. MacDonncha concurred with Cllr. Freehill regarding the Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor and asked for an update 

to be circulated to Members in advance of the next SPC and that the DBEC be included as an agenda item on the next 

SPC.   

 

 

 

Page 6



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 240122  5  
 

The Presenter replied as follows: 

 

Higher education institutions continue to be involved in the Horizon process and he welcomed the opportunities for 

Members to engage in that process going forward.  From recollection, the City of Isles Committee has not met for a long 

time and DCC are currently involved with an EU proposal with Wales.  Regarding Department sanction of posts for 

EPSO, the matter is with HR and in queue along with other posts requesting to be filled from other Departments.  An 

update was provided on the Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor under agenda Item 8 EDE Management Reports and he 

proposed that Mary MacSweeney give further clarification on the DBEC under this item. The Chair agreed.  

With regard to Open Calls he advised that a list had been provided and included in his report which was published on 

Modgov.  The Presenter agreed to circulate the list to the Members and he reiterated the purpose of the EPSO was to 

notify the relevant Departments of open calls for funding applications, but that it was up to the relevant Department to 

pursue further as the skillset lies with the relevant DCC Department.  DCC made a submission to the National Recovery 

and Resilience Plan which was acknowledged by the Department, but DCC were not successful in funding application.  

Funding applications are being made with regard to the green agenda presently.  CARO looking at making application for 

City of Dublin in relation to resilience and climate action and Presenter proposed to ask Sabrina Dekker to provide Cllr 

Cooney with further information if she required.   

8. Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports  

a. Economic Development Office 

b. Local Enterprise Office  

c. Dublin.ie  

d. Smart Dublin and Smart Cities  

e. International Relations  

 

Copy of Management Reports were provided in advance of the meeting in the ModGov pack.  

The Chair opened the floor to questions and answers. 

The Chair asked for further information on the Employment Survey Results for 2021. 

Cllr. MacDonncha requested the Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor be listed as a substantive item on the next agenda 

and that practical actions/outcomes be provided along with timelines.  

Cllr Freehill asked position on possible connections with Belfast and why this must go through the Dublin Belfast 

Economic Corridor.  Her proposed scheme through the Peace Plus programme is a joint project in relation to older 

people through Urbact or Interreg.  

Greg Swift replied in relation to the Employment Survey Results 2021 announced by An Tánaiste on 17/1/22. Net job 

creation of 3000 through LEO network, in relation to LEO Dublin City 1728 jobs created with 377 client companies in 

LEO Dublin City portfolio with 408 jobs gained.  Start-ups have seen a 30% increase in programme participation with 66 

Measure 1 grants provided during 2021, totalling €1,280,310.  

Mary MacSweeney gave verbal update on DBEC – Chair and Vice Chair have been elected, the Chair will now set dates 

for future meetings of the Advisory Group.  Action plans are being developed and work is ongoing since 2018, DCU 

report has been completed, website has been developed, KPMG and Future Analytics have been commissioned to 

Page 7



Minutes of ED & Ent SPC 240122  6  
 

assist in production of Development Plan which will examine options for required structures needed going forward.  

Corridor supports are being identified and companies along the Corridor that can be promoted have been identified.  

With regard to connections with Belfast and a possible scheme through the Peace Plus programme, whilst a joint project 

in relation to Older People would not come under the remit of this SPC it could be pursued by Housing or Older Peoples 

Section, any connections it would have through the DBEC could further strengthen any possible applications for funding.  

 

9. A.O.B. 

 

Next SPC Meeting: 12th April 2022 (3.30pm to 5.30pm) 

Council Chamber, City Hall / remote via Zoom (In line with government guidelines operating at this time) 

Action items for Progression: 

 

Agenda 

Item: 

Action: Responsibility: 

5 Dublin City LECP 2016-2021 evaluation of socio economics 

profiles report prepared by Future Analytics to be circulated to 

SPC Members as requested by Cllr. Freehill. Meeting of Chairs of 

SPC and LCDC to be arranged to agree Advisory Steering Group. 

Mary MacSweeney 

7 List of open calls for European Funding Programmes to be 

circulated to the Members as requested by Cllr. Cooney 

Anthony Flynn 

(completed) 

8 Request by Cllr MacDonncha that the Dublin Belfast Economic 

Corridor be included as an agenda item for the next SPC.  

Mary MacSweeney/ 

Ross Curley 

 

 

Page 8



Motion - EDE SPC 12/04/2022  

Proposed by: Odran Reid 

Motion:  

With the ongoing war caused by the invasion of Russia into Ukraine and the added disruption of supply 

chains already under strain due to the Pandemic, Brexit and general world disruption, adding extensive 

costs to individuals, business, and societal activity, it is incumbent upon the City Council to prepare 

additional contingency plans for the operation of the city, the movement of people and the operation of 

economic and social activity. The City council working with neighbouring Councils in the Eastern Midland 

Assembly, and state bodies and government shall seek to promote access to the city through public 

transport, cycling and walking as far as practically possible and shall seek to develop and promote the 15 

minute city as far as practically possible by all of its actions with a level of urgency . 

 

DCC response:  

Dublin City Council acknowledge the level of global and domestic uncertainty and is engaging with key 

stakeholders in seeking solutions to these challenges at city level . Eileen Quinlivan, Assistant Chief 

Executive, is co-ordinating a business continuity response to the requests and impacts of the Ukrainian 

refugee crisis on service delivery. This is an ongoing and dynamic process to manage and we can assure 

the members that this is a priority for the Dublin City Council.  

In addition to the contingency plans, the planned and scheduled work of DCC continues. On April 1 st the 

Dublin Regional Enterprise plan was launched. The Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan is a bottom up, multi-

agency stakeholder, collaborative approach to deliver on six agreed strategic objectives: 

Strategic Objective 1: SMEs & Startups    

Strategic Objective 2: Placemaking    

Strategic Objective 3: Employment/Enterprise Inclusion 

Strategic Objective 4: Low Carbon Transition  

Strategic Objective 5: Skills & Talent    
Strategic Objective 6: Strengthen Dublin’s Ecosystem 

Dublin City Council is working with the Eastern Midlands Regional Assembly (EMRA) and other 

stakeholders and is directly supporting 20 of the 26 actions outlined within the plan, and will be mindful 

of the evolving geo political and economic issues being faced by all citizens, as this work package is 

progressed. Some of the actions with the greatest relevance to this motion are as follows: 

Strategic Objective 2: Placemaking 

Action 2:1 Engage to identify a pathway to the implementation of the “15 minute city” concept to 

encourage sustainable neighbourhoods. Action Lead: EMRA – Action Partner: Dublin City Council 

Action 2.8: Rethinking mobility in Dublin via Mobility-as-a-Service (MaaS). Action Lead: National 

Transport Authority (NTA) – Action Partner: Dublin City Council 

Page 9



Dublin City Council are also in the process of developing the Local Economic and Community Plan (LECP), 

a six year plan to support economic and community development across Dublin City. The members of 

this SPC along with LCDC members will contribute significantly to the formation of the LECP. This will 

assist the City Council to prepare tailored plans to guide the development of the city, the movement of 

people and the operation of economic and social activity, as set out in this motion.  

Additionally, with regard to the “15 Minute City”, this is a central tenet of the new Draft City 

Development Plan.  Indeed New Policy QHSN10 states it is the Policy of the City Council: 

“To promote the concept of the 15-minute city which provides for liveable, sustainable urban 

neighbourhoods and villages throughout the city that deliver healthy placemaking, high quality housing 

and well-designed, safe and inclusive public spaces by local services, amenities and sustainable modes of 

transport.” 

The Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy (RSES) introduced to Ireland the concept of the 10-15 

Minute Settlement, as part of the Regional Settlement Hierarchy.  In response to this approach the City 

Council aims to strengthen Urban Villages and Local Neighbourhoods, which are ideally placed to cater 

for their communities daily needs.   

The 15 minute concept also necessitates more intensive use of urban land, with an emphasis on quality 

placemaking and public realm. The 15 Minute City moreover is designed to promote inclusive, multi-

cultural and safe urban neighbourhoods, where people have the ability to access most of their daily 

needs across 6 functions; living, working, supply, caring, learning and enjoyment.   Of course the 15 

Minute City does not mean that everything must be provided within a local catchment area, and as such 

the concept must be complemented by efficient, sustainable public transport to connect towns and core 

functions; e.g. hospitals, third level education, across the city region.  

The Economic Development office worked with Planning staff to design a survey as part of the City 

Development Plan process in February 2021, using the Your Dublin Your Voice platform.  The survey 

asked questions about lived experience of the “15 Minute City” and the findings are available on the 

Dublin City Council website Your Dublin Your Voice 

ENDS.  

Page 10

https://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/economic-development/your-dublin-your-voice


Dublin-Belfast 
Economic Corridor

For members of the Economic Development and Enterprise SPC 
—

12 April 2022

P
age 11



2© 2022 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All 
rights reserved.

Project Overview1

DBEC in a Wider Context3

Evolution of DBEC2

Comparator corridors4

Consultation feedback5

Indicative findings6

Summary of DBEC Partnership project:

On behalf of the eight councils of the 
Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor, KPMG 
is supporting the partnership with a 
development plan, strategy, and action 
plan. 

The overall strategic process is informed 
by extensive stakeholder consultation, 
data analysis, spatial analysis, and 
secondary research. 

Contents

P
age 12



3© 2022 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All 
rights reserved.

Project overview

Stage 1
Development Plan

Board Governance

Setup

Resourcing

KPIs

Funding

Cost

Stakeholder consultations 

Thematic baseline review
• R&D
• Tourism and connectivity 
• Skills
• Infrastructure
• Trade and investment

Stage 3
Action Plan

Development of action plan

Project identification 

Stakeholder consultation 
review

Examine financial/funding 
opportunities and approaches

DBEC action plan

Short list of projects

Stage 2
Strategy

Vision development 

Baseline economic review

SWOT analysis 

Stakeholder consultations 

Develop overall DBEC 
Strategy (2022-2030)

Test and refine the strategy
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-

-
-
-

The DBEC project comprises three stages: Development Plan, Strategy and Action Plan.

-
-
-
-
-
-

P
age 13



4© 2022 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All 
rights reserved.

DBEC in a wider context

Meath (~195,000) is Ireland's ancient 
capital with a number of historical 

hotspots. It has a number of key sectors 
for the region including, tourism, data 

centres, film industry, warehouse 
distributors, agriculture 

Dublin City Council (~550,000), 
having over a quarter of the corridors 

population is represents the most 
sizeable share of the corridor’s total 

population. Dublin has a number of key 
sectors promoting growth

Fingal (~296,000 ) plays strong 
supporting role to the Dublin City 

Gateway with the Dublin Enterprise 
Zone (DEZ) (~1500 hectares of land for 

primarily business activities. 

Belfast (~340,000) is the economic 
driver of the NI economy, with key 

strengths in a number of high growth 
sectors. 

Louth County Council area 
(~129,000) located on the border, world 
class research centres and facilities at 
DkIT, particularly around ICT, Health & 

Ageing; Energy & Environment and 
Creative & Digital Arts.

The Newry, Mourne & Down District 
Council area (~179,000) is an access 

point to/from NI/RoI and vice versa, and 
also includes freight access into NI 

through Warrenpoint Port.

Lisburn & Castlereagh and their wider 
hinterland (~141,000) are ideally 

located as a gateway to Belfast, with 
direct access to the A1/M1 opening the 

area to multiple opportunities. 

Armagh City, Banbridge and 
Craigavon and their hinterland 

(~210,000) comprise key settlements 
and enterprise bases (e.g. agri-food, 

manufacturing).

Council areas in NI Council areas in RoI

Sources: Based on the latest census data at Electoral Division (Northern Ireland) and Super Output Area (Republic of Ireland)

P
age 14



5© 2022 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All 
rights reserved.

Short-term: 2022-24 Medium-term: 2025-27 Long-term: 2028-3020211990s 2000s 2018

Evolution of DBEC
The DBEC concept has developed to grow and promote the region 

2021/2022
DBEC development 
plan, strategy and 
action plan being 
produced by KPMG

Medium-term: 2025-27
Consider wider funding streams available 
over the medium-term and what additional 
resources and projects can be brought 
forward

Long-term: 2028-30
Review strategic objectives/ 
areas of focus

Consideration of different 
sources of funding that should 
be targeted

Headcount roadmap for the 
partnership to grow further

March 2021
Launch of the 
redeveloped DBEC 
concept. Eight councils 
release UU/DCU DBEC 
report

Short-term: 2022-24
Set up of initial partnership 
personnel (virtual, within one 
or more councils)

Legal structure considerations

Seed other funding options for 
establishment 

1990s
DBEC concept first 
introduced in the 1990s

2000s
Throughout the 2000s, a number of 
improvements to the M1/A1 on the 
Northern Ireland side to decreased 
travel time between Dublin and 
Belfast

2018
A network of the eight 
councils located along the 
corridor and two universities 
came together to work 
collectively on realising the 
potential benefits of the 
corridor

P
age 15



6© 2022 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All 
rights reserved.

Comparator corridors

Sources: Respective economic corridor websites

“By maximising the benefits of 
integration and cross-border 

dynamics, the Oresund Region 
will stand out as the most 

attractive and climate-smart 
region in Europe“

“To maximise the Arc’s 
transformative economic 

potential”
+ Quantified sub-goal on 
doubling economic output 

by 2050

“To market the region to 
external audiences on why the 
Research Triangle Region is 
the best place to live and do 

business”

“To attract and 
grow quality 

businesses, and 
advocate for 

Greater Phoenix’s 
competitiveness”

Maximising benefits and growth Attract and grow quality businesses

Advocate for competitiveness Market the region 

✓
✓

✓
✓

There are a number of international economic corridors from which DBEC can draw 
learnings about corridor vision, set up, governance, resourcing, costs, and funding. 

P
age 16



7© 2022 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All 
rights reserved.

Consultation feedback
There is broad consensus amongst stakeholders that DBEC is a major opportunity, especially in skills, 
infrastructure, and R&D. Higher and more regionally balanced growth is a priority. Clarity on objectives, 
flexibility on short-term structure, and private sector involvement, emerge as key short-term actions.

Sources: KPMG consultations

“Moving towards a separate secretariat 
should be near the border ideally but 

host has to be fully bought into”
Council executive

“Projects undertaken by DBEC should be 
complementary with the aims of private sector 

representatives”
Private sector representative

“DBEC needs to have a key difference from 
other international corridors for it to market 

and promote to FDI”
CEO of comparator economic corridor

“For the partnership to succeed there needs 
to be private sector champions to promote 

the partnerships and corridor”
CEO of comparator economic corridor

“The partnership is to be a joint 
voice for the region to lobby for 
infrastructure and other needs”

Council executive

“The first step when creating an economic 
corridor partnership is to have good 

advertising and establish good branding” 
CEO of comparator economic corridor

“Encourage the involvement of universities in 
the partnership to better align the training of 
skills and research needs for the corridor”

CEO of comparator economic corridor

“DBEC needs to have strong links 
with government departments and 

the private sector”
Council executive

“Tourism and promoting the region 
should be an early focus for DBEC”

Council executive

“Initially funded from local government with funding sources 
to be broadened within 1-3 years ”

Council executive

“For the 8 councils to have a focus in key areas such as; 
Sustainability, mobility labour force, green sector, tourism, etc”

Private sector representative

“DBEC can be a local government network and can 
create a platform to share information”

University Representative

“If we were to start over we would adopt a 
bottom up approach instead of being top down” 

Comparator economic corridor

Themes

Objectives Set up Stakeholders

P
age 17



8© 2022 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All 
rights reserved.

Indicative findings

Potential focus for the DBEC partnership

• Advocate for cross-border infrastructure, develop initial business cases, prioritise investment in 
future infrastructure improvements e.g. rail, greenways, next generation energy network  water, 
vertiport network

• Advocate for all-island skills policy and become the aggregator of skills coordination along corridor. 
Develop a regional workforce platform that meets the current and future demands of exporting 
companies

• Coordinate existing research centres for pan-corridor use (e.g. City Deal Regional Innovation Hubs, 
Fingal’s accelerator centre, SFI centres, and the US-Ireland Research and Development Partnership)

• Leverage collective voice to secure funding from Shared Island, SEEUPB and private sector for a 
range of co-operative projects amongst corridor stakeholders to be put towards infrastructure, skill 
development and  R&D projects

• Work with partner organisations (Government, semi-state, councils) to support key priorities and to 
achieve targets outlined in respective development plans

• Facilitate collaboration between local companies and foreign companies and connect them with 
business advisory services that provide peer-to-peer mentor, and organise regular educational 
workshops around opportunities, programmes, key issues of interest 

• As part of annual reporting, publish an annual benchmarking report on the corridor’s growth 
against peer corridors

P
age 18



The KPMG name and logo are registered trademarks of KPMG International Limited (“KPMG International”), a 
private English company limited by guarantee.

The information contained herein is of a general nature and is not intended to address the circumstances of 
any particular individual or entity. Although we endeavour to provide accurate and timely information, there 
can be no guarantee that such information is accurate as of the date it is received or that it will continue to be 
accurate in the future. No one should act on such information without appropriate professional advice after a 
thorough examination of the particular situation.

kpmg.ie

© 2022 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All 
rights reserved.

P
age 19



P
age 20



Dublin City Council
Economic Development & 

Enterprise SPC 
12th April 2022

Item No. 5
Virtual Presentation 

P
age 21



Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan 
To 2024

Presented by: Caroline Power, 
Dublin REP Programme Manager

P
age 22



Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan To 2024

P
age 23



Regional Enterprise Plans

“The Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment’s
Regional Enterprise Plans are developed by regional
stakeholders and focus on undertaking collaborative
initiatives that can help realise enterprise growth and
job creation in each of the nine regions across Ireland.
They are an important part of the Programme for
Government commitment to achieving more balanced
regional enterprise development.”

P
age 24



Regional Plan Development Approach

•‘Bottom up’ - approach based on regional nature to 
identify and prioritise ecosystem gaps and 
opportunities.
•Placed-based – Complement and make national 
policy more impactful in the Dublin region.
•Action oriented - Use collective insight and 
resources in each region and avail of regional 
funding, to progress initiatives.

P
age 25



Context of Dublin Region 

•The Dublin Region comprises of Dublin City,  Dun-
Laoghaire Rathdown, Fingal and South Dublin 
administrative areas  (4 Dublin LA’s).

•The Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan (REP) is 
unique.

•Plays a pivotal role in Ireland’s economic growth. 

•Promote adaptive place-making both domestically 
and internationally.

P
age 26



Context of Dublin Region 

P
age 27



Vision of Dublin REP

•Promote balanced regional growth to increase 
opportunity.

•Focus an collaborative effort to address specific 
regional objectives aligned to government policy:-
Programme for Government (PfG)

Ireland’s National Recovery and Resilience Plan 2021

P
age 28



Vision of Dublin REP

Long-term vision of the National Development Plan 2040 
(NDP) 

Eastern Midland Regional Spatial & Economic Strategy 
(RSES)

Four Dublin Local Authorities -
• County Development Plans

• Local Economic & Community Plans (LECP’s)

P
age 29



Plan Formulation

•Formation of Key Stakeholders

•Stakeholder consultation sessions in 2021

•Steering Committee

•Chaired by Private Sector – Susan Spence, Founder 
and President SoftCo

•Project Delivery Team 

•Key stakeholders within the region 

P
age 30



Stakeholders 

P
age 31



Stakeholders Consultation 
Themes:
•Scale up SME’s/resilience/clusters/mentoring
•Digital transformation
•Promote adaptive place-making
•Low Carbon Transition
• Inclusivity to marginalised and disadvantaged 
communities
•Cultivate skills and talent 
•Leverage future economic growth

P
age 32



Six Strategic Objectives

1. Strengthen resilience and the potential for scaling 
amongst Dublin’s SME’s and Start-Up’s

2. Promote context specific, attractive and adaptive 
place-making for an evolving world of work and 
diverse lifestyles, enabling resilience, business 
recovery and new opportunities.

3. Facilitate every individual to realise their full 
potential through engagement in economic 
activity. 

P
age 33



Implementation 
•Under the Six Objectives

•26 Actions

•Regional Steering Committee (4 Dublin LA’s Chief 
Executives)

•Chair of Steering Committee 

•Facilitated/driven by the Programme Manager

•Project Delivery Team and Working Groups 

P
age 34



Oversight 

•DETE oversee the implementation nationally

•DETE has established National Oversight Group 
(NOG) chaired jointly by Minister Robert Troy 
and Minister Damien English

P
age 35



Funding

• Up to €180M - Regional Enterprise 
Development Funding (including RETS and REISS)

• European Regional Development Funding (ERDF)

P
age 36



Questions & Answers
Thank you for listening.

For a copy of the REP Dublin to 2024 visit: 
www.gov.ie/en/publication/253f4-dublin-regional-enterprise-plan-to-2024/

Programme Manager contact:
Carolinepower@dlrcoco.ie

P
age 37

http://www.gov.ie/en/publication/253f4-dublin-regional-enterprise-plan-to-2024/
mailto:Caroline.Power@fingal.ie


1

Evolution of the Dublin 

Place Brand – Update for 

SPC – 12th April

P
age 38



2

The objectives of this project

• Understand how the brand could and should evolve for the

new market conditions

• Develop a model for measuring brand efficacy and KPIs

• Develop a new governance model for place brand

management to enhance adoption and visibility

• To provide a new narrative for Dublin that will resonate with all

target audiences – Residents, Visitors, Investors, Local

Enterprise and Students

P
age 39



3

The activities we’re undertaking

Reviewing 

best practice
Update on 

market 

dynamics

Perceptions 

research
Benchmarking 

performance

Developing a 

new place 

narrative and 

positioning

Developing 

new guidelines 

for brand 

management

Creative inputs Comms 

planning

P
age 40



4

Why place brands and marketing matters – the new market dynamics

• Access to skills

• Changing 

financing models

• Need to scale 

more quickly and 

exploit new 

modes of funding

• Managing the 

new working 

norms

• Managing risk

• Access to skills –

decentralisation 

of projects

• Rise of ESG

• Need for stability 

• Profitability

• Direct 

engagement with 

cities to retain 

control – national 

bodies of less 

significance

• Volumes and 

patterns have 

changed 

• Local cultural 

interest

• Sustainable 

tourism

• Security

• Authenticity

• Skills drain due 

to Covid

• Higher expectations 

from residents 

• Vitality and 

vibrancy

• Access to cultural 

experiences

• Quality 

accommodation

• Integrated 

transport systems

• Community, 

diversity and 

inclusion

• Move to hybrid 

and online 

teaching

• Place + Institution 

+ Course

• Cost

• Employability and 

opportunity

• Access and 

facilitation for 

international 

students 

INVEST WORK VISIT LIVE STUDY

P
age 41



5

How place positioning and marketing helps? 

• Scaling enterprises 

have increased 

location choice –

especially with 

hybrid / tech / 

regionalisation 

agendas but Dublin 

remains economic 

engine and largest 

market in Ireland

• Building enterprise 

base to reduce FDI 

dependence

• Building mindshare 

and messaging on 

Dublin as a leading 

FDI location 

highlighting sector 

expertise.

• Promoting city 

attractiveness to 

support skills retention

• Promotion to 

potential investors

• Complementing the 

national offer and 

their increased focus 

on placemaking 

• Develop a sense of 

pride and 

confidence with 

residents 

• Encourage 

participation in more 

aspects of city living 

across all groups –

culture, sport, health 

& wellbeing

• Promote the quality 

of life available in 

Dublin

• Place remains a 

primary ingredient 

of the student 

decision making 

process –

domestically and 

internationally

• International 

students become 

ambassadors and 

can supplement 

the skills pool

INVEST WORK VISIT LIVE STUDY

• Messaging in line 

with new consumer 

demand

• Change 

perceptions od 

Dublin  domestically 

and enhance 

leisure and business 

travel

• Support Tourism 

Ireland’s 

international 

marketing efforts

• Leverage the  wider 

Dublin product

P
age 42



6

Tier 1 – Key urban hubs across the island of Ireland that have adopted 

place brands

Visual Identity considerations

• Place names are already brands and communicate certain values

• The creative device provides an opportunity for standout, adoption, direction and campaign

integration

• Colours derive from literal translation, County colours, “Irish” colours

• Belfast has no fixed colour (political!)

• To add a tagline or brand driver or not? Needed if brandmark doesn’t use the name explicitly

• Brand drivers support the overall narrative and campaigns

P
age 43



7

EUROPEAN CITIES AND THEIR 

APPROACH

P
age 44



8

City Brands in Action – MIPIM 2022

Back in business theme

Many city brands conveyed 

“post pandemic” messaging 

P
age 45



9

City Brands in Action – MIPIM 2022

Lifestyle drivers

“Liveability” has become a more important  positioning 

post pandemic with the resulting rise in hybrid working as 

cities compete against regions for talent.  

P
age 46



10

City Brands in Action – MIPIM 2022

Environmental focus

Unsurprisingly, many cities 

have an environmental 

positioning and significant 

focus on ESG within the 

MIPIM conference 

programme.

P
age 47



11

City Brands in Action – MIPIM 2022

European focus

Strasbourg has a clear and owned position as 

a European hub – evidenced by the location 

of the European parliament.

P
age 48



12

City Brands in Action – MIPIM 2022

New look and feel and positioning for established brands

Stockholm’s campaign at 

MIPIM centred around 

IMPACT – an economic  

centred positioning.

London’s brand device 

indicates multi-culturalism 

and diversity

P
age 49



13

City Brands in Action – MIPIM 2022

Less of the traditional investment focus

Less cities lead with “economic” 

focussed brands recognising the 

broader interdependence of place 

pillars

P
age 50



14

Best Practice examples

• Prominent European place 

brands include Lyon, Eindhoven, 

Stockholm and Antwerp

• Theses cities have dedicated 

“place” websites and actively 

managed social channels. The 

brand is used across the pillar 

areas including tourism

• The brands are also highly visible 

at a local level – and fully 

adopted by respective 

municipalities

• There is evidence of widespread 

engagement and adoption by 

multiple stakeholders.

P
age 51



15

Some initial findingsP
age 52



To better understand Dublin’s perception, the place opportunities and challenges, OCO and eutopia engaged senior stakeholders at local, national and

international levels to provide further context for the evolution of the place brand. In total, 60+ consultations have been completed with contributions

from organisations involved with the following activities: enterprise, transport, housing, tourism, higher education, investment, sport, and culture.

LOCAL NATIONAL INTERNATIONAL

P
age 53



17

Economic perceptions (Macro, investment & enterprise)

Analysis

Challenges • Many uncertainties remain around the future of work and its impact on city centre 
development. 

• Skills shortages which acute in some areas - regionalisation / remote working may 
impact

• Concerns that Dublin will see less investment in the future in part due to changing 
patterns of investment and potential regulatory changes in international taxation

• Regional / domestic perception that Dublin needs less intervention and support
• Brexit, inflation, post Covid recovery and other macro issues 
• Limitations as to the relative resource of LEO 

Opportunities • Dublin is recognised as the main source of economic opportunity in Ireland
• Remote working also mobilises skills from other regions – 2 way street
• Strengthening enterprise sector, particularly tech
• Dublin as the only English speaking city within the EU could bolster FDI 
• Property development and demand remains buoyant

Current Initiatives to 

support growth

• Local Economic Development plan
• EMRA Strategy
• Dublin-Belfast Economic corridor
• Digital transformation initiatives from public and private sector 
• SMART cities / Innovation agenda to harness and manage the tech impact on 

workforce
• Business growth supports from LEO & FDI attraction from IDA

Brand and positioning Attractiveness and enhanced experience of working in an office based city 
environment. 
The unique opportunity in Dublin for career development
Strength, opportunity and confidence  

74

41

Positive

Negative

• This pillar covers stakeholder comments and concerns surrounding skills,

remote working, enterprise and investment attractiveness among

others.

P
age 54



18

• Hybrid / remote working is seen as a significant concern – but also an opportunity to attract new skills

• There was general uncertainty surrounding the future of work and how hybrid working would affect businesses’ 

abilities to employ new staff and what the impact will be on operational effectiveness

• Stakeholders were concerned about the perceived impact on Dublin city centre, believing that people are 

now reluctant to return to the city to work

• This move away from city working if sustained could have a long term detrimental effect on the city’s economy

• The reality is that the market will adjust and a balance will be achieved. Demographics may be a factor. 

Economic perceptions – Hybrid working

Know companies reducing office 

space and others expanding 

space and using it differently 

(creating better office 

environment) to attract talent .

If workforce won't 

return to office, 

companies may have 

to remain remote to 

retain employees

Know people who took Dublin-based 

jobs they wouldn’t have considered, 

because they can work remotely

Missed out on human 

interaction; remote-

working worked in the 

short-term but not suitable 

for new staff, training, 

recruiting. Expect 

migration back to office

Seen a change in clients moving out 

of Dublin city centre due to declined 

footfall, growing in suburban Dublin. 

They'll either relocate back in, or new 

businesses will fill the space

P
age 55



19

• Scale and momentum

• Buoyant jobs market, good growth indicators

• Centre for business on island of Ireland and of growing European importance post 

Brexit

• “If it isn’t happening in Dublin, it isn’t happening for our business”

• Economic hub and spoke effect for Ireland

DUBLIN 

RECOGNISED AS 

ECONOMIC HUB 

REGIONALISATION 

& COMPETITION

Economic perceptions – Other key points

• Regions have experienced a remote working boost and provides an 

opportunity but  driven by individual needs rather than business needs 

– even with the predicted decentralisation in FDI

• A spirit of co-opetition rather than competition and respect for Dublin’s 

position 

• The cost and standard of living appear to be the main factors 

motivating workers to consider remote working roles

• Other key urban hubs like Belfast and Cork need to support the city 

working narrative as much as Dublin 

• There may be more opportunities to work together on regional 

corridors like Belfast / Dublin Economic Corridor

P
age 56



2020

Associations with Dublin from international consultees

• Pub Culture
• Irish Hospitality
• Whiskey Distillery Tours
• Guinness Tour
• Landscapes and Surrounding Countryside
• Cultural Heritage

• Dynamism
• Technology Centre
• Tax Incentives
• Expensive Cost of Living
• Urban Regeneration

• Guinness
• River Liffey
• Beautiful architecture
• Temple Bar

• Literature

• Financial Services
• Trinity College (Higher Education)

• St Patrick’s Day
• Pub Culture
• Temple Bar District
• Culture, Music and Dance
• Walkable city and accessibility
• Guinness tours
• ‘Heart of Ireland’

• Economic ‘Rebound’
• Major Technology Hub in Europe
• Corporate Hub for Global Companies
• Vibrant and Diverse Talent Base
• Young and Dynamic Economy
• Tax Incentives

• St Patrick’s Day
• Whiskey and Guinness
• Georgian Architecture
• Literature
• Temple Bar

• Innovation Economy
• Financial Services
• Tax Incentives

P
age 57



21
21

Dublin’s Peer Cities

London

Berlin

Zurich

Amsterdam

Barcelona

Singapore

Cologne

Lille

Madrid

Lisbon

Stockholm

Gdansk

Glasgow

Antwerp

Liverpool

Hamburg

Marseille

Munich

Strasbourg

Vienna

Prague

Amsterdam

Frankfurt

Manchester

Edinburgh

Amsterdam

Barcelona

Glasgow

Cardiff

Newcastle

Copenhagen

Oslo

Helsinki

Lisbon

Hamburg

Lyons

Cologne

Belfast

London

Boston

Berlin

Nantes

Brussels

Seattle

Zurich

New Orleans

Birmingham

Belfast

Copenhagen

Edinburgh

Amsterdam

“I view Dublin as another weekend break destination with decent

nightlife”

Ian Fuller– OCO Global

“Dublin is not a mega city but is able to stand strongly on its own as

a tourist destination and hub for business/industry.”

Brian Castleberry – Maryland Department of Commerce

“Great city with rich history but not as prohibitively expensive or

overdone for travel as London, Paris, etc.”

Preston Wickersham – Remote Technologies Ltd

“Second Tier City”

Thelie Reichard – The Co-Active Network

P
age 58



22

Three Words to Describe Dublin

Friendly

Fun

Historic

10%

5%

8%

P
age 59



23

Challenges for Dublin

6. 
Investment 
Monitoring

5.
Investment 
Aftercare

4. Investment 
Facilitation

“Rising costs in city represents a
challenge, esp. for students and junior
staff of companies”
Jens Manke - Germany

Cost of Living

“Dublin is not the tier-1 investment destination for Chinese
investors compared to Germany or France when considering
investing in Europe. Reasons for choosing Germany or
France can be boiled down to geographic location”
Ziyi Zhao – China

Edge of Europe

“One of the challenges is that the city seems to be
second tier, rather than a first-tier city. I have never
naturally thought of Dublin as a city that is in line
with the first tier cities throughout Europe. This
could be a major challenge economically and
attracting tourists”
Thalia Reichard – Canada

Breaking 
Biases

Diversity

Workforce 
Sustainability

Modern vs 
Traditional

“Sustainability could be a challenge – do they have
the population growth to support large companies”
Alan Stevenson – USA

“The most negative perception is the lack
of diversity. Very little minority
representation in Dublin. This could be a
major challenge in the future.”
Andy Karellas – USA

“Staying innovative and balancing their
traditions/historical value with the future.
Barry O’Connell - USA

Several key threats and challenges were identified
for Dublin from international consultees.

P
age 60



24

Some consultees commented on the lack of 

authority and capacity of Local Authorities as 

well as the marginalisation of urban areas as 

part of the regionalisation agenda.

“Need for a national policy for cities the way 

there is one for rural strategies – cities have 

also been affected by COVID”

“Lots of funding available but no resource to 

deliver these funds”

“Dublin has historically been behind in 

managing urbanisation, trying to reposition 

an urban future for people”

ROLE OF MEDIA GOVERNANCE POLICY & STRATEGY

Perception of Dublin – Cross-pillar topics

Consultees commented that Dublin received 

a disproportionate amount of negative 

media coverage – both on traditional media 

and social media – which resulted in a 

negative perception of the city overall. 

“Feels like it is common to talk down Ireland, 

talk up negative aspects - particularly among 

younger people and on social media”

“Media highlights only bad news”

“Social media needs to be regulated, lot of 

misinformation and damaging material; 

decline in quality of journalism”

“Problems of the city exacerbated by media; 

if someone gets assaulted on the Luas, it will 

be on national news. City of half a million 

people, a million use it as their base - these 

problems happen anywhere of that size”

“Crime stats don't back up the messaging 

around safety”

There is a perception that Dublin’s 

governance is often disjointed.  There is a 

willingness to collaborate but often 

operational challenges in doing so with 

surrounding areas in the County. There are 

calls for greater collaboration and 

integration, both across regions and between 

the public and private sector, and 

particularly on issues surrounding green 

initiatives.

“Dublin had 42 EU-related projects, but no 

sense of having an EU function or EU 

relationship”

“Dublin stakeholder market is fragmented 

compared to smaller entities like Cork. Each 

area of government has competing priorities”

“Targeting international markets could be 

more joined up across agencies & strategic 

priorities e.g. EI, Tourism etc. 5000 Indian

students in Ireland, probably 2/3rds in Dublin; 

Dublin City aren't going to promote 

themselves in India”

P
age 61



25

What would encourage you to visit Dublin?

“If it kept popping up places – i.e. an ad about visiting Dublin – that
would give me an extra incentive to always have Dublin at the top of
my mind. Also seeing pictures of places and understanding what was
available there. Also if I were to see movies that were filmed in
Dublin and have an idea of what it looks like. Dublin is on my list to
visit, but there is always another place that is ahead of Dublin“
Thelia Reichard – The Co-Active Network

Live Music 

Events

Better 

Transport

Art Exhibitions Tour Availability
Heritage

Airfare and 

Hotel 

Promotions

Improved 

Marketing and 

Promotion

Cost

English 

Speaking

Walkability

Friendliness

Nightlife Atmosphere

Culture
Access to 

Outdoors

“I am open to visiting Dublin, but it is not on top of my list. If there
was a particular event, such as dancing or a show or a concert, etc.,
then it would maybe move to the top “
Daphna Fenyves – Université de Montréal

“No real feeling of what Dublin could be like if you haven’t visited
(guess that goes for many cities, but with some you imagine only the
positive: Melbourne Zurich for example).“
Henning Manke – Technische Universitat Dortmund

P
age 62



Critical Success Factors for Dublin?

“Dublin (and Ireland) is not about the
Irish market, it’s about accessing EU
and possibly UK markets. Refining a
clear value proposition in this space
could be helpful.”
Brock Dickinson – University of Waterloo
(Canada)

“Maintaining cultural identity while
accepting the need to change.”
David Bryce – OCO Global (USA)

“Talent. That is the bottom line for
every major city. If you can attract the
workforce then everything else will
take care of itself.”
Brian Castleberry
– Maryland Department of Commerce
(USA)

“Good management of nightlife,
gastronomy and student life”
Andres Bellido Ackerman – Get Your
Guide (Germany)

“Better marketing. It is a vital city
but should not try to compete to
be like larger cities such as London
because it will never be like
London. ”
Dr Michael Mosser – The University of
Texas

“There needs to be a safety factor
and multiple factors for families –
such as good schools, affordable
housing, quality of life.”
Daphna Fenyves – Université de
Montréal

P
age 63



27

Benchmarking Dublin’s success - Vista AnalysisP
age 64



28

Initial draft results – overall ranking for Dublin 

GROUP 1: HIGH FLYERS – Rank 1 - 6

1. London
2. Paris
3. Amsterdam
4. Berlin
5. Barcelona
6. Vienna

GROUP 2: UP AND COMERS – Rank 7 -12

7. Toronto
8. Melbourne
9. Stockholm
10. DUBLIN
11. Hong Kong
12. Munich

GROUP 3: EMERGING – Rank 13 - 18

13. Helsinki
14. Copenhagen
15. Chicago
16. Zurich
17. Oslo
18. San Francisco

GROUP 4: LAGGING – Rank 19 - 24

19. Prague
20. Edinburgh
21. Manchester
22. Auckland
23. Wellington
24. Eindhoven

Dublin Strengths and 
Weaknesses

Major Strengths
• Invest

Minor Strengths
• Live
• Work
• Branding
• Power Indices

Minor Weaknesses
• Visit

Major Weaknesses
• Study

P
age 65



29

SWOT

• Broad positive sentiment of Dublin and well known

“brand”

• Recognised as the economic powerhouse of Ireland

• A successful investment and tech hub

• Seen as a fun and friendly city – no real issues around

safety and security from an international perspective

• Positive “peer” perception with other influential cities

• Benchmarks indicate relatively strong performance

against cities of similar scale and importantly cost of

living / housing also a challenge for many other cities

• Significant policy and strategy work to shape future of

city

• Cost of living issues and housing issues are recognised by

all constituent audiences

• Perception as “Tier 2” city in Europe

• Lack of unique appeal on the visitor side

• Perception of economic success by international

constituent sometimes aligned with incentives

• Lack of power and autonomy – most strongly recognised

at a local level

• Pace of development has been so fast that perhaps has

impacted the “character” of Dublin

• Erosion / lack of awareness of culture and heritage

• International perceptions of Dublin rooted in historic

physical assets

• Dublin can capitalise economically in post Brexit

environment

• Strengthening of ties with other European nations and

the chance to position as a Tier 1 European city

• Remote working – access to enhanced skills pool

through attraction of workers from the rest of the

Ireland

• Positioning of a more unique visitor offer

• Understanding how other cities manage the perceived

cost issues

• Positioning as an enterprise and innovation hub

• Cost of living issue is a key threat, especially in relation to

skills attraction

• Level of focus on economic positioning vs other pillars

• Competitiveness from other European cities

• Ability to tap into new markets to reduce dependence

on US, UK

• Unified Communications strategy for the city and lack of

focus given the regionalisation and statutory mandate

of key agencies for Investment and Tourism

Strengths Weaknesses

Opportunities Threats

P
age 66



30

Next steps

• Final report with details on Perceptions

research

• Development of the brand management 
approach

• Development of the brand narrative and 

positioning for Dublin

• Suggestions on creative executive

• Communications planning

• Project completion end May

P
age 67



 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

Tuesday 12th April 2022  
 

Agenda Item 7: LECP Update 
 

 

Local Economic and Community Plan Update  

The Local Economic and Community Plan (LECP) sets out, for a six-year period, the objectives and 
actions needed to promote and support the economic development and the local and community 
development of each local authority area, both by the local authority directly and in partnership with 
other economic and community development stakeholders.   

The development of each LECP is informed by the overall vision for Local Government as set out in 

Putting People First: Action Programme for Effective Local Government, the need “to promote the well-

being and quality of life of citizens and communities”. The plan is part of the overall process for national 

transformation set out in Project Ireland 2040, which includes the National Planning Framework (NPF) 

and the National Development Plan (NDP). It is also aligned with the City Development Plan, the City 

Corporate Plan and a suite of complementary economic and social plans, which will determine its 

direction of travel. 

Dublin City Council developed the first LECP 2016 to 2021, where a series of actions were identified 
and implemented to further the objectives of the 12 High Level Goals, established through a public 
consultation process with input from a wide range of stakeholders.  This plan has been reviewed using 
the 2016 census data, and the outcome of this process will inform the development of a new LECP.  
We are now working on developing the second iteration of the LECP in line with the requirements of 
the legislation, and as set out in the guidelines, to cover a six year period from 2023 to 2028. 

LECP Guidelines 

The Department of Rural and Community Development (DRCD) in conjunction with the Department 
of Housing, Local Government and Heritage (DHLGH) launched the LECP Guidelines on 11th 
November 2021.  DRCD has oversight of the community elements of the LECP and work closely with 
each Local Authority and the LCDC’s to support this function.  DHLGH has responsibility for the 
economic elements of the LECP, and the Economic and Enterprise SPC’s have a statutory role in the 
preparation of the LECP.  The Local Government Reform Act 2014, requires that the Economic 
Elements of the LECP, be developed through the Strategic Policy Committees (SPC) for Economic 
Development and Enterprise.   

The DRCD and DHLGH held an initial information session with over 340 attendees on 9th December 
2022, all members of the SPC and LCDC were invited to attend this event. This information session 
provided an overview of the Guidelines, including key changes and the next steps in conducting a 
review of the existing plans and establishing an Advisory Steering Group to oversee the preparation of 
the new LECP’s.  Details of the presentations and a recording of the event are available on gov.ie - 
Community Development (www.gov.ie). 

 

 

Page 68

https://www.gov.ie/en/policy/d5adb8-community-supports/
https://www.gov.ie/en/policy/d5adb8-community-supports/


Establishment of Advisory Steering Group 

Under Section 66C of the Local Government Reform Act, each Local Authority is required to have 

regard to the need to integrate the economic and community elements of the LECP.  In order to 

ensure that the preparation of the plans is co-ordinated and that duplication of efforts, in terms of 

engagement with stakeholders is avoided or minimised, an Advisory Steering Group (ASG) will be 

establish to assist in the preparation, drafting, adoption, implementation and monitoring of the LECP. 

Following the last meeting of this SPC members were invited to express an interest in becoming a 
member of the Advisory Steering Group.  The Advisory Steering group has been formed with 
members of this SPC and of the LCDC.  Two workshops were held in March 2022 to address the 
making of the Dublin City Local Economic and Community Plan (LECP) 2023-2028, which is tasked with 
identifying and implementing actions to strengthen community and local economic development 
across the city.  

LECP Framework Role 

The specific role of the Advisory Steering Group will be to advise and assist on:- 

 The development of the socio-economic statement setting out the High-Level Goals for the 

area; 

 The arrangement and management of an inclusive consultation process for the development 

of the economic elements and the community elements of the framework LECP based on the 

High-Level Goals in the socio-economic statement, and the additional consultation identified 

for the community element; 

 The particular areas of activity to be covered respectively by the economic elements and the 

community elements of the LECP, as well as areas of complementary and co-ordinated 

activity, taking account of the need to reduce duplication and unnecessary overlap and to 

maximise the use of available resources; 

 The integration of both the economic and community elements into a single, coherent 

Framework LECP: 

 Ensuring that, there is clarity as to where responsibility rests for leading/coordinating for each 

action detailed in the Implementation Plan; 

 Ensuring the LECP is consistent with the relevant statutory City/County Development Plan; 

and 

 Ensuring the LECP is consistent with any Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy (RSES) or, as 

appropriate, National Planning Framework or other national policy that may apply. 

Workshop 15th March  

A hybrid workshop was held inviting members of the Advisory Steering Group and support staff to 
participate on 15th March 2022.  The following attended in person and on line: 

1. Cllr Claire O’Connor, Chair, Economic  Development SPC 

2. Cllr Caroline Moore, Chair, LCDC 

3. Kelly Bermingham, Community Officer, Iveagh Trust and Saint Patrick’s Cathedral  

4. Anne Fitzgerald, CEO Ballyfermot Chapelizod Partnership  

5. Evanne Kilmurray, CEO Inner City Enterprise   

6. Deiric Ó Broin, Professor of Public Policy Practice, Dublin City University  

7. Sarah Miller, CEO Rediscovery Centre, Ballymun 

8. Anthony Flynn. DCC Executive Manager, Culture, Recreation and Economic Services  

Page 69



9. Elaine Hess, DCC Administrative Officer, Community and Social Development  

10. Greg Swift, DCC Head of Economic Development and Enterprise and member of the LCDC 

11. Mary MacSweeney, DCC Deputy Head Economic Development and Enterprise  

12. Ross Curley, DCC Senior Economic Development Officer  

13. Frank D’Arcy, DCC Executive Manager, Housing Department 

14. Daithi Downey, DCC Chief Officer LCDC  

15. Muskan Sahdev, DCC European Programme Support Office  

 

Outcomes from the workshop were as follows: 

 Agreement on the overall process for the revision and development of a new LECP. 

 Agreement of the Terms of Reference for the LECP Advisory Group. 

 Exploration of the form of ‘rapid evidence review’ required to (a) review the LECP 2016-2022 

and (b) help inform and shape the new high-level themes and goals required under the LECP 

2023-2028 

 Discussion on the need to harness and leverage the energy of the Advisory Group to enable 

them to feed into the process and bring their valued expertise to the development of the plan. 

 Agreement to meet again on 27th April 2022 

 

Literature relating to the background of the LECP, and the 2018 updated implementation plan, were 

circulated to the Advisory Group participants in advance of the introductory meeting so that they could 

refresh and familiarise themselves with key issues.  

Next steps: 

LECP Development Stages: There are 6 stages to the development and implementation of the LECP’s.  

There is a statutory role for LAs, SPCs, LCDCs, Regional Assemblies and Municipal District Members.  

The Advisory Steering Group will set a schedule of meeting to discharge its work in shaping the LECP.   

The process for the development of the LECPs will initially consist of four broad phases as set out 

below: 

 

Mary Mac Sweeney 

Deputy Head of Economic Development and Enterprise 

Page 70



 

  

     

Dublin 

City Branding & 
Placemaking 

Research Report 

Page 71



1 | 
 

Dublin – City Branding & Placemaking 

Research Report 

 

 

Contents 
1 Executive Summary ............................................................................................................... 2 

2 Introduction.......................................................................................................................... 4 

3 Context................................................................................................................................. 6 

3.1 City Branding ................................................................................................................. 7 

3.2 Placemaking ................................................................................................................ 10 

4 Review: Indices and Dublin’s Position ................................................................................... 15 

4.1 General Indices ............................................................................................................ 15 

4.2 City Brand Indices ........................................................................................................ 18 

4.3 Entrepreneurship and Innovation Ecosystem Indices ..................................................... 18 

4.4 Green / Sustainability Indices ....................................................................................... 21 

4.5 Arts and Culture Indices ............................................................................................... 21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report completed by: 

Norman Thompson – Economic Development Researcher, Dublin City Council (December 2021) 

For further information about this report, please contact: 

Address: Economic Development Office, Dublin City Council, 3 Palace Street, Dublin 2, D02 T277 
Phone: 01 222 5611 Email: economicdevelopment@dublincity.ie  
Website: https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/ 
 

Page 72



2 | 
 

1 Executive Summary 
This report is on the key constructs of city branding and placemaking. It provides an overview of both 

city branding and placemaking after which, it identifies the position of Dublin on relevant international 

indices and rankings. The report and associated research were produced as part of the Dublin Regional 

Enterprise Plan to 20201, (DREP) regarding Strategic Objective 4, Action 4: 

Although both constructs are multifaceted, dynamic & holistic, in summary they can be described as: 

City Branding is the process of communicating and differentiating the identity of a city as a destination  

Placemaking is the process of creating quality places that people want to live, work, play and learn in  

Both constructs have become increasingly important for cities regarding standing out and attracting 

tourists, investors, talent, students and residents within the globalised economy, and for cities to 

better address city challenges, support communities and encourage active citizenship. City branding 

and placemaking contribute directly and indirectly to various social, economic and policy benefits such 

as social inclusion, real estate value, revenue, health, unity and wellbeing. As cities are forecast to 

increase into the future, city branding and placemaking stand to become even more important.  

As seen in the overview table below, Dublin is well represented on a diverse array of global indices 

relevant to city branding and placemaking. Of the indices identified, Dublin is generally ranked highly 

as it strongly competes with other global and often much larger cities. 

Overview: Indices and Dublin’s Position 
General Indices 

Index Dimension / Criteria Dublin 
Position 

Change 

Global Cities Index 2020 Business Activity, Human Capital, Information 
Exchange, Cultural Experience, Political Engagement 

46/151   

Global Cities Outlook Index 2020 Personal Well-being, Economics, Innovation, 
Governance 

10/151  -10 

IESE Cities in Motion Index 2020 Human Capital, Social Cohesion, Economy, Urban 
Planning, Governance, Environment, Mobility and 
Transportation, International Projection, Technology 

33/174 
(2019)  +1 

Best Cities 2021 Place, Product, Programming, People, Prosperity, 
Promotion 

33/100  +11 

Global Liveability Index 2021 Stability, Healthcare, Culture and Environment, 
Education and Infrastructure 

51/140  -22 

Mercer Quality of Living City 
Ranking 2019 

Political & Social Environment (Env), Natural Env, 
Economic Env, Socio-Cultural Env, Medical & Health, 
Schools & Education, Housing, Public Services & 
Transportation, Recreation, Consumer Goods 

33/231  +1 

                                                                 
1 Government of Ireland (2019) Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 2020  

Strategic Objective 4:  Strategically build on existing activities to enhance the 

attractiveness of Dublin as a region to live, work, invest and visit 

Action 4:   Research, benchmark and monitor Dublin’s progress and position 

regarding place-making and city branding and seek to enhance 

Dublin’s position on key international rankings  

 

 

Page 73

https://dbei.gov.ie/en/Publications/Dublin-Regional-Enterprise-Plan-to-2020.html


3 | 
 

Mercer Cost of Living City 
Ranking 2021 

Housing, Transportation, Utilities, Food, Domestic 
Supplies, Services, Personal Care, Clothing/Footwear, 
Recreation & Entertainment, Alcohol & Tobacco   

39/209  +7 

Numbeo Quality of Life by City 
Index 2021 

Purchasing Power, Safety, Health Care, Cost of Living, 
Property Price: Income, Commute Time, Pollution 
and Climate 

145/251  -13 

Numbeo Cost of Living by City 
Index 2021 

Rent Levels, Groceries Prices, Restaurant Prices, Local 
Purchasing Power 

39/563  -3 

City RepTrak 2018 Trust, Esteem, Admiration, Respect – Advanced 
Economy, Effective Government, Appealing Env  

18/56  -1 

eutopia – Place Attractiveness  Invest (Celtic roar), Visit (urban energisers & cultural 
explorers), study (Saints/ scholars), Live (urban edge) 

2   

City Brand Indices 
Anholt-Ipsos City Brands Index 
2020 

International Status, Physical Appeal, Amenities, 
Warmth of Inhabitants, Activities, Educational / 
Business Qualities 

21-
30/50 

(3rd Tier) 
  

Entrepreneurship and Innovation Ecosystem Indices 
Global Power City Index 2020 Economy, R&D, Cultural Interaction, Liveability, 

Environment, Accessibility 
31/48 

Overall  +2 

Startup Genome Global Startup 
Ecosystem Report 2020 

Performance, Funding, Market Reach, Talent, 
Connectedness, Knowledge, Infrastructure 

36/40  -10 

Global Startup Ecosystem Index 
2021 (Best Cities for Startups) 

Quantity, Quality, Business 
51/1000  +3 

Global Innovation Index (Top 100 
Science and Technology Clusters) 

Political Environment, Education, Infrastructure and 
Business Sophistication 

Left Top 
100   

Innovation Cities Index 2021  
(Top 100) 

Cultural Assets, Human Infrastructure and Networked 
Markets 

92/500  -40 

FDI European Cities and Regions 
of the Future 2020/21 

Economic Potential, Human Capital & Lifestyle, Cost 
Effectiveness, Connectivity, Business Friendliness 

3/25 C 
2/25 R  -1 

Global Financial Centres Index 29 
(2021) 

Business Environment, Human Capital, Infrastructure, 
Financial Sector Development, Reputation 

48/114  -14 

Global Cities Talent 
Competitiveness Index 2020 

Enable, Attract, Grow, Retain, Global Knowledge 
Skills 

13/155  +22 

Smart City Index Structures & Technology: Health and Safety, Mobility, 
Activities, Opportunities and Governance 

34/109  -4 

European Digital Social 
Innovation Index 2021 

Skills, Infrastructure, Diversity and Inclusion, 
Collaboration, Funding, Civil Society. 

18/60   

European Digital City Index 2016 Skills, Access to Capital, Business Environment, Digital 
Infrastructure, Entrepreneurial Culture, Knowledge 
Spillovers, Lifestyle, Market, Mentoring, Non-Digital 
Infrastructure 

8/60 
Start Up 

9/60 
Scale Up 

  

Green / Sustainability Indices 

Citizen Centric Cities – 
Sustainable Cities Index 2018 

People, Planet, Profit 
20/100   

European Green City Index 2009 
(Part of overall Green City Index) 

Buildings, Transport, Waste and Land Use, Water, Air 
Quality, Environmental Governance 

21/30   

Arts and Culture Indices 
Cultural and Creative Cities 
Monitor 2019 

Cultural Vibrancy, Creative Economy, Enabling 
Environment 

4/40 XL 
Group  +2 

 

Page 74



4 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 Introduction 

Dublin is an ancient city and present day national hub for trade, innovation and economic growth. It 

is home to leading technology companies, extensive education and research institutions and a vibrant 

start-up community. As the most popular location for company start-ups2 in Ireland, it is a dynamic 

nucleus for entrepreneurship and innovation. Among the  numerous global technology companies 

based in the city and county are leading companies such as Google, Facebook, Twitter, Microsoft, HP 

and Dell3. Some 554,554 residents live in the city administrative area while almost 1.4 million residents 

live in the county4. Furthermore, the population of the city and county increases significantly each day 

as thousands of people commute to work5 from the greater Dublin area or from further afield6.  

Dublin is also a unique city which although vibrant, diverse and cosmopolitan, retains a local charm 

much more like a village than a city. The city and region is thus a popular destination and is 

internationally renowned as a dynamic place for the arts, culture and heritage. Many of the most 

popular free and fee-charging attractions are located in Dublin such as the Guinness Storehouse, 

Dublin Zoo, The Book of Kells and the various national museums7. Accordingly, some 6.6 million 

overseas tourists and 1.8 domestic tourists visited Dublin in 2019 which generated €2.2b and €296m 

in revenue respectively8. Dublin’s live music and entertainment scene is famous, made up of large and 

small venues and a network of unique pubs9.   

                                                                 
2 CRIF Vision-Net (2021) Business in Ireland 2021 Barometer Annual Review 
3 IDA Ireland (2021) Dublin A Technology Hub 
4 Central Statistics Office (2021) Census 2016 Small Area Population Statistics 
5 Central Statistics Office (2021) Census of Population 2016, Profile 11 Employment, Occupations and Industry 
6 DRA & MERA (2010) Regional Planning Guidelines for the Greater Dublin Area 2010-2022 
7 Fáilte Ireland (2021) Key Tourism Facts 2019 
8 Fáilte Ireland (2021) Tourism Facts 2019: Dublin 
9 World Cities Culture Forum (2021) Dublin 

Page 75

https://www.vision-net.ie/news/business-in-ireland-annual-review-2021/
https://www.idaireland.com/newsroom/publications/dublin-technology-map
https://cso.maps.arcgis.com/
https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-cp11eoi/cp11eoi/dtpn/#:~:text=Figure%204.1%20presents%20the%20daytime,increase%20of%2026%20per%20cent.
https://emra.ie/dubh/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Greater-Dublin-Area-Regional-Planning-Guidelines-2010-2022-Volume-I.pdf
https://www.failteireland.ie/FailteIreland/media/WebsiteStructure/Documents/3_Research_Insights/4_Visitor_Insights/KeyTourismFacts_2019.pdf?ext=.pdf
https://www.failteireland.ie/FailteIreland/media/WebsiteStructure/Documents/3_Research_Insights/2_Regional_SurveysReports/Dublin-Tourism-Facts-FINAL.pdf?ext=.pdf
http://www.worldcitiescultureforum.com/cities/dublin


5 | 
 

In order to ensure that Dublin continues to be an attractive hub to live, work, study in and visit, it is 

vital that the city and region are promoted in a coordinated and consistent manner and are comprised 

of quality places that people want to live, work, play and learn in. A key means to promote Dublin in 

a coordinated and consistent manner is through city or place branding.  

City or place branding is the process of communicating and differentiating the identity of a city or 

place as being a destination, not just a location. It involves ‘understanding, measuring, influencing and 

managing the way in which cities are admired and recognised by foreign, domestic and internal 

audiences’10. The ultimate aim is to create, develop, manage and communicate a city’s identity in a 

uniform way, so as to enhance attractiveness and competitiveness.  

Placemaking is the process of creating and developing quality places that people, both residents and 

visitors want to collaboratively live, work, play and learn in. It is multifaceted and holistic and aims to 

encourage place attachment or connections between people and places. It thus concerns the 

relationships between individuals, communities, physical spaces and nature and the associated sense 

of community, belongingness, inclusivity and conviviality.  

This report is on these key constructs, city branding and placemaking. A brief literature review was 

initially carried out to clarify the contexts and concepts of city branding and place -making. A desktop 

review was then conducted to identify relevant indices, benchmarks and rankings and to dete rmine 

the position of Dublin on these. The indices, benchmarks and rankings were identified in the context 

of generally accepted interpretations among practitioners and within the relevant literature. The 

report and associated research were produced as part of the Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 202011, 

(DREP) regarding Strategic Objective 4, Action 4:  

*Upon review in Qtr. 4 2020, the associated measurement for this action was amended from that stated in the 

original Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 2020.  

 

This report will be used to inform the work of DREP stakeholders, the Economic 

Development and Enterprise Strategic Policy Committee of Dublin City Council and 

the strategic development of the Dublin Place Brand. The Dublin Place Brand is the 

marketing brand used to attract people to live, work, invest or study in the Dublin 

region. It provides a uniform identity, reinforced by the award winning 

www.dublin.ie – a central website for living, working, studying and investing in 

Dublin. The website features stories, articles and informational content for both 

national and international audiences12. 

                                                                 
10 European Cities Marketing (2016) City Branding  
11 Government of Ireland (2019) Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 2020  
12 Dublin Place Brand (2021) About Dublin’s Place Brand  

Strategic Objective 4:  Strategically build on existing activities to enhance the 

attractiveness of Dublin as a region to live, work, invest and visit 

Action 4:   Research, benchmark and monitor Dublin’s progress and position 

regarding place-making and city branding and seek to enhance 

Dublin’s position on key international rankings  

Measurement:   Key international rankings identified, research report completed*  

 

 

Page 76

http://www.dublin.ie/
https://www.europeancitiesmarketing.com/city-branding-is-not-about-the-logo/
https://dbei.gov.ie/en/Publications/Dublin-Regional-Enterprise-Plan-to-2020.html
https://dublin.ie/about/dublins-place-brand/


6 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 Context  

Around the world, cities have been steadily increasing in physical size, population and economic 

importance. They have become more important as hubs of culture, innovation and growth13. Notable 

commentators such as Place Branding expert, Bill Baker thus state how ‘cities and mega cities, rather 

than countries, are increasingly becoming the principal protagonists between geographical regions’14 

(p.8). The importance and size of cities is forecast to increase further. An extensive report on global 

urbanisation by the UN highlighted that 55% of the world’s population were residing in urban areas in 

2018 and that by 2050, 68% of the world’s population is forecast to reside in urban areas 15.  

As cities have grown, they have become more competitive in seeking to differentiate themselves 

amongst the many other cities that are part of the overall, interdependent and globalised economy16. 

Cities are thus seeking and utilising initiatives to stand out and better attract tourists, investors, talent, 

students and residents. City branding is one such initiative that is increasingly used by cities and 

regions to stand out. Also, as cities have grown, they have needed to become more suitable, inclusive, 

sustainable and essentially people centred17. Changing populations, demographics, trends and various 

other factors have meant cities and regions have needed to adapt, to be reimagined or reinvented in 

order to better serve and support the communities and people within them. Placemaking is a holistic 

initiative, approach or process used to respond to the needs of communities and people. It involves 

the collaborative planning, design, implementation and management of public spaces and realms.  

                                                                 
13 OECD (2006) Competitive Cities in the Global Economy 
14 Dinnie, K. (2010) City Branding: Theory and Cases  
15 UN (2019) World Urbanisation Prospects 2018 - Highlights   
16 EUROCITIES (2010) A shared vision on city branding in Europe 
17 CBRE (2019) What is Placemaking 

Page 77

https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/urban-rural-and-regional-development/competitive-cities-in-the-global-economy/policies-to-enhance-city-attractiveness-achievements-and-new-challenges_9789264027091-12-en
https://books.google.ie/books?hl=en&lr=&id=CEmjkyuccsAC&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq=city+branding&ots=POAzLBgGwA&sig=mPB48qC1w7vUppzmmNVUn3IZD2U&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=city%20branding&f=false
https://population.un.org/wup/Publications/Files/WUP2018-Highlights.pdf
https://nws.eurocities.eu/MediaShell/media/EUROCITIES_Brochure_FINAL_web_19Nov10-SMUL_10638.pdf
https://www.cbre.ie/en/about-cbre/blog/articles/simply-put-what-is-placemaking


7 | 
 

Both city branding and placemaking have become increasingly important constructs regarding the 

promotion or projection and planning or design of cities and regions as city competition and challenges 

abound. Although distinct, they are complementary and interlinked18 19. Emphasising the 

complementary overlap, notable academic, Graeme Evans states that ‘placemaking and branding are  

arguably the public face of the city, [the] projection to its res idents and other dwellers’20 (p.6). As 

placemaking involves the creation and development of quality, authentic and person centred places 

and various other assets that people connect with, city or place branding involves framing, 

communicating and promoting these places and assets as part of a larger, unified and consistent 

narrative. Placemaking involves creating vibrant public spaces which contribute to various social, 

economic and policy benefits, as well as creating spaces that stand out and are unique. C ity branding 

communicates and amplifies the narrative around those places. In addition, it can act as an impetus 

to revitalising an area or city and thus to associated placemaking initiatives18. Both city branding and 

placemaking depend on and involve engagement, collaboration and ownership and when interlinked, 

they can contribute to further increased benefits21. Below, overviews of both city branding and 

placemaking are provided which highlight the nature of each, the aims and the associated benefits.   

 

3.1 City Branding 

What is city branding? 

City branding is essentially the practice of presenting a city, place or urban area as a brand. It seeks to 

capture the spirit, characteristics or identity of a city and promote it in an integrated and holistic way. 

Similar to the practice of branding a product or service and developing a name, term, design, symbol 

or other attributes in order to differentiate that product or service from others 22, city branding seeks 

to differentiate a city from other cities. However, it is much more complex and multifaceted than 

branding a typical product or service. There are many different stakeholders, layers and considerations 

relevant to a city, its image and brand.  

City branding is both a dynamic and broad activity, involving ‘understanding, measuring, influencing 

and managing the way in which cities are admired and recognised by foreign, domestic and internal 

audiences’10. Dimensions or considerations as part of city branding include: tourism, population, 

export brands, foreign and domestic politics, investment and immigration, culture and heritage23. In 

practice, it may involve and interlink with development, economic, community, culture and marketing 

plans as well as many other initiatives24.  

Within the context of the knowledge economy, city branding has become especially important as 

‘companies, creative workers and entrepreneurs are attracted to cities which have strong brand 

identities as open, tolerant and dynamic places’24 (p. 1). It plays a vital role in presenting a place or city 

as a desirable destination for those companies, creative workers and entrepreneurs. In short, when 

city branding is conducted successfully, it can transform a city into a place where people want to visit, 

work and or live25.  

                                                                 
18 Essbai, S. (2018) City Branding: What Role in Placemaking 
19 Meester, F. (2017) How placemaking influences city branding and Why it is important 
20 Evans, G. (2015) Rethinking Place Branding and Place Making Through Cr eative and Cultural Quarters  
21 Place Brand Observer (2017) Why Placemaking and Place Branding Should Work Hand in Hand  
22 The Branding Journal (2015) What is Branding? 
23 Alperyte, I. & Isoraite, M. (2019) JIM – Developing a City Brand 
24 The World Bank (2012) Directions in Urban Development: City Brand 
25 Salman, S. (2008) Brand of Gold 

Page 78

https://theglobalgrid.org/city-branding-role-placemaking-theglobalgrid-pre-chat-post/#:~:text=Along%20with%20investments%20in%20infrastructure,a%20successful%20city%20branding%20strategy
https://mapyour.city/placemaking-influences-city-branding/
https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-12424-7_10
https://placebrandobserver.com/placemaking-place-branding-hand-in-hand/
https://www.thebrandingjournal.com/2015/10/what-is-branding-definition/#:~:text=%E2%80%9CBranding%20is%20endowing%20products%20and,a%20brand%20in%20consumers'%20minds.
http://joim.pl/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/joim-2019-0022.pdf
https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/312381468171248676/pdf/810590BRI0City00Box379819B00PUBLIC0.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2008/oct/01/city.urban.brandinghttps:/www.theguardian.com/society/2008/oct/01/city.urban.branding


8 | 
 

The process of creating and developing a place or city brand begins with defining the intrinsic place 

identity and then communicating this identity through the brand26. It is important to note that this 

process should be collaborative and the identity should be co-created with local stakeholders. Various 

studies highlight the benefits of multi-stakeholder involvement in the formation of a place brand 

identity and in the subsequent communication of the brand26. The actual city identity and brand is 

typically built on the various city strengths or assets such as the visual, economic, psychological and 

symbolic elements and on the characteristics that distinguish it from other cities16. By virtue of utilising 

the various city assets and elements, a city brand should define and champion a realistic, competitive, 

compelling and strategic urban vision23. 

Aim of city branding 

According to planning expert, Dr. Belinda Yuen, the aim of city branding ‘is often to orchestrate the 

totality of perceptions, experiences and feelings that people hold about that city to ensure that it is as 

distinctive, compelling and memorable as possible’24 (pg. 1). Alternatively, acclaimed designer, Sonia 

Jojic states that city branding aims to ‘develop new ways of communicating the city’s image, achieve 

competitive advantages, and strengthen the reputation of a city, improving also its economic 

importance’27 (p.150). Ultimately the aim is to create, develop, manage and communicate a city’s 

identity in a uniform way, so as to enhance attractiveness and competitiveness. 

Benefits of city branding 

City branding contributes to various benefits, although chiefly it helps to improve or increase the 

status and desirability of a city as a tourism, arts, education, residential, talent, investment or business 

location27. It also supports:  

- Increased competitiveness, which in turn can result in a more positive impact on investment, 
employment, talent attraction, residents, visitors and vibrancy 

- Increased investments and also returns on investment in real estate, infrastructure and events 

- Coherent city development, as the physical, social, economic and cultural aspects of the city 
5combine to deliver the brand promise and realise the vision 

- Pride in the city as residents, businesses and institutions experience a new sense of unified 

understanding, purpose and direction 

- Enhanced collaboration among city stakeholders as they become more interlinked under a 
unified brand and direction16 24 28. 

Examples of city branding 

I amsterdam is the motto and logo used to market and 

communicate Amsterdam as a brand locally, nationally 

and internationally29. Based on the core values of 

creativity, innovation and entrepreneurship, the brand is used to market the Amsterdam metropolitan 

area as a strong economic, cultural and scientific knowledge centre. The brand consistently links to 

people, stories, events, happenings and symbols, which has resulted in it becoming renowned and 

internationally recognisable.   

 

                                                                 
26 Rodrigues, C & Schmidt, J. H. (2021) How the Creative Class Co-Creates a City’s Brand Identity 
27 Jojic, S. (2018) City Branding and the Tourist Gaze 
28 Eutopia (2021) Place Branding 
29 I amsterdam (2019) Brand Manual  

Page 79

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/23949643211010594
https://journals.euser.org/files/articles/ejser_v5_i3/Jojic.pdf
https://eutopiastrategy.com/services/place-branding
https://www.iamsterdam.com/media/pdf/corporate/i-amsterdam-brand-manual-en.pdf?la=en


9 | 
 

ONLYLYON seeks to ‘shine a light on the Lyon 

Metropolitan area, together’30. Aside from being the 

official brand that promotes Lyon’s international 

ambitions, it is also ‘a state of mind and an action plan’. It brings together all stakeholders and actors 

who are committed to making Lyon a ‘top-name, influential, appealing city in France and around the 

world’. It was developed via a partnership involving key economic and institutional stakeholders for 

the purpose of streamlining the city’s international marketing and communication activities16. Since 

2007, the brand and campaign have led and contributed to various coordinated actions in Lyon and 

globally in order to raise the city’s profile.  

 

In order to better reflect and project the City of 

Melbourne as a vibrant and dynamic global city, a new 

corporate identity was created in 201031. The 

corporate identity is a visual representation of the 

brand positioning which enables a unified, positive, 

flexible and future focus for the city32. The striking ‘M’ is core to the identity, design and brand, which 

is used in different ways to communicate effectively to different audiences and for different purposes.   

 

The City of Helsinki created a visual identity to build a 

uniform and recognisable image. It serves to make the 

city’s brand strategy visible through standardising 

marketing and communications activities and ultimately 

to make the city more desirable to international 

businesses, students and tourists33.  

 

Marketing Manchester is the agency responsible for promoting Greater 

Manchester (GM) nationally and internationally. It is responsible for 

marketing GM to visitors, promoting GM as a place to invest, do business, 

live and study, and other marketing and communications. As part of this role, 

it uses the ‘M’ brand to communicate in different ways with different 

audiences. The ‘M’ is the primary brand signifier to represent Manchester, it 

is the ‘international attack brand for GM’34. The brand is often used to represent multiple partners 

working together promoting joint activity under a Manchester banner.   

 

Dublin City Council is responsible for Dublin’s Place or City Brand. The brand mark 

represents the fusion of ideas, creativity and people that make up Dublin as a place. It 

does not represent a rigid experience, but a place that is constantly changing. It is used 

to attract people to live, work, invest or study in the Dublin region and is reinforced by 

the signature ‘D’ logo and the award winning, www.dublin.ie website35. 

                                                                 
30 ONLYLYON (2021) ONLYLYON’S Mission 
31 Landor (2010) Rebranding the city of Melbourne 
32 City of Melbourne (2010) City of Melbourne Brand Manual  
33 Helsinki (2021) Helsinki Brand – Visual Identity Guidelines  
34 Marketing Manchester (2018) Visit Manchester Brand Guidelines  
35 Dublin Place Brand (2021) About Dublin’s Place Brand  

Page 80

http://www.dublin.ie/
https://www.onlylyon.com/onlylyon-s-mission
https://landor.com/rebranding-the-city-of-melbourne
https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/31065265.pdf
https://brand.hel.fi/en/
http://www.marketingmanchester.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/5.-VM-Brand-Guidelines.compressed-2.pdf
https://dublin.ie/about/dublins-place-brand/


10 | 
 

3.2 Placemaking 

What is placemaking? 

Placemaking is defined as ‘the process of creating quality places that people want to live, work, play 

and learn in’36. Place Agency describes it as a ‘process to increase the capacity and capability of people 

to invest in a place with meaning’ and as a ‘process of co-creation to work with community, for 

community, and to identify meaning and shared purpose’37. It is both an overarching idea and tangible 

approach for improving communities, neighbourhoods, cities or regions, which ‘inspires people to 

collectively reimagine and reinvent public spaces as the heart of every community’38.   

In practice, placemaking is a multifaceted and holistic process to create and develop places that are 

cherished and in which a sense of belonging or connection prevails. It concerns the relationships 

between individuals, communities, physical spaces and nature, and the associated sense of 

community, belongingness, inclusivity and conviviality39. Community building, involvement and 

activation are central features, as it depends on broad stakeholder engagement. As the process is 

centred on people and their needs, aspirations, desires and visions, community and stakeholder 

participation and engagement are vital40. 

Stemming from effective placemaking, quality places or places with a strong sense of place are created 

and / or developed. Key elements of quality places include: mixed uses, quality public spaces, 

broadband enabled, multiple transportation options, multiple housing options , preservation of 

historic structures, community heritage, arts, culture, creativity, recreation and green spaces. 

Furthermore, quality places are those that are: safe, connected, welcoming, accessible, comfortable, 

quiet (unless designed to be otherwise), sociable, that allow authentic experiences and that promote 

and facilitate civic engagement36. The actual quality places can be homes, streets, realms, recreational 

amenities, environmental amenities or regular events such as Sunday markets39. According to The 

Project for Public Spaces (PPS), an organisation that promotes placemaking around the world, there 

are four key attributes that make a place ‘great’ which are: 

- ‘They are accessible and well connected to other important places in the area  
- They are comfortable and project a good image 
- They attract people to participate in activities there 
- They are sociable environments in which people want to gather and visit again and again’41 (pg. 4) 

In addition, PPS has proposed a framework featuring these key attributes along with intangibles and 

measurements which is displayed in the figure below: 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 
36 Wyckoff, M. (2014) Definition of Placemaking 
37 Place Agency (2020) What is Placemaking 
38 Project for Public Spaces (2007) What is Placemaking? 
39 Place Agency (2018) The four dimensions of Place 
40 Moreira, S. (2021) What is Placemaking? [Arch Daily] 
41 Project for Public Spaces (2018) Placemaking 

Page 81

http://pznews.net/media/13f25a9fff4cf18ffff8419ffaf2815.pdf
https://studios.placeagency.org.au/2020/02/27/what-is-placemaking/
https://www.pps.org/article/what-is-placemaking
https://studios.placeagency.org.au/2018/04/26/the-four-dimensions-of-place-a-placemaking-framework-proposed-as-basis-for-place-evaluation/
https://www.archdaily.com/961333/what-is-placemaking
https://uploads-ssl.webflow.com/5810e16fbe876cec6bcbd86e/5b71f88ec6f4726edfe3857d_2018%20placemaking%20booklet.pdf?utm_medium=website&utm_source=archdaily.com


11 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Project for Public Spaces, 2018, Placemaking, pg.5) 

 

Aim of placemaking 

The aim of placemaking is to create and / or develop quality places where people want to live, work, 

play, learn and visit42. It ultimately aims to trigger an emotional connection or attachment between 

people or communities, and places43. The Brookings Bass Centre for Transformative Placemaking 

states that placemaking endeavours to:  

- ‘Nurture an economic ecosystem that is regionally connected, innovative, and rooted in the assets 
of local residents and businesses 

- Support a built environment that is accessible, flexible, and advances community health & resilience 
- Foster a vibrant, cohesive social environment that is reflective of community history and identity 
- Encourage civic structures that are locally-organized, inclusive, and support network building’44. 

                                                                 
42 MSU Statewide (2021) Placemaking Assessment Tool  
43 Hes, D. et al, (2019) Place Evaluation: Measuring What Matters by Prioritising Relationships 
44 Brookings (2021) Bass Centre for Transformative Placemaking 

Page 82

https://uploads-ssl.webflow.com/5810e16fbe876cec6bcbd86e/5b71f88ec6f4726edfe3857d_2018%20placemaking%20booklet.pdf?utm_medium=website&utm_source=archdaily.com
https://msustatewide.msu.edu/Programs/Details/4086
https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-981-32-9624-4_13
https://www.brookings.edu/about-the-bass-center/


12 | 
 

Benefits of placemaking 

When conducted effectively, placemaking creates or restores a higher quality living environment for 

residents, communities and visitors. It contributes to the provision of a wider range of living, 

transportation, entertainment, recreation and other related amenities and options37 43. By virtue of 

the social cohesion and connections to places or place attachment that placemaking contributes to, it 

is linked to positive outcomes in health, community participation, civic behaviour and perceptions of 

safety38 40. Even in dense, diverse or mobile communities, placemaking can foster place attachment 

and subsequent positive impacts44. The benefits are multifaceted as well, as placemaking helps to 

transform or create public spaces that ‘breed engagement and economic development, and are 

exciting places to live, work, play, shop, learn and visit’45. On account of effective placemaking, new 

or more visitors and talent are more likely to be attracted to an area which in turn will contribute to 

economic activity, job creation, tax revenues and vibrant communities.  

A report by the international real estate and investment group CBRE concluded that placemaking and 

good public realm interventions improve human wellbeing and real estate values while supporting 

long term value resilience46. Furthermore, the report highlighted how improvements in the public 

realm create wellbeing and value uplift in four key ways: improve the image of an area, create a new 

destination by the establishment of new commercial or recreational facilities, adds versatility to an 

area so that it can be used for events, and establishes the character of a newly developed area.  PPS 

provides an overview of the benefits of placemaking and great places which are displayed below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

(Project for Public Spaces, 2018, Placemaking, pg.5) 

                                                                 
45 MSU (2016) What are the benefits of effective placemaking in your community? 
46 CBRE (2017) Placemaking – Value and the Public Realm 

Page 83

https://uploads-ssl.webflow.com/5810e16fbe876cec6bcbd86e/5b71f88ec6f4726edfe3857d_2018%20placemaking%20booklet.pdf?utm_medium=website&utm_source=archdaily.com
https://www.canr.msu.edu/news/what_are_the_benefits_of_effective_placemaking_in_your_community#:~:text=Placemaking%20can%20be%20used%20to,important%20historic%20buildings%20or%20structures.&text=Local%20governments%20also%20benefit%20from,planning%20to%20action%20is%20increased.
http://cbre.vo.llnwd.net/grgservices/secure/Global%20Placemaking.pdf?e=1626966138&h=a5e884b153fe0d824bba6cd114791da0


13 | 
 

Examples of placemaking 

- The Lawn on D – Boston, 
United States. Following a 
longstanding community 
request for outdoor open 
space, The Lawn on D was 
created as an outdoor 
playground for adults. It 
provides games, toys and 
activities that are scaled up in 
size for adults. A central 
feature is the collection of giant 
swings which can support 
adults and which light up at 
night47. It provides a dedicated 
place for the community to 
converge, for activities to take 
place and for events to be 
hosted48.   
 
Image by The Lawn on D 
 
 

- City of Asylum – Pittsburgh, 
United States. Established in 
2004, it seeks to build a just 
community by protecting and 
celebrating freedom of 
creative expression. It provides 
sanctuary to endangered 
writers and artists through 
residency programmes. In 
order to house them, it 
transforms dilapidated 
properties into homes. It 
contributes to regenerating 
and creating places, social 
equity, cultural exchange and 
integrated community and 
economic development49.  
 
Image by City of Asylum 

 

                                                                 
47 Only in your state (2021) This Epic Adult Playground in Massachusetts has giant glowing swings  
48 Peach, J. (2017) Five of the best placemaking initiatives in the US 
49 City of Asylum (2021) About Us, Our Mi ssion 

Page 84

https://www.onlyinyourstate.com/massachusetts/lawn-on-d-ma/
https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/ex/sustainablecitiescollective/five-best-placemaking-initiatives-us/991756/
https://cityofasylum.org/about-us/


14 | 
 

Another approach to placemaking is the ‘lighter, quicker, cheaper’ approach as highlighted by Project 

for Public Spaces50. This approach involves making temporary and or inexpensive alterations to a 

public space. Relevant examples include: 

- Umbrella Sky Project – Agueda, 
Portugal. Each year since 2011, 
during the hot summer 
months, narrow streets of 
Agueda are transformed by 
colourful umbrella canopies 
that provide shade for 
pedestrians and that create a 
place for various uses such as 
outdoor exercise classes, 
events and community 
gatherings. Since it began, it 
has been replicated in other 
Portuguese cities and around 
the world.   
 
Image by Umbrella Sky Project  
 
 

- Intersection Repair – Portland 
Oregon. The City Repair Project 
transforms ordinary traffic 
intersections and car centred 
roadways into vibrant public 
spaces. The project brings 
together local communities 
and volunteers to paint giant 
murals onto selected 
intersections. The murals turn 
the intersection into a 
community gathering place, a 
point of community pride and 
help to calm traffic and thus 
improve safety.     
 
Image by City Repair Project 
 
 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 
50 Project for Public Spaces (2016) Light, Quick and Cheap: 5 Placemaking Projects That Inspire Us  

Page 85

https://www.pps.org/article/light-quick-and-cheap-5-placemaking-projects-that-inspire-us


15 | 
 

4 Review: Indices and Dublin’s Position 
In recent years, numerous indices, benchmarks and rankings relevant to city branding and place-

making have been developed. Many have been developed by consultancies, think tanks and research 

institutions as interest in both constructs has increased. The indices are typically based on market 

research, opinion polls and / or city related data analysis51.  

Given the extensive and broad nature of city branding and place making, the indices are diverse. 

Following a desktop review, relevant indices, benchmarks and rankings were identified and the 

position of Dublin on these was determined. The indices, benchmarks and rankings were identified in 

the context of generally accepted interpretations among practitioners and within relevant literature.  

The rankings are categorised according to typical or relevant dimensions as part of city branding and 

place-making in the table below. The current or most recent rankings available, regarding Dublin’s 

position are listed along with the progress of Dublin’s position, where available.   

 

Indices and Dublin’s Position 
4.1 General Indices 
Index  Description Dublin Rank / 

Position 
Global Cities 
Index 2020 

Global Cities Index: current performance – measures 29 different metrics 
across 5 dimensions:  
- Business Activity (capital flow, market dynamics, major companies present. 

Weight 30%) 
- Human Capital (education attainment levels. 30%)  
- Information Exchange (access to information through internet / other media 

sources. 15%) 
- Cultural Experience (access to sporting events, museums / other expos. 

15%) 
- Political Engagement. (political events, think tanks and embassies. 10%) 

46/151 
(Unchanged 
since 2019)52 

Global Cities 
Outlook Index 
2020 

Global Cities Outlook: future potential – measures 13 indicators across 4 
dimensions: 
- Personal Well-being (safety, healthcare, inequality, environmental 

performance. Weight 25%) 
- Economics (long term investments and GDP. 25%) 
- Innovation (entrepreneurship through patents, private investments, and 

incubators. 25%) 
- Governance (proxy for long-term stability through transparency, quality of 

bureaucracy and ease of doing business. 25%)  
The index is operated by Kearney – Global Management Consulting Firm 

10/151 
(Down -1 
since 2019)38 

IESE Cities in 
Motion Index 
2020 

The Index evaluates 174 cities across the world regarding nine key dimensions 
and the associated metrics / indicators: 
- Human Capital: secondary or higher education attainment, # of schools / 

education institutions, # of business schools, expenditure on education, per 
capita expenditure on leisure and recreation, movement of students, # of 
museums and art galleries, # of universities, # of theatres 

33/174 (2019) 
(Up +1)53 

                                                                 
51 North, S. (2015) City Monitor: Do city rankings really matter?  
52 Kearney (2020) Global Cities Index 
53 IESE (2020) Cities in Motion Index 2020 

Page 86

https://citymonitor.ai/politics/do-city-rankings-really-matter-1628
https://www.kearney.com/global-cities/2020
https://media.iese.edu/research/pdfs/ST-0542-E.pdf


16 | 
 

- Social Cohesion: female-friendly environment, # of hospitals, crime rate, 
slavery index, happiness index, Gini index (equality), peace index, health 
index, price of property, homicide rate, death rate, female employment 
ratio, suicide rate, unemployment rate, terrorism rate 

- Economy: collaborative economy, ease of starting a business, mortgage as 
% of income, motivation that people have to undertake early-stage 
entrepreneurial activity, number of headquarters of publicly traded 
companies, purchasing power, productivity, hourly wage, time required to 
start a business, GDP, GDP per capita, estimated GDP 

- Governance: # of Government buildings, E Government Development Index, 
# of embassies, employment in public administration, strength of legal rights 
index, corruption perceptions index, ISO 37120 certification, # of research / 
technology centres, open data platform, democracy ranking, financial 
reserves, financial reserves per capita 

- Environment: amount of solid waste per person, future climate forecasting, 
CO2 emission level, methane emission level, environmental performance 
index, CO2 emission index, pollution index, # of particles with a diameter 
less than 10 / 2.5 μm, % of population with water supply access, renewable 
water resources 

- Mobility and Transportation: bicycle rental, moped rental, scooter rental, # 
bicycles per household, bike sharing, traffic inefficiency index, exponential 
index, traffic index, length of metro system, # of metro stations, high speed 
train, # of commercial vehicles in the city, # of incoming flights in a city 

- Urban Planning: # bicycles for rent, # completed buildings, # people per 
household, % the urban population with adequate sanitation services, # 
buildings over 35 meters high 

- International projection: # passengers per airport, # hotels per capita, 
restaurant index, # McDonald’s restaurants per city, # conferences & 
meetings, # photos of the city uploaded online 

- Technology: 3G coverage, innovation index, % of households with internet 
access, online banking, online video calls, LTE/WiMAX, mobile phone 
penetration ratio, personal computers, social networks, landline 
subscriptions, broadband subscriptions, telephony, mobile telephony, 
internet usage away from home and/or office, internet speed, web index, 
Wi-Fi hotspots 

Best Cities 2021 The Best Cities Index is conducted by Resonance Consultancy which scores the 
world’s best cities using 6 metrics: 
- Place: perceived quality of a city’s natural / built environment including 

subcategories of weather, safety, neighbourhoods, landmarks and outdoors 
- Product: city’s key institutions, attractions and infrastructure including 

subcategories of airport connectivity, attractions, museums, university 
rankings, convention centre, pro sports teams 

- Programming: arts, culture, entertainment and culinary scene including 
subcategories of shopping, restaurants and nightlife 

- People: immigration rate and diversity of a city including subcategories of 
foreign born and education attainment  

- Prosperity: city’s employment and corporate head offices including the sub 
categories of Fortune 500 companies, household income, employment rate, 
income equality  

33/10055 
(Up +11) 

                                                                 
55 Best Cities (2021) Rankings  

Page 87

https://www.bestcities.org/rankings/worlds-best-cities/


17 | 
 

- Promotion: # of stories, references and recommendations shared online 
about a city including the subcategories of Google Search Results, Google 
Trends, Facebook Check-ins, Instagram Hashtags, TripAdvisor Reviews54.  

Global 
Liveability Index 
2021 

The index is conducted by The Economist Intelligence Unit – the research and 
analysis division of The Economist Group. The index examines 140 cities 
throughout the world to quantify the challenges presented to an individual’s 
lifestyle in the past year. Each city is ranked according to 30 qualitative and 
quantitative factors across 5 categories: stability, healthcare, culture and 
environment, education and infrastructure. 

51/140 
(Down -22)56 

Mercer Quality 
of Living City 
Ranking 2019 

Conducted by Mercer, a global consultancy firm, the ranking evaluates local 
living conditions in over 450 cities across the world. 39 indicators under 10 
categories are used to evaluate living conditions. The 10 categories are: 
- Political & social environment (political stability, crime, law enforcement) 
- Economic environment (currency exchange regulations, banking services) 
- Socio-cultural environment (media availability & censorship, personal 

freedom) 
- Medical and health considerations (medical supplies and services, infectious 

diseases, sewage, waste disposal, air pollution) 
- Schools and education (standards and availability of international schools) 
- Public services and transportation (electricity, water, public transportation, 

traffic congestion) 
- Recreation (restaurants, theatres, cinemas, sports and leisure) 
- Consumer goods (availability of food/daily consumption items, cars).  
- Housing (housing rent, household appliances, furniture, maintenance 

services) 
- Natural environment (climate, record of natural disasters) 

33/23157 
(Up +1)58 

Mercer Cost of 
Living City 
Ranking 2021 

The ranking is based on the findings from an annual cost of living survey which 
evaluates more than 200 items under the following categories: housing, 
transportation, utilities, food, domestic supplies, home services, personal 
care, clothing and footwear, recreation and entertainment, alcohol & tobacco   

39/209 
(Up +7)59 

Numbeo Quality 
of Life by City 
Index 2021 

Numbeo is a collaborative online database which compiles data and also 
enables users to share information in order to rank cities and countries on 
different indices. The Quality of Life Index is constructed via ranking cities 
regarding: purchasing power, safety, health care, cost of living, property price 
to income ratio, traffic commute time, pollution and climate.   

145/25160 
(Down -13) 

Numbeo Cost of 
Living by City 
Index 2021 

The Numbeo Cost of Living Index is constructed via ranking cities regarding: 
rent levels, groceries prices, restaurant prices and local purchasing power.  

39/56361 
(Down -3) 

City RepTrak 
201862 

City RepTrak is a global survey based on 12,000 ratings which are collected 
from the G8 countries. The Index ranks the world’s 56 most reputable cities 
based on levels of: trust, esteem, admiration and respect. Perceptions 

18/5663 
(Down -1)64 

                                                                 
54 Best Cities (2021) Methodology 
56 The Economist Intell igence Unit (2021) Global Liveability Index 2021 
57 Mercer (2019) Quality of Living City Ranking 2019 
58 Mercer (2019) Dublin Ranks 33rd in Mercer’s 21st Quality of Living Ranking 
59 Mercer (2021) Cost of Living City Ranking 2021 
60 Numbeo (2021) Quality of Life Index by City 2021 
61 Numbeo (2021) Cost of Living Index by City 2021 
62 City RepTrak (2018) Most Reputable Cities  
63 Vickey Valet (2018) Forbes – The World’s Most Reputable Cities 2018  
64 City RepTrak (2017) The Most Reputable Cities in the World  

Page 88

https://www.bestcities.org/methodology/
https://www.eiu.com/n/campaigns/global-liveability-index-2021/
https://mobilityexchange.mercer.com/Insights/quality-of-living-rankings
https://www.mercer.ie/newsroom/dublin-ranks-33rd-in-mercers-21st-quality-of-living-ranking.html
https://www.mercer.com/our-thinking/career/cost-of-living.html
https://www.numbeo.com/quality-of-life/rankings.jsp?title=2021
https://www.numbeo.com/cost-of-living/rankings.jsp?title=2021
https://www.reptrak.com/city-reptrak/
https://www.forbes.com/sites/vickyvalet/2018/08/23/the-worlds-most-reputable-cities-2018/?sh=19c576a87b4d
https://cdn2.hubspot.net/hubfs/2963875/library/City%20RepTrak%202017_f5.pdf


18 | 
 

regarding 13 different attributes are also grouped into three di mensions: 
Advanced Economy, Effective Government and Appealing Environment.  
The index is operated by Kearney – Global Management Consulting Firm 

eutopia – Place 
Attractiveness 
(Ireland, by 
County)  

eutopia developed a place attractiveness diagnostic tool which was used to 
benchmark all the counties in Ireland regarding 4 core pillars: invest (Celtic 
roar), live (urban edge), visit (urban energisers and cultural explorers) and 
study (Saints and scholars). 

265 

 

4.2 City Brand Indices 
Index  Description Dublin Rank / 

Position 
Anholt-Ipsos 
City Brands 
Index 2020 

The index, managed by Ipsos (multinational market research and consulting 
firm) is constructed following interviews of 5,000 people in 10 panel countries 
(Australia, Brazil, China, France, Germany, India, Russia, South Korea, UK, and 
USA). 50 global cities are evaluated regarding:  
- International status (Presence: the city’s status and global contribution in 

science, culture and governance)  
- Physical appeal (Place: perceptions of the city’s physical appeal including 

climate, environment cleanliness and attractiveness of buildings / parks)   
- Amenities (Prerequisites: perceptions of basic qualities and whether they 

are satisfactory, affordable and accommodating. Standards of public 
amenities such as schools, hospitals, transportation and sports facilities)   

- Warmth of inhabitants (People: reveals if city inhabitants would be warm / 
welcoming, if respondents think it would be easy to fit in / feel safe)   

- Activities (Pulse: determines if there are interesting activities to do and how 
exciting the city is regarding new things to discover) 

- Educational and business qualities (Potential: measures economic and 
educational opportunities, if the city is a good location to do business and / 
or pursue a higher education)66 

Conducted every two years and published by Ipsos.  

21-30/50     
(3rd Tier)67 

 

4.3 Entrepreneurship and Innovation Ecosystem Indices 
Index  Description Dublin Rank / 

Position 

Global Power 
City Index 2020 

The index evaluates cities regarding their ‘magnetism’ or power to attract 
people, capital and enterprises from around the world. 70 different indicators 
across 6 dimensions are used to evaluate cities. The dimensions and indicator 
groups are: 
- Economy: market size, market attractiveness, economic vitality, human 

capital, business environment, ease of doing business 
- R&D: academic resources, research environment, innovation 
- Cultural Interaction: trendsetting potential, tourism resources, cultural 

facilities, visitor amenities, international interaction 
- Liveability: working environment, cost of living, security and safety, well-

being, ease of living 
- Environment: sustainability, air quality and comfort, urban environment 

31/48 Overall 
(Up +2) 
 
 
7/48 
 
36/48 
40/48 
 
25/48 
 
30/48 

                                                                 
65 O’Doherty, J. (2021) Rediscovering & Reinventing Dublin Post-Pandemic [DEM] 
66 Ipsos (2020) City Brand Index 
67 Ipsos (2020) City Brands 2020 Press Release 

Page 89

https://www.dublineconomy.ie/insights/rediscovering-reinventing-dublin-post-pandemic-17147/
https://www.ipsos.com/en/2020-anholt-ipsos-city-brand-index
https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/documents/2020-04/city-brands-2020-press-release_final-april-2020.pdf


19 | 
 

- Accessibility: international network, air transport capacity, inner-city 
transportation, transport comfortability 

37/4868 
 

Startup Genome 
Global Startup 
Ecosystem 
Report 2020 

The index produced by Startup Genome and Global Entrepreneurship Network 
ranks startup ecosystems regarding 7 success factors or dimensions and 
associated indicators:  
- Performance: ecosystem value, exits, startup success 
- Funding: access, quality and activity 
- Market Reach: global leading companies, local reach, IP commercialisation  
- Connectedness: local connectedness, infrastructure 
- Talent: (Tech: access, quality, cost) (Life sciences: STEM access, quality) 

(Experience: scaling experience, startup experience) 
- Knowledge: research, patents 
- Infrastructure 

36/4069 
(Down -10) 

Global Startup 
Ecosystem Index 
2021 (Best Cities 
for Startups 
2021) 

StartupBlink is a think tank that aims to give all stakeholders in the global 
ecosystem accurate information to help inform location based decisions. Each 
year, it ranks the startup ecosystems of 1,000 cities and 100 countries 
regarding: 
- Quantity: # of startups, # of coworking spaces, # of accelerators 
- Quality: traction of ecosystems top startups, unicorns, exits, pantheons  
- Business: various economic indicators 

51/1000 
(Up +3)70 

Global 
Innovation 
Index (Top 100 
Science and 
Technology 
Clusters) 

The index, developed by Cornell University, INSEAD and the World Intellectual 
Property Organisation provides metrics on innovation performance of 131 
countries and economies. It uses 80 indicators under a range of dimensions, 
including: political environment, education, infrastructure and business 
sophistication. As part of it, it identifies and ranks the world’s most vibrant / 
top 100 clusters of science and technology activity.  

Dublin 
Dropped out 
of top 100 
(Down)71 

Innovation Cities 
Index 2021 (Top 
100) 

Conducted by the Data Innovation Agency: 2thinknow, the index is 
constructed using 162 indicators under 3 dimensions which are: cultural 
assets, human infrastructure and networked markets. 

92/500 
(Down -40)72 

FDI European 
Cities and 
Regions of the 
Future 2020/21 

Each year, FDI Intelligence, a service of The Financial Times collects various 
data to rank cities and regions in Europe. This year, data was collected for 505 
locations (319 cities, 148 regions and 38 LEPs). The locations are then 
shortlisted under 5 categories: economic potential, human capital and 
lifestyle, cost effectiveness, connectivity and business friendliness and ranked 
in different benchmarks. Aside from the overall rankings (displayed in the 
column to the right), cities and regions are also ranked in various 
subcategories. Those in which Dublin was ranked are:    
3/10 Major E. Cities OTF                    4/10 M.E. Cities OTF: Economic Potential  
2/10 Major E. Cities OTF: FDI                3/10 M.E. Cities OTF: Business Friendliness 
1/10 Northern E. Region OTF            2/10 Northern E. Cities OTF 
1/10 Small E. Region OTF                   8/10 SER OTF: Human Capital & Lifestyle 
1/10 SER OTF: Economic Potential   1/10 SER OTF: Business Friendliness 

3/25 E. Cities 
OTF: Overall 
(Down -1)73 
 
2/25 E. Region 
OTF: Overall74 
(Down -1) 
 
 
 

                                                                 
68 Global Power City Index (2020) 
69 Startup Genome (2020) Global Startup Ecosystem Report 2020 
70 StartupBlink (2021) Global Startup Ecosystem Index (Best Cities for Startups) 
71 Global Innovation Index (2020) 
72 Innovation Cities (2021) Index 2021: Top 100 World’s Most Innovative Cities  
73 FDI (2018) fDi’s European Cities and Regions of the Future 2018/19 – Winners 
74 FDI (2020) European Cities and Regions of the Future 2020/2021 

Page 90

http://mori-m-foundation.or.jp/pdf/GPCI2020_summary.pdf
https://startupgenome.com/report/gser2020
https://www.startupblink.com/
https://www.wipo.int/edocs/pubdocs/en/wipo_pub_gii_2020.pdf
https://www.innovation-cities.com/worlds-most-innovative-cities-2021-top-100/25477/
https://www.fdiintelligence.com/article/70906
https://www.fdiintelligence.com/article/76767?saveConsentPreferences=success


20 | 
 

Global Financial 
Centres Index 29 
(2021) 

The index is published bi-annually by the think-tank: Z/Yen Group to evaluate 
the world’s leading financial centres. The index evaluates regarding 5 areas of 
competitiveness which are: 
- Business Environment (E): political stability & rule of law, institutional & 

regulatory E, macroeconomic E, tax & cost competitiveness.  
- Human Capital: availability of skilled personnel, flexible labour market, 

education and development, quality of life 
- Infrastructure (I): built I, ICT I, transport I, sustainable development 
- Financial Sector Development: depth and breadth of industry clusters, 

availability of capital, market liquidity, economic output 
- Reputation: city brand and appeal, level of innovation, attractiveness and 

cultural diversity, comparative positioning with other centres 

48/114 
Overall Rank 
(Down -14) 
 
40/105 
FinTech Rank 
(Up +2)75 
 

Global Cities 
Talent 
Competitiveness 
Index 

The Global Talent Competitiveness Index is an annual benchmarking tool 
which ranks countries and cities regarding their ability to develop, attract and 
retain talent. As part of the overall index, a specific index to rank cities is 
included. The cities index uses 16 indicators under 5 pillars, which are: 
- Enable: GDP per capita, internet speed, ease of doing business  
- Attract: presence of Forbes Global 2000 companies (HQ presence), foreign 

born population, FDI projects 
- Grow: major universities, tertiary enrolment, FDI jobs created 
- Retain: safety, environmental quality, traffic travel times, affordability 
- Global Knowledge Skills: population with tertiary education, patent 

applications, airport connectivity 

13/155 
Overall      
(Up +22) 
 
2/155 GCTCI 
Pillar: Enable76 

Smart City Index The index is conducted by The Institute for Management Development and 
Singapore University for Technology and Design. It assesses the perceptions of 
residents on issues related to 2 pillars: structures (existing infrastructure) and 
technology (technological provisions and services) available to them in their 
city. Each pillar is evaluated regarding 5 key areas: health and safety, mobility, 
activities, opportunities and governance77.  

34/109 
(Down -4)78 

European Digital 
Social 
Innovation 
Index 2021 

The index was developed as part of DSI4EU, an EU funded project. It uses 32 
indicators within the following 6 dimensions or themes: skills, infrastructure, 
diversity and inclusion, collaboration, funding, civil society.  

18/6079 

European Digital 
City Index 2016 

Although out of date now, this index used a variety of interesting indicators to 
describe how well different European cities supported digital 
entrepreneurship. 40 indicators grouped into 10 overlying dimensions were 
used. The 10 dimensions were:  
- Skills: labour costs, graduates access, business training, ICT employees, 

support employees, English language skills   
- Access to Capital: early / late stage, business angel – funding, crowdfunding  
- Business Environment: data openness, office space cost, doing business ease 
- Digital Infrastructure: fibre internet, mobile/internet speed, broadband cost 
- Entrepreneurial Culture: willingness to take on risk, multicultural diversity, 

online collaboration, new-business density, perception of entrepreneurs, 
trust, ecosystem engagement, history of unicorns 

- Knowledge Spillovers: quality of universities, R&D intensity 

8/60 Start Up 
(Ranks cities 
for start up - 
i.e. early stage 
companies / 
entrepreneurs 
– readiness)  
 
9/60 Scale Up 
(Ranks cities 
for scale up – 
i.e. rapidly 
growing 

                                                                 
75 Global  Financial Centres Index 29 (2021) 
76 Global Cities Talent Competitiveness Index 2020 (p. 97 in Global Talent Competitiveness Index 2020)  
77 Smart City Index (2021) Methodology 
78 Smart Cities Index (2020) 
79 European Digital Social Innovation Index (2021)  

Page 91

https://www.longfinance.net/media/documents/GFCI_29_Full_Report_2021.03.17_v1.1.pdf
https://www.insead.edu/sites/default/files/assets/dept/globalindices/docs/GTCI-2020-report.pdf
https://www.imd.org/smart-city-observatory/smart-city-index/
https://www.imd.org/globalassets/wcc/docs/smart_city/smartcityindex_2020.pdf
https://www.nesta.org.uk/data-visualisation-and-interactive/european-digital-social-innovation-index/


21 | 
 

- Lifestyle: standard of living, culture and recreation 
- Market: local online sales growth, mobile / digital market size, digital 

services demand, local online sales 
- Mentoring: networking events, access to accelerators, early stage assistance 
- Non-Digital Infrastructure: train and airport connectivity, commute80.  

companies 
with 1-10 
employees – 
readiness)81 

 

4.4 Green / Sustainability Indices 
Index  Description Dublin Rank / 

Position 

Citizen Centric 
Cities – 
Sustainable 
Cities Index 
2018 

The index is conducted by ARCADIS, a global design and consultancy 
organisation that focuses on natural and built assets. The index is aligned to 
the UN Sustainable Development Goals and ranks 100 global cities on 3 pillars 
regarding sustainability: 

- People (Social: reflects social mobility and quality of opportunity and life. It 
considers quality of life in the present and prospects for improvement for 
future generations) 

- Planet (Environmental: describes management of energy use, pollution and 
emissions. It measures sustainable attributes of a city such as green space 
and pollution as well as leading indicators of environmental mitigation)  

- Profit (Economic: assess business environment and economic performance. 
It considers the presence of infrastructure and regulatory enablers that 
support growth and prosperity in the present and future)  

20/100 
Overall Index 
 
18/100 
People Sub 
Index 
 
31/100 Planet 
Sub Index 
 
19/100 Profit 
Sub Index82 

European Green 
City Index 2009 
(Part of overall 
Green City 
Index) 

Although out of date now, the Green City Index, developed by the Economist 
Intelligence Unit in cooperation with Siemens used a variety of interesting 
indicators to rank European cities. The index evaluates 16 quantitative and 14 
qualitative indicators across 8 dimensions: 

- Buildings: energy consumption of residential buildings, energy-efficient 
buildings standards, energy-efficient buildings initiatives 

- Transport: use of non-car transport, size of non-car transport network, 
green transport promotion, congestion reduction policies 

- Waste and Land Use: Municipal waste production, waste recycling, waste 
reduction policies, green land use policies 

- Water: water consumption, system leakages, wastewater system treatment, 
water efficiency and treatment policies 

- Air Quality: Nitrogen dioxide, sulphur dioxide, ozone, particulate matter, 
clean air policies 

- Environmental Governance: green action plan, green management, public 
participation in green policy  

21/3083 

 

4.5 Arts and Culture Indices 
Cultural and 
Creative Cities 
Monitor 2019 

The monitor was developed by the Joint Research Council, the European 
Commission’s science and knowledge service to assess the performance of 
cultural and creative cites in Europe.  Quantitative and qualitative information 
is captured under 29 indicators, 9 dimensions and 3 overall facets. The facets 
and dimensions are:  

4/40 XL Group 
Population 
500,000-1m 
(Up +2)84 

                                                                 
80 European Digital City Index (2016) Methodology 
81 European Digital City Index (2016) 
82 ARCADIS (2018) Citizen Centric Cities Sustainable Cities Index 2018 
83 Green City Index (2009) (European Green City Index: p. 15) 
84 Cultural and Creative Cities Monitor (2019) 

Page 92

https://digitalcityindex.eu/methodology
https://digitalcityindex.eu/
https://www.arcadis.com/campaigns/citizencentriccities/images/%7b1d5ae7e2-a348-4b6e-b1d7-6d94fa7d7567%7dsustainable_cities_index_2018_arcadis.pdf
https://assets.new.siemens.com/siemens/assets/api/uuid:cf26889b-3254-4dcb-bc50-fef7e99cb3c7/gci-report-summary.pdf
https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC117336


22 | 
 

- Cultural Vibrancy: cultural venues and facilities, cultural participation and 
attractiveness 

- Creative Economy: creative and knowledge-based jobs, intellectual property 
and innovation, new jobs in creative sectors 

- Enabling Environment: human capital and education, openness tolerance 
and trust, local and international connections, quality of governance 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



23 | 
 

 

Page 94



 

  

Makerspace 
Provision in 

Dublin 
Research Report 

Page 95



1 | 
 

Makerspace Provision in Dublin 

Research Report 

 

 

Contents 
1 Executive Summary ............................................................................................................... 2 

2 Context: The Maker Movement.............................................................................................. 5 

3 Concept: Makerspaces........................................................................................................... 8 

4 Review: Makerspace Provision in Dublin ............................................................................... 12 

4.1 General Makerspaces................................................................................................... 12 

4.2 University / College Makerspaces ................................................................................. 13 

4.3 Local Authority Makerspaces ........................................................................................ 16 

4.4 Other Makerspace / Maker Initiatives ........................................................................... 19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report completed by: 

Norman Thompson – Economic Development Researcher, Dublin City Council (September 2021) 

For further information about this report, please contact: 

Address: Economic Development Office, Dublin City Council, 3 Palace Street, Dublin 2, D02 T277 
Phone:  01 222 5611   Email: economicdevelopment@dublincity.ie  
Website:  www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity  
 

Page 96

mailto:economicdevelopment@dublincity.ie
http://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity


2 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 Executive Summary 
This research report provides an overview of makerspace provision and relevant maker initiatives in 

Dublin City and County. The report was produced as part of the Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 

20201, (DREP) specifically: to complete Action 4 under Strategic Objective 3. 

 

A brief literature review was initially carried out to clarify the context and concept of makerspaces. A 

desktop review was then conducted to identify relevant makerspaces and initiatives in Dublin and to 

determine their respective service provision, operating models and locations. Makerspaces and 

initiatives were identified in the context of generally accepted interpretations among practitioners 

and within the relevant literature. The term ‘makerspace’ used in this report is inclusive of 

Hackerspaces and Fab Labs.   

A summary is provided below, regarding the report and makerspace provision in Dublin.  

                                                                 
1 DEBI (2018) Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 2020  

Strategic Objective 3:  Build a pipeline of sustainable and scalable start-ups in 

Dublin and provide quality support. 

Action 4:  Review existing 'Maker Space' provision in the Dublin Region 

Page 97

file://///dccdata/leo/Shared/Research/Maker/enterprise.gov.ie/en/Publications/Dublin-Regional-Enterprise-Plan-to-2020.html


3 | 
 

The Maker Movement 

The maker movement is a growing trend that seeks to empower, educate, inspire and encourage 

people to create, build, innovate and do it yourself. As part of it, diverse actors or makers interact and 

collaborate, share knowledge and expertise in order to produce objects or progress their projects. 

Typical activities within the movement include electronics, programming, robotics, 3D printing, 

fabrication, woodwork, metalwork, arts and crafts. The movement supports and contributes to 

inclusion, entrepreneurship, the broadening of research and development and ultimately to the 

democratisation of innovation by removing or lowering barriers to tools, equipment and knowledge.  

Makerspaces 

Makerspaces are hubs and physical representations of the maker movement where makers converge 

to create, learn and work on projects using traditional crafts and / or new technologies while sharing 

ideas, resources, equipment and knowledge. Typical characteristics of makerspaces are that they are: 

physical spaces; self-supported and that they seek to foster and encourage: education, sharing – open 

access / open source approaches, engagement, inclusion, and innovation. There are an estimated 

2,000 makerspaces around the world, 826 of which are located in European Union (EU) countries. 

Ireland ranks 13th of the 28 EU countries and below the EU average, regarding the number of 

makerspaces located across the country. However, Ireland ranks 7th of 28 regarding the number of 

makerspaces per one million inhabitants. In summary, Ireland ranks closely with similar EU countries.  

Makerspace Provision in Dublin 

In Dublin, makerspaces, makerspace environments and maker initiatives are evident and manifested 

in various ways. (An overview of makerspace provision is provided in the table below). TOG 

Hackerspace is a quintessential example of a makerspace in Dublin. It is community led, funded and 

managed, and has a clear purpose to promote and foster innovation, making, sharing and education. 

The four universities in Dublin each have a type of makerspace or operate maker initiatives. University 

College Dublin (UCD) and Technological University Dublin (TU Dublin) both have future plans to further 

develop and utilise makerspaces as part of their respective campuses and facilities’ offerings. All four 

Dublin Local Authorities support making, primarily through the provision or planned provision of 

makerspaces in public libraries or other relevant locations. Making is further supported by community-

led initiatives such as Dublin Maker, via its annual large scale festival and various programmes.  

In general, makerspace provision and support for making in Dublin appears to be relatively robust due 

to the many organisations and initiatives that are actively supporting and developing makerspaces 

and making. Furthermore, the various future initiatives planned by organisations, universities and 

local authorities to utilise maker approaches and create additional makerspaces serves to signal that 

makerspaces and making are poised to continue and develop as important elements within 

communities, society, education and within the innovation and entrepreneurship ecosystem. It is 

important to note, however, that TOG is the only independent, community led, funded and managed 

makerspace in Dublin, which was identified as part of this report.      

 

 

Please Note: The desktop review was conducted during Quarter 2, 2021 when the makerspaces and 

relevant initiatives were identified. If a makerspace or relevant initiative was not featured in this 

report or has changed, please inform the Economic Development Office of Dublin City Council.  

Page 98



4 | 
 

Overview: Makerspace Provision in Dublin 
General Makerspaces 
Makerspace / Initiatives Location (Dublin 

Postcode Area) 
Operating 

model 
Service Provision 

TOG Hackerspace  – The 
Dublin Hackerspace 

D12 Non-profit, 
community led 

Workspace, events, outreach. 
Software, hardware, arts, craft 
equipment 

University / College Makerspaces 

DCU Alpha  Prototype / 
Makerspace 

D11 Commercial 
Innovation 
Campus 

Private workspace, events, 
networking, access to DCU 
research community 

M2M / IoT Maker-space 
for Satellite 
Communications  

D11 Temporary 
programme 

Incubation programme, 
workspace, office, lab space, test 
environment 

UCD Innovation 
Academy – Maker 
Space 

D4 Non-profit, 
under UCD 
CLG 

Workspace, lab, events, 
programmes. Hardware and 
software tools and technologies. 

Open Labs TU Dublin D7 Operates as 
part of TU 
Dublin CLG 

Access to TU Dublin technologies, 
research community, advice. Labs: 
Food Innovation, Design, VR 

Science Gallery (Trinity 
College Dublin TCD) 

D2 Non-profit, as 
part of TCD 

Events, exhibitions, workshops, 
programmes 

Trinity College Dublin – 
Makerspace (Dept. of M 
&M Engineering) 

D2 Internal space 
for students, 
as part of TCD 

Workspace, 3D printing facility, 
prototype lab, hardware and 
software tools and technologies 

Local Authority Makerspaces 

Dublin City Council: 
Makerspaces 
- Ballyfermot Library,  
- Coolock Library,  
- Maker Van 

 
 
- D10 
- D17 
- Various 

 
 
Non-profit, 
public libraries 
 

 
 
- Ballyfermot Library: Creative 

Studio (Digital Makerspace) 
- Coolock Library: Events, 

workshop, equipment 
- Maker Van: Workshops, equip. 

Fingal County Council: 
Makerspaces: 
- Blanchardstown 

Library,  
- Digital Innovation / 

Makerspace 

 
 
- D15      
          
- Co. North      
(Balbriggan) 

 
 
Non-profit, 
public libraries 
TBC 

 
 
- TBC 

 
- TBC 

South Dublin County 
Council: Makerspace   

D22 
 

Non-profit, 
public library 

Creative Studio (Digital 
Makerspace) 

Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown (dlr) LexIcon  

Co. South Non-profit, 
public library 

Events, workshops, programmes. 
Equipment 

Other Makerspace / Maker Initiatives 
Dublin Maker Various Free annual 

event. Comm / 
vol. led 

Annual showcase event. Also 
various initiatives: podcasts, 
meetings, competitions, articles 

Science Hack Day Dublin TOG / D8 Free annual 
event. Comm. 
/ vol. led. 

Event and competition 

Men’s Sheds Various Vol. led Workspace, events, equipment 

Page 99



5 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 Context: The Maker Movement 
Since the beginning of humankind, people have been making2. They have done so by engaging in: ‘the 

act or process of forming, causing, doing, or coming into being’3, regarding items and processes in 

order to achieve a goal, solve a problem or realize progress. Recently, making has become particularly 

popular as part of an overall and associated movement or trend that seeks to empower, educate, 

inspire and encourage people to create, build, innovate and do it for themselves. The movement is 

described as ‘a growing community of individuals, representing different disciplines, experiences, skill 

levels, and backgrounds’4. Within the movement: diverse actors interact and collaborate through 

social exchange in knowledge creation and sharing spaces while using technological or other resources 

to produce material artefacts or progress projects5. 

Although subject to debate and constantly evolving, the maker movement generally involves and 

includes activities related to electronics, programming, robotics, 3D printing, fabrication, woodwork, 

metalwork, arts and crafts5 6. Creation, recreation and assembly of objects by using low cost and / or 

discarded items and / or raw materials as part of a do-it-yourself (DIY), collaborative, sharing and open 

source orientation, is typical7.  

                                                                 
2 Burke, J. (2014). Making Sense: Can Makerspaces Work in Academic Libraries? 
3 Merriam-Webster (2021) Definition of Making 
4 American Society for Engineering Education (2016) Envisioning the Future of the 
Maker Movement: Summit Report 
5 Browder, R. et al., (2019) The Emergence of the Maker Movement: Implications for Organisational and 

Entrepreneurship Research 
6 Rosa, P. et al., (2017) Overview of the Maker Movement in the European Union 
7 Rosa, P. et al., (2018) Futures of Work: Perspectives from the Maker Movement 

Page 100

https://sc.lib.miamioh.edu/bitstream/handle/2374.MIA/5212/Burke.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/making
https://www.asee.org/documents/papers-and-publications/papers/maker-summit-report.pdf
https://www.asee.org/documents/papers-and-publications/papers/maker-summit-report.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330686436_The_Emergence_of_the_Maker_Movement_Implications_for_Organizational_and_Entrepreneurship_Research
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330686436_The_Emergence_of_the_Maker_Movement_Implications_for_Organizational_and_Entrepreneurship_Research
https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC107298
https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC110999/kjna29296enn.pdf


6 | 
 

Maker Movement Origins 

The origins of the modern day maker movement include the Mechanics Institutes in the 19th century 

which encouraged collaborative and public learning and innovation4, the counterculture of the 1960s 

/ 1970s which sought to empower people to do more themselves, the advent of the information age 

which saw computers and technology products become more available , and a growing interest in DIY 

and craft modes of production5 6. According to Browder et al.,5 the main external enabling forces that 

contributed to the maker movement in the modern era include:  

- A shift from analogue to digital designs and production 

- Increased economic efficiencies achieved via a reduction in the time and costs required for 

the process of development and prototyping 

- Trends toward collaboration in designing and producing artefacts  

- Increased involvement of end-users in innovation and production processes   

Makers 

Those involved in the movement, referred to as makers, include do it yourself (DIY) hobbyists, 

engineers, artists, designers, hackers, crafters, students, educators, self-employed small business 

owners, prototyping entrepreneurs, technology inventors, corporate innovators, manufactures, 

children etc. who seek to explore new ways to express themselves, innovate and customise or create 

objects4 5 6 7. By virtue of the movement, these makers benefit in various ways which include:  

- Access to advanced technologies which would otherwise be out of reach or too expensive.   

- Direct access to fabrication tools, programmes and processes which do not require specialist 

training or qualifications to operate. Makers can participate as long as they are prepared to 

learn and collaborate.     

- Opportunity for enhanced social capital among the diverse community of makers.  

- Access to knowledge and expertise via other makers5 6 7.  

Impact 

On account of these benefits and the associated activities, the maker movement subsequently 

supports and contributes to inclusion, entrepreneurship, the broadening of research and 

development and also ultimately to the democratisation of innovation6 7. It significantly lowers or 

removes barriers to innovation and invention as makers can much more easily and cheaply experiment 

and develop prototypes while leveraging the collective knowledge, support and expertise of other 

makers. Traditionally, such knowledge, expertise and the associated tools and technologies were 

primarily and sometimes exclusively available to corporate and well-resourced organisations. The 

movement opens up these resources to the masses. 

Making activities combine diverse disciplines, people and perspectives, which typically would be 

separate otherwise8. When combined, this fusion is conducive to innovation, ideation and invention 

generation. Makers can directly, rapidly and openly access the supports, resources and networks 

needed to help them invent, innovate and develop prototypes. The movement thus enables new 

models and approaches to education, collaborative work and production or manufacturing6 7. In 

addition, the maker movement and associated makerspaces can play a wide role in public life and can 

support community development in various ways. These ways include provision of local social spaces 

                                                                 
8 Vuorikari, R. et al ., (2019) Makerspaces for Education and Training – Exploring future implications for Europe 

Page 101

https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC117481/makerspaces_2034_education.pdf


7 | 
 

for community members to meet, community well-being enhancement through serving community 

needs and social inclusion through reaching out to excluded groups9.  

Makerspaces and makers have been and are typically involved in responding to global challenges or 

emergency situations. For instance, Nepal Communitere, a makerspace in Kathmandu was established 

after the 2015 earthquake to help produce and repair essential items, while Glia, a maker project in 

Gaza has been producing 3D printed lifesaving tourniquets since 201610. In regard to the COVID-19 

pandemic, the maker movement, makerspaces and makers played a vital and innovative role. In 

response to the shortfall of essential items, an unprecedented number of makers utilised their skills 

to produce face masks, face shields and ventilators in their local makerspaces or indeed homes, in 

order to support hospitals, healthcare workers and people affected11 12 13. 

Future 

The movement looks certain to continue and develop as various events and initiatives such as the 

international series of Maker Faires14 increasingly take place around the world, as making is promoted 

and supported at high policy levels such as the European Commission supported European Maker 

Week15 and as more public and private organisations from academia, education, government and 

business seek to utilise and support making. 

An extensive body of academic and policy research continues to highlight various benefits and positive 

impacts associated with the maker movement2 4 5 6 7 16. In regard to education, as the many benefits of 

making and makerspaces have become increasingly acknowledged, in particular to STEM subjects, 

schools, libraries and universities have sought to create and utilise makerspaces as a means to better 

support learning among students2 4. In 2014, Deloitte and Maker Media published an extensive report 

on the impact of the maker movement in which they highlighted key trends that will support the 

further development of the maker movement12. These trends include: ‘collaborative production will 

define the future of work; the maker ecosystem will disrupt today’s large enterprise; empowered 

demand drives supply and manufacturing and retail follow the customer; in education, practice 

trumps theory; with shared production and marketplaces in communities, agency trumps apathy’.    

More recently in 2018, Rosa et al.,7 produced a report considering the maker movement and the 

future of work. Their key conclusions were that makerspaces:  

- Are part of the infrastructure for developing skills for the future and can provide alternative 

or complimentary education 

- Have a ‘central role in fostering innovation’, ideation and prototyping  

- Can inspire individuals to create their own job or business.   

 

 

                                                                 
9 Taylor, N. et al., (2016) Making Community: The Wider Role of Makerspaces in Public Life 
10 Corsini, L. and James, E. (2021) Makerspaces boost community resil ience. [WE Forum] 
11 Corsini, L. et al., (2020) The Maker movement and its impact in the fight against COVID-19 
12 ProFuturo (2020) A solidarity-based Maker Movement in times of global pandemic 
13 Kieslinger, B. et al., (2021) Covid-19 Response From Global Makers   
14 Maker Faire (2021)   
15 European Maker Week (2021) 
16 Deloitte & Maker Media (2014) Impact of the Maker Movement 

Page 102

https://discovery.dundee.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/7812207/taylor_chi16_making_community.pdf
https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2021/06/makerspaces-help-communities-in-crisis-heres-how-to-support-them/
https://www.repository.cam.ac.uk/handle/1810/313163
https://profuturo.education/en/topics/solidarity-maker-movement-global-pandemic/
https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsoc.2021.629587/full
https://makerfaire.com/
https://europeanmakerweek.eu/
https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/technology-media-telecommunications/us-impact-maker-movement-101114.pdf


8 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 Concept: Makerspaces 
As interest in making has grown, the demand for spaces where similarly minded individuals can cluster 

and share tools, ideas and knowledge has increased17 18 19. Various spaces acting as hubs and ‘physical 

representations’ of the maker movement have thus steadily increased around the world6. These 

spaces are essentially places where people with shared interests converge to create, learn and work 

on projects using traditional crafts or technology while sharing ideas, resources, equipment and 

knowledge20. They may exist within a school, university, innovation campus, industrial park, library, 

community centre or in a public or private facility where sharing, exploring, learning and creating can 

take place. Fundamentally these spaces provide infrastructure, equipment and networks so that 

makers can work on their projects and try to turn their ideas into prototypes and objects4. Makers 

gather at makerspaces to design, create and customise new devices and objects in a low risk and low 

cost setting while contributing to and benefiting from the collective knowledge,  experience and 

expertise among other makers at the space.  

The main terms used or types of spaces are Fab Labs, Hackerspaces or Makerspaces6 7.  

- Fab Labs short for Fabrication Laboratories or Fabulous Laboratories are typically workshops 

where makers collaborate via a common agenda to design and manufacture custom built 

objects.  

                                                                 
17 Popular Science (2016) Number of Maker Spaces Worldwide  
18 FAB9 (2018) The Maker Movement  
19 Curiosity Commons (2021) A brief history of Makerspaces   
20 Makerspaces.com (2021) What is a Maker Space  

Page 103

https://www.popsci.com/rise-makerspace-by-numbers/
https://medium.com/@fab9au/the-maker-movement-a550e68a9ad3
https://curiositycommons.wordpress.com/a-brief-history-of-makerspaces/
https://www.makerspaces.com/what-is-a-makerspace/


9 | 
 

- Hackerspaces are typically community led, funded and managed with a primary focus on 

technology, electronics and programming. 

- Makerspaces are somewhat like a hybrid of Fab Labs and Hackerspaces. The term has 

ultimately become an overall term used to describe spaces as part of the maker movement 

including Fab Labs and Hackerspaces. It is commonly accepted and used by practitioners to 

describe a space that promotes ‘active participation, knowledge sharing and collaboration 

among individuals through open exploration and creative use of tools and technology’7.   

Thus, in this report, makerspace is used as an overall term, inclusive of hackerspaces and Fab Labs.   

Makerspaces vary in regard to their models, approaches and focuses. Different spaces may focus more 

so on social innovation, inclusion, education, technology, arts and culture, entrepreneurship, 

intrapreneurship or training, depending on their location, context, members, local or organisation 

needs6 7. Nonetheless some typical and relevant characteristics of makerspaces are featured below: 

- Physical Space. Makerspaces are physical hubs where equipment is available and where 

events, workshops, training and general making activities by makers can take place.  

- Education. Makerspaces seek to inspire and educate makers via training, events, equipment 

and general operations.  

- Innovation. The direct and increased access to equipment, tools, technologies, networks and 

expertise, significantly contributes to and empowers individuals, entrepreneurs and 

enterprises to innovate. Current or potential inventors and entrepreneurs can rapidly 

prototype and customise products in a low risk and low cost setting.  

- Self-support. Makerspaces are typically funded via grants, community support, sponsorship 

and or member fees. Money raised is used towards equipment, training, maintenance and the 

space rental or associated costs. 

- Sharing. Central, is the aim to provide an environment that fosters sharing knowledge, space, 

skills, equipment and experience as part of open access and open source approaches.  

- Engagement. Broad, multifaceted and inclusive engagement via training, workshops, events, 

fairs and promotion is typical. Makerspaces provide unique opportunities for makers and the 

general public to engage in different ways on diverse topics.      

Currently, there are an estimated 2,000 makerspaces around the world21 22. As part of an extensive 

study on makerspaces in the EU, Rosa et al.,6 identified and estimated that there were 826 across the 

EU, as of 2017. They also found that all major capital cities in the EU have at least one makerspace6 

and that Western European countries in particular France, Germany and Italy account for a 

significantly large proportion of makerspaces in the EU. The most common funding scheme used by 

makerspaces in the EU is a flat or varied membership fee and the most common thematic interests 

within makerspaces are: digital fabrication, programming, electronics, design, arts and education. The 

most common equipment and tools available within these makerspaces are  3D printers, circuit 

production tools, laser cutters, CNC milling machines, vinyl cutters and precision milling machines.  

As part of the study by Rosa et al.,6 Ireland ranked 13th among the 28 EU countries and below average 

regarding the number of makerspaces located across the country. However, regarding the number of 

makerspaces, per one million inhabitants, Ireland ranked 7th. In summary, among the various rankings 

in the report, Ireland ranked closely to similar EU countries such as Denmark, Finland and Sweden. 

Key figures from the report are displayed below:      

                                                                 
21 Affordable Colleges Online (2021) Makerspaces , Hackerspaces and FabLabs  
22 OEDb (2021) The 4 Flavours of Makerspaces  

Page 104

https://www.affordablecollegesonline.org/college-resource-center/fab-labs-hackerspaces-makerspaces/#:~:text=An%20estimated%20135%20million%20U.S.,Can%20Grow%20the%20Maker%20Movement.%E2%80%9D
https://oedb.org/ilibrarian/4-flavors-makerspaces/


10 | 
 

Figure 1: Makerspaces in EU 28, per country 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rosa et al., (2017)6 (pg. 17) 

Figure 2: Makerspaces in EU28, per 1,000,000 inhabitants     

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rosa et al., (2017) 6 (pg. 19) 

Page 105



11 | 
 

Figure 3: Number of makerspaces in EU28 countries 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rosa et al., (2017) 6 (pg. 15) 

Figure 4: Location of makerspaces in EU28 and NUTS 2 Regions and population density 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rosa et al., (2017) 6 (pg. 20) 

Page 106



12 | 
 

4 Review: Makerspace Provision in Dublin 
Makerspace provision in Dublin is evident and manifested in various ways. Relevant makerspaces, 

makerspace environments and initiatives are profiled below: 

Makerspace Provision in Dublin 

4.1 General Makerspaces 
Name TOG Hackerspace23 – The Dublin Hackerspace 

Location Unit 1B, Kylemore Rd, Inchicore, Dublin 12, D12 KRW1 

Website https://www.tog.ie/  
Description TOG is self-described as a community hackerspace / makerspace which was 

first founded in Dublin in 2009. It is a place where people / members can learn 
new skills, access equipment and be creative to work on projects in an 
environment that is both inspiring and supportive of new and old technologies.  
Members range from students to retirees who collectively have skills in 
software, hardware, engineering, arts, design etc. TOG runs regular 
workshops, events and training initiatives. As part of its science outreach, it 
runs public events and participates in festivals including24: Dublin Maker25, 
Coolest Projects26, Cork Carnival of Science27 and St. Patrick’s Festival28. 
 
As part of its constitution29, the purposes of TOG are the promotion of 
innovation, science, technology, modern culture and creative arts. It thus seeks 
to: provide shared physical workspaces and resources; create safe, inviting and 
friendly environments where the community can meet and socialise; foster 
knowledge sharing and continued education in the community and / or the 
general public; promote and support the use and development of open 
technologies, standards and ideas by the community, the general public and 
other bodies with similar objectives; foster relations and work with other third 
parties with similar objectives.  

Operating Model Non-profit, non-commercial group funded by members who typically pay a 
monthly fee of €45. TOG is registered as a designated activity company limited 
by guarantee. (A private company limited by guarantee registered under Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2014)   

Service Provision Workspace, events and networking. Public outreach. Software, hardware, 
engineering, arts, design: tools and equipment. 

Note  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                 
23 TOG Hackerspace (2021) 
24 Dublin Maker (2021) Archives: Makerspace – TOG Hackerspace 
25 Dublin Maker (2021) 
26 Coolest Projects (2021) 
27 Cork Carnival of Science (2019) 
28 St. Patrick’s Festiva l  (2021) 
29 TOG Hackerspace (2021) Constitution 

Page 107

https://www.tog.ie/
https://www.tog.ie/
http://www.dublinmaker.ie/tag/makerspace/
http://www.dublinmaker.ie/
https://online.coolestprojects.org/
https://www.corkcity.ie/en/things-to-do/festivals-events/cork-carnival-of-science/
https://www.stpatricksfestival.ie/
https://www.tog.ie/constitution-dac/


13 | 
 

4.2 University / College Makerspaces 
Name DCU Alpha  Prototype / Makerspace30 

Location DCU Alpha, Innovation Campus, 11 Old Finglas Rd, Glasnevin, Dublin, D1 
Website https://www.dcualpha.ie/facilities/  

Description DCU Alpha provides flexible workspaces for member f irms and partner 
businesses that can be adapted for in-house prototyping and experimenting. 
Some member firms conduct large scale mechanical prototyping, 3D printing, 
CNC machining and electronics making in their premises26. 

Operating Model Commercial Innovation Campus. Workspace rented to companies. A division 
of Invent DCU Designated Activity Company (limited by shares), registered 
office 6th Floor, South Bank House, Barrow Street31.  

Service Provision Private workspace, events, networking, access to DCU research community.  

Note DCU was previously in advanced talks with TechShop, the US based 
international chain of makerspaces, to establish a large scale and commercial 
makerspace on the DCU Alpha campus. TechShop filed for bankruptcy in 2017 
and subsequently ceased operating amid significant losses on account of an 
alleged unsustainable business model32.   

 

Name M2M / IoT Maker-space for Satellite Communications (Temporary) 
Location DCU Alpha, Innovation Campus, 11 Old Finglas Rd, Glasnevin, Dublin, D11 

Website https://www.dcu.ie/invent/news/2017/05/m2m-iot-maker-space-for-
satellite-communications  

Description In 2017, the European Space Agency (ESA) and Dublin City University (DCU) 
collaborated to establish this temporary makerspace which was essentially a 
maker / incubation programme. The programme was the ESA’s inaugural 
maker programme which DCU was contracted to deliver. DCU was responsible 
for providing the makerspace management and development fund 
disbursement33. The core aim was to engage newcomer SMEs, space tech 
entrepreneurs, industry and maker movement stakeholders who may not 
otherwise offer services or ideas to the ESA34, and provide opportunities for 
rapid prototyping and validation of technologies35. The programme was 
designed to deliver proof of concept demonstrations and technology feasibility 
reports, to challenges developed and presented by ESA and DCU. 
 
8 companies participated and worked on 10 different challenges with each 
project lasting between 4-5 months. These companies were provided with an 
office, lab space and test environments as well as other supports 28. The 
programme was deemed as being much more successful than anticipated, 6 of 
the participating companies went on to tender for ESA contracts and it 
highlighted how such an approach can be used to encourage innovation28 36.  

Operating Model Temporary Programme. (DCU Contracted by ESA) 

Service Provision Incubation programme, workspace, office, lab space, test environment. 
Note The programme ended in December 201827 

                                                                 
30 DCU Alpha  (2021) Prototype / Makerspace 
31 DCU Alpha (2021) Home 
32 Forbes (2017) Report: TechShop Shuts Down 
33 DTEE (2019) Launch of Ireland’s First National Space Strategy   
34 FORA (2018) DCU is in the running to house an ESA lab for 5G tech 
35 ESA (2017) Maker Space kicks off in Dublin 
36 Enterprise Ireland (2018) European Space Agency – Activities in Ireland 

Page 108

https://www.dcualpha.ie/facilities/
https://www.dcu.ie/invent/news/2017/05/m2m-iot-maker-space-for-satellite-communications
https://www.dcu.ie/invent/news/2017/05/m2m-iot-maker-space-for-satellite-communications
https://www.dcualpha.ie/facilities/
https://www.dcualpha.ie/
https://www.forbes.com/sites/jeanbaptiste/2017/11/15/techshop-shuts-down/?sh=c5e3ceb6c269
https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/News-And-Events/Department-News/2019/June/19062019.html
https://fora.ie/european-space-agency-dcu-5g-4376787-Dec2018/
https://artes.esa.int/news/maker-space-kicks-dublin
https://www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/Research-Innovation/Companies/Access-EU-Research-Innovation-reports/European-Space-Agency-Activities-in-Ireland-2018.pdf


14 | 
 

 
Name UCD Innovation Academy – Maker Space 

Location O’Brien Science Centre, Belfield Campus, University College Dublin, Dublin 4 
Website https://www.innovators.ie/  

Description The UCD Innovation Academy is part of University College Dublin. Its mission 
is ‘to provide a transformational education experience for the betterment of 
society and the economy. We shape creative minds capable of launching new 
ventures’37. The academy provides accredited courses, bespoke programmes 
to organisations and engages in various collaborations with industry 
organisations. 
 
The academy includes flexible learning spaces, a prototyping lab, collaborative 
workspaces, a makerspace and an extensive range of hardware (virtual reality 
headsets, video cameras, EEG headsets, drones, 3D printers, electronics kits, 
robotics) and software resources32 38.   

Operating Model Non-profit, under UCD CLG (Company Limited by Guarantee). Fees charged for 
industry programmes and accredited courses. 

Service Provision Workspace, lab, events, programmes. Hardware and software tools and 
technologies. 

Note The academy has previously hosted and facilitated maker hackathons locally39 
and internationally40 to encourage participants to engage in making and 
prototype development.   
 
The academy recently invited applications for creative maker facilitators to 
help ‘prepare learners for the challenges and opportunities of the 
Anthropocene and 4th Industrial Revolution by fostering Innovation Mindsets, 
with an emphasis on Creativity, Entrepreneurship and Leadership’41. The roles 
involve ensuring that current and emerging technologies are appropriately 
applied to improve the learning and work environment for students, staff and 
collaborative partners36.  
 
In 2018, UCD launched the Future Campus – University College Dublin 
International Design Competition which invited applications to realise the 
Entrance Precinct Masterplan and Centre for Creative Design project. The 
prospective centre was described as ‘a making and learning lab’, ‘the 
University’s home of design studios and laboratories and maker, project and 
fabrication spaces’ and as ‘a maker space that is a living learning lab – that will 
promote inter-disciplinary engagement’ with ‘creative workspaces… formal 
and informal spaces for gathering and engagement’42. After an objection to the 
original plans for the new centre, UCD recently received planning approval to 
proceed with the major development43. 

                                                                 
37 UCD Innovation Academy (2021) 
38 Nevin, D. (2019) Can you turn Techno-fear into Techno-joy? 
39 Nevin, D. (2013) Announcing UCD’s First Maker Challenge 
40 Nevin, D. (2018) UCD helps Malaysian students to find creative solutions at the global entrepreneurship 
community summit  
41 Irish Jobs.ie (2021) Creative Makers Faci l itator, UCD 
42 Malcolm Reading Consultants (2018) University College Dublin – Future Campus International Design 

Competition – Search Statement 
43 Seán McCárthaigh (2021) An Bord Pleanála ruling clears way for €48m UCD building inspired b y the Giant's 
Causeway 

Page 109

https://www.innovators.ie/
https://www.innovators.ie/
https://www.innovators.ie/can-you-turn-techno-fear-into-techno-joy/
https://www.innovators.ie/announcing-ucds-first-maker-challenge/
https://www.innovators.ie/malaysia-global-entrepreneurship-community-summit/
https://www.innovators.ie/malaysia-global-entrepreneurship-community-summit/
https://www.irishjobs.ie/Jobs/Creative-Makers-Facilitator-UCD-Fixed-8543088.aspx
https://competitions.malcolmreading.com/universitycollegedublin/assets/downloads/university-college-dublin-future-campus-search-statement.pdf
https://competitions.malcolmreading.com/universitycollegedublin/assets/downloads/university-college-dublin-future-campus-search-statement.pdf
https://www.thejournal.ie/ucd-new-tilting-towers-building-planning-permission-5402349-Apr2021/
https://www.thejournal.ie/ucd-new-tilting-towers-building-planning-permission-5402349-Apr2021/


15 | 
 

 
Name Open Labs TU Dublin 

Location Open Labs, TU Dublin Hothouse, Greenway Hub, Technological University 
Dublin, Grangegorman Lower, Dublin 7, D07 H6K8 

Website https://www.dit.ie/hothouse/openlabs/  

Description Open Labs is an initiative of TU Dublin which aims to lower the barrier for 
industry engagement and to make TU Dublin’s facilities and expertise available 
to companies44. It assists companies that are involved in or seeking to be 
involved in food innovation, product prototyping, virtual reality, augmented 
reality, internet of things, data analysis for business and artificial intelligence, 
innovative surface coatings and sustainable infrastructure.  

Operating Model Operates as part of TU Dublin CLG (Company Limited by Guarantee). Fees 
charged to companies. 

Service Provision Access to TU Dublin technologies, research community, resources and funding 
advice. Labs: Food Innovation, Design, Virtual Reality45. 

Note In future, TU Dublin plans to develop a ‘dedicated collaborative makerspace to 
support students taking the BSc in Design, Innovation & Technology ’ as part of 
the Department of Engineering (Blanchardstown Campus)46. 
 
In 2020, TU Dublin secured funding to coordinate an international research 
project which aims to enhance the spatial ability of children and to help close 
the gender gap in STEM47. As part of the project, researchers will develop 
methods to foster spatial ability among children through online learning, 
tactile activities, makerspace workshops and project-based learning42 48. 
 
As part of TU Dublin’s Centre for Media and Electronics Arts, the creative media 
team established a specialist research centre in tandem with a Future Makers 
Collective to develop and enhance collaboration with various stakeholders 
including: TU Dublin Department of Electronic Engineering, DLIADT, Trinity 
College Dublin, University of Lancaster, University of the Arts, London, RUA 
RED Arts Centre, Riverbank Arts Centre49.   

 
Name Science Gallery (Trinity College Dublin) 

Location Science Gallery, Trinity College Dublin, Pearse Street, Dublin 2, Ireland 

Website https://dublin.sciencegallery.com/  
Description Science Gallery Dublin is an initiative of Trinity College Dublin funded by the 

university, government, the Wellcome Trust and the private sector. It is a free 
entry space with a mission to ‘ignite creativity and discovery where science and 
art collide’50.  
 
It provides a mix of events, exhibitions and programmes that are ‘fuelled by 
the expertise of scientists, researchers, students, artists, designers, inventors, 
creative thinkers and entrepreneurs’ and that focus on ‘providing experiences 
that allow visitors to participate and facilitate social connections’. The Science 

                                                                 
44 DIT.ie / TU Dublin (2021) Open Labs by TU Dublin 
45 Open Labs (2021) Brochure 
46 TU Dublin (2020) Annual Institutional Quality Assurance Report 2020  
47 TU Dublin (2020)b TU Dublin Project Secures Over €4m in Horizon 2020 Funding  
48 Education Matters (2020) TU Dublin project secures €4m+ i n Horizon 2020 funding 
49 TU Dublin (2021) Centre for Media and Electronic Arts – Specialist Research Centre 
50 Science Gallery (2020) Science Gallery Dublin Annual Review 

Page 110

https://www.dit.ie/hothouse/openlabs/
https://dublin.sciencegallery.com/
https://www.dit.ie/hothouse/openlabs/whatisopenlabs/
https://www.dit.ie/hothouse/media/hothouse/documents/TU%20Dublin%20Hothouse%20Open%20Labs%20061020.pdf
https://www.qqi.ie/Downloads/TU%20Dublin%202020%20AIQR.pdf
https://www.tudublin.ie/research/news/tu-dublin-project-secures-over-4m-in-horizon-2020-funding.html
https://educationmatters.ie/tu-dublin-project-e4m-in-funding/
https://www.tudublin.ie/explore/our-campuses/tallaght/research--innovation/research-centres--groups/centre-for-media--electronic-arts/
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e284f5563e96b59f5f0e5d7/t/5ece51c35f055c2ee9606dec/1590579676990/Science-Gallery-Dublin-Annual-Report-2019-s.pdf


16 | 
 

Gallery also operates programmes such as Rapid Residencies which aims to 
‘nurture art-science collaboration and support artists, scientists, researchers, 
explorers and makers to develop and nurture their ideas’ and provides them 
with support, funding and mentorship from Science Gallery and Trinity College 
Dublin advisors51.    

Operating Model Non-profit, as part of Trinity College Dublin. Fees charged for space rental,  
events, tours etc. 

Service Provision Events, exhibitions, workshops, programmes.  

Note  
 

Name Trinity College Dublin – Makerspace (Department of Mechanical and 
Manufacturing Engineering)  

Location Department of Mechanical, Manufacturing & Biomedical Engineering, 
Parsons Building, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin 2, Ireland 

Website https://www.tcd.ie/mecheng/  
Description Internal makerspace and 3D printing facility for students within the 

Department of Mechanical, Manufacturing & Biomedical Engineering52.  

Operating Model Internal space for students, as part of Trinity College Dublin. 

Service Provision Workspace, 3D printing facility, prototype lab, hardware and software tools 
and technologies53 

Note Public information about this makerspace was limited at the time of writing. 

 

4.3 Local Authority Makerspaces 
Name Dublin City Council: Makerspaces 
Location - Ballyfermot Library, Ballyfermot Road, Dublin 10, D10 WV02 

- Coolock Library, Barryscourt Road, Dublin 17, D17 C950 
- Maker Van 

Website - Ballyfermot Library https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/libraries/using-
your-library/creative-studio 

- Coolock Library https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/libraries/find-
library/coolock-library  

- Maker Van 

Description - Ballyfermot library features creative studios, which are digital makerspaces 
that enable users to create recordings, podcasts, videos, digital stories etc. 
via a range of audio and visual recording equipment and software 54.  

- Coolock Library features a dedicated makerspace with various equipment 
including laser cutter, 3D printer, embroidery and sewing machines, 
animation facilities, Arduino and Raspberry Pi kits, Lego etc.55. It has also 
provided courses, events and workshops on making56. 

- Maker Van was repurposed from a mobile library van in order to bring 
making activities to festivals, schools and other outreach events. It 
previously featured at Dublin Maker Faire and Startup Week Dublin 201957.  

                                                                 
51 Science Gallery (2021) Announcing our new round of Rapid Residencies  
52 TCD (2020) News: Trinity Engineers use 3D printers at home in battle to tackle shortage of PPE 
53 TCD (2021) Module Description: Universal Design Innovation 
54 Ballyfermot Library (2021) Creative Studio 
55 Books Ireland (2021) Coolock l ibrary reopens  
56 Creative Ireland (2021) Coolock Library 
57 Twomey-Lee, V. (2021) Looking Back as Maker Advocate [Dublin Maker] 

Page 111

https://www.tcd.ie/mecheng/
https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/libraries/using-your-library/creative-studio
https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/libraries/using-your-library/creative-studio
https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/libraries/find-library/coolock-library
https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/libraries/find-library/coolock-library
https://dublin.sciencegallery.com/latest/announcing-our-new-round-of-rapid-residencies
https://www.tcd.ie/news_events/articles/trinity-engineers-use-3d-printers-at-home-in-battle-to-tackle-shortage-of-ppe/
https://www.tcd.ie/Engineering/assets/module-descriptors/js/MEU33B08.pdf
https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/libraries/using-your-library/creative-studio
https://booksirelandmagazine.com/coolock-library-re-opens/
https://www.creativeireland.gov.ie/en/event/coolock-makerspace-activation-programme/
http://www.dublinmaker.ie/looking-back-as-maker-advocate/


17 | 
 

Operating Model Non-profit, free to use, public libraries as part of Dublin City Council. Users 
need to have a valid public library card.  

Service Provision - Ballyfermot Library: Creative Studio (Digital Makerspace featuring: audio 
and visual recording equipment and software) 

- Coolock Library: Events and workshop. Tools and equipment: laser cutter, 
3D printer, embroidery and sewing machines, animation facilities, Arduino 
and Raspberry Pi kits, Lego  

- Maker Van: Demonstrations, workshops, events. Tools and equipment: 
laser cutter, 3D printer, computers, Lego.  

Note As part of Dublin City Libraries Strategy: Libraries Unlimited – A Strategic 
Direction for Dublin City Libraries 2019-2023, Focus Area 4 is ‘Making at the 
Library’. It highlights that makerspaces in public libraries ‘connect people to 
tools, technology and social connections that they might not otherwise have 
access to’ and allow ‘everyone to learn through direct experimentation and 
from each other while inspiring an interest in science, technology, design and 
life learning’58. The strategy committed to the development of a makerspace 
in Ballyfermot, Clondalkin Libraries and in a mobile van as well as hosting a 
number of digital maker residencies. 

 
Name Fingal County Council: Makerspaces (Planned, not currently in existence) 

Location - Blanchardstown Library, The Civic Centre, Blanchardstown Centre, Dublin 
15, D15 RY73 

- Digital Innovation / Makerspace, 2/4 Dublin Street, Balbriggan 
Website - Blanchardstown Library https://maps.fingalcoco.ie/community-and-

leisure/libraries/find-a-library-and-check-opening-hours/blanchardstown-
library/  

- (Balbriggan) Digital Innovation / Makerspace 
https://maps.fingalcoco.ie/community-and-leisure/libraries/  

Description Fingal County Council is seeking to develop the Fingal Community Maker 
Programme and is planning for the development of a community makerspace 
in Blanchardstown Library and to potentially identify a possible second 
makerspace. The programme seeks to ‘build and support creative 
communities, encourage innovation, provide equal access (remove cost 
barriers) and support informal education. The council very recently ran a 
tender process for the provision of services to support the delivery of 
Creator/Maker in Residence Programme and the development of 
makerspace(s) in Fingal Libraries59. 
 
In March 2021, Fingal County Council was awarded €25.4m under the Urban 
Regeneration Development Fund for the delivery of 8 projects associated with 
the rejuvenation of Balbriggan. One of the projects is the development of a 
digital innovation / makerspace at 2/4 Dublin Street, Balbriggan60. 

Operating Model - Blanchardstown Library: Non-profit, free to use, public library as part of 
Fingal County Council. 

- Digital Innovation / Makerspace: To be confirmed 
Service Provision To be confirmed 

Note   

                                                                 
58 Dublin City Council (2019) Libraries Unlimited – Focus Area 4 Making at the Library 
59 ETENDERS (2021) FCC/224/21 
60 Fingal Chamber (2021) Fingal County Council welcomes €25.4m in URDF funding for Balbriggan rejuvenation  

Page 112

https://maps.fingalcoco.ie/community-and-leisure/libraries/find-a-library-and-check-opening-hours/blanchardstown-library/
https://maps.fingalcoco.ie/community-and-leisure/libraries/find-a-library-and-check-opening-hours/blanchardstown-library/
https://maps.fingalcoco.ie/community-and-leisure/libraries/find-a-library-and-check-opening-hours/blanchardstown-library/
https://maps.fingalcoco.ie/community-and-leisure/libraries/
http://dublin.librariesunlimited.ie/focus/making-at-library
https://irl.eu-supply.com/ctm/Supplier/PublicPurchase/188365/0/0?returnUrl=ctm/Supplier/PublicTenders&b=ETENDERS_SIMPLE
https://www.fingalchamber.ie/news/details/council-welcomes-25-4m-in-urdf-funding-for-balbriggan-rejuvenation


18 | 
 

 
Name South Dublin County Council: Makerspace   

Location North Clondalkin Library, Liscarne Close, Rowlagh, Dublin 22 
Website https://www.sdcc.ie/en/services/sport-and-recreation/libraries/join-library-

login/find-a-library/north-clondalkin/north-clondalkin-library.html  

Description The library features a Creative Studio (Digital Makerspace featuring: audio and 
visual recording equipment and software). The purpose of the studio is to 
facilitate the creation of recordings, podcasts, videos digital stories and oral 
histories and also to engage young people and upskill them regarding digital 
media in order to help expand their career opportunities61.  

Operating Model Non-profit, public library as part of South Dublin County Council 

Service Provision Creative Studio (Digital Makerspace featuring: audio and visual recording 
equipment and software) 

Note North Clondalkin Library is a purpose-built modern library62. It was officially 
opened in June 2021. 

 

Name Dun Laoghaire Rathdown (dlr) LexIcon Lab 

Location dlr LexIcon, Haigh Terrace, Moran Park, Dún Laoghaire, Co. Dublin, A96 H283 
Website https://libraries.dlrcoco.ie/library-services/dlr-lexicon-lab  

Description dlr LexIcon Lab is a place for community members to work together to turn 
ideas into reality and to encourage each other to solve local challenges in 
innovative ways while having fun and learning63. 
 
The Lab features software programmes and electronics (Arduino), Raspberry 
Pi), coding (Python, Scratch) and 3D Design and printing (CAD) and also 
provides events such as maker meetup evenings64, workshops and 
programmes such as the dlr Teen Entrepreneur STEM Camp65. The camp is a 
collaborative initiative of dlr Libraries, Local Enterprise Office and Science 
Foundation Ireland, which seeks to inspire teenagers regarding STEM (Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Maths) subjects and encourage entrepreneurial skills 
development.   

Operating Model Non-profit, public library as part of Dun Laoghaire Rathdown County Council  

Service Provision Events, workshops, programmes. Software programmes and hardware 
equipment: 3D printer, Arduino and Raspberry Pi kits etc.  

Note  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                 
61 SDCC (2021) South Dublin County’s newest l ibrary opens in North Clondalkin  
62 SDCC (2021) North Clondalkin Library 
63 dlr Libraries (2021) dlr LexIcon Lab 
64 Meetup (2021) dlr LexIcon Library Maker Drop in evenings  
65 dlr Libraries (2021) Lab Projects  

Page 113

https://www.sdcc.ie/en/services/sport-and-recreation/libraries/join-library-login/find-a-library/north-clondalkin/north-clondalkin-library.html
https://www.sdcc.ie/en/services/sport-and-recreation/libraries/join-library-login/find-a-library/north-clondalkin/north-clondalkin-library.html
https://libraries.dlrcoco.ie/library-services/dlr-lexicon-lab
https://www.sdcc.ie/en/news/south-dublin-countys-newest-library-opens-in-north-clondalkin.html
https://www.sdcc.ie/en/services/sport-and-recreation/libraries/join-library-login/find-a-library/north-clondalkin/north-clondalkin-library.html
https://libraries.dlrcoco.ie/library-services/dlr-lexicon-lab
https://www.meetup.com/lexicon-maker/
https://libraries.dlrcoco.ie/library-services/dlr-lexicon-lab/lab-projects


19 | 
 

4.4 Other Makerspace / Maker Initiatives 
Name Dublin Maker 

Location Online (Gather Town Platform) / Pre COVID (Various parks / venues) 
Website http://www.dublinmaker.ie/  

Description Dublin Maker is a free to attend, family-friendly, community run event and 
‘show and tell’ experience featuring inventors and makers who showcase their 
creations in a carnival atmosphere. It is a showcase of ‘invention, creativity, 
resourcefulness and a celebration of [the] maker movement’ which typically 
occurs as a one day event in June / July, each year. Prior to the pandemic, it 
was hosted as a physical event at places such as Merrion Square, Dublin City.  
 
The mission of Dublin Maker is to ‘entertain, inform and connect the makers 
of Ireland, while inspiring the next generation of Ireland’s makers and 
inventors’66. In addition to the large scale annual event, it provides a range of 
initiatives to support the maker community including: podcasts, meetings, 
competitions, and blog articles.  

Operating Model Free to attend annual event. Community / volunteer-led. 

Service Provision Annual showcase event featuring workshops and exhibitions.  Various 
initiatives: podcasts, meetings, competitions, articles.  

Note In December 2020, Dublin Maker announced its role as a partner alongside 
DCU on the Erasmus+ programme: ASSESSMAKE2167. The programme seeks to 
support the adoption and use of makerspaces and making in schools and non-
formal education settings68.  
 
In May 2019, Dublin Maker announced a two year programme called MADE. 
The programme funded by Science Foundation Ireland and hosted by DCU 
‘seeks to knit together a currently fragmented regional maker scene’ through 
initiatives including: festivals, public maker space roll out, mobile makerspaces, 
corporate engagement, training and dissemination.69 The objective of MADE 
is: ‘the better embedding of maker culture thinking at all levels in Irish society 
and making it available to all’. As part of the project, a maker advocate was 
appointed and a partnership was established with Dublin City Public Libraries 
to develop public maker facilities in libraries.    

 
Name Science Hack Day Dublin 

Location TOG Hackerspace, 22 Blackpitts, Dublin 8, D08 P3K4 
Website http://sciencehackdaydublin.com/  

Description Science Hack Day Dublin is an annual hardware and software hackathon and 
event which has taken place since 2012. The event brings together scientists, 
engineers, computer scientists, designers, artists and makers to find solutions 
(hacks) to real life problems and questions during an intense period of 
collaboration70.  

Operating Model Free to attend annual event. Community / volunteer-led. 

Service Provision Event and competition 
Note  

                                                                 
66 Dublin Maker (2021) What is Dublin Maker 
67 ASSESSMAKE21 (2021) Home 
68 Dublin Maker (2020) Dublin Maker Partners in Erasmus+ programme ASSESSMAKE21  
69 Dublin Maker (2019) Dublin Maker’s MADE Programme 
70 Science Hack Day Dublin (2021) Science Hack Day Dublin 

Page 114

http://www.dublinmaker.ie/
http://sciencehackdaydublin.com/
http://www.dublinmaker.ie/
https://www.assessmake21.eu/
http://www.dublinmaker.ie/tag/made/
http://www.dublinmaker.ie/dublin-makers-made-programme/
http://sciencehackdaydublin.com/


20 | 
 

 
Name Men’s Sheds 

Location Various across Dublin 
Website https://menssheds.ie/shed_county/leinster/co-dublin/  

Description Men’s sheds is a community based project which focuses on bringing men 
together to learn, share skills and make friendships. Although part of the Irish 
Men’s Sheds Association, each shed is independent and self -autonomous. 
Typically sheds and their members engage in activities including woodwork, 
gardening, carpentry and community work. The sheds thus embody various 
characteristics of makerspaces and making activities, and can be categorised 
as a type of makerspace. There are currently 66 men’s sheds located across the 
county of Dublin71.  

Operating Model Volunteer-led 
Service Provision Workspace, events, workshops. Tools and equipment (typically: woodwork / 

carpentry) 

Note  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 
71 Men’s Sheds (2021) Leinster, Co. Dublin, Sheds  

Page 115

https://menssheds.ie/shed_county/leinster/co-dublin/
https://menssheds.ie/shed_county/leinster/co-dublin/


21 | 
 

Makerspace Provision in Dublin 

Research Report 

 

 

 

 

Page 116



 
 

 

  

Enterprise Hubs in 

 Dublin 
Research Report  

2022 

Page 117



1 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



2 | 
 

Enterprise Hubs in Dublin 

Research Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report completed by:  

Norman Thompson (Economic Development Researcher, Dublin City Council ) with assistance from 

Manna Thomas (Graduate, Dublin City Council).  

Report published: April 2022  

For further information about this report, please contact:  

Address:  Economic Development Office, Dublin City Council, 3 Palace Street, Dublin 2, D02 T277  
Phone:  01 222 5611  
Email:  economicdevelopment@dublincity.ie   
Website:  www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/  

Page 119

mailto:economicdevelopment@dublincity.ie
http://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/


3 | 
 

Contents 

1 Foreword .............................................................................................................................. 6 

2 Acknowledgements ............................................................................................................... 6 

3 Executive Summary ............................................................................................................... 7 

4 Introduction.......................................................................................................................... 9 

4.1 Research Report Goal & Objectives ............................................................................... 12 

4.2 Research Methodology ................................................................................................ 12 

5 Review & Analysis ............................................................................................................... 13 

5.1 Desktop Review – Overview of Enterprise Hubs in Dublin ............................................... 13 

5.1.1 Table Overview of Enterprise Hubs in Dublin .......................................................... 14 

5.1.1 Findings and Analysis ............................................................................................ 17 

5.1.1.1 Enterprise Hub Provider Configuration ............................................................... 17 

5.1.1.2 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas ........................................ 17 

5.1.1.3 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Local Authority Areas ................................ 19 

5.1.1.4 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin City .......................................................... 19 

5.1.1.5 Enterprise Hub Distribution and Dublin Unemployment Blackspots ..................... 20 

5.1.2 Comparison with Desktop Review 2019 ................................................................. 22 

5.2 Survey Review – Enterprise Hub Insights ....................................................................... 24 

5.2.1 Findings and Analysis (Configuration and Contribution) .......................................... 25 

5.2.1.1 Enterprise Hubs Status ...................................................................................... 25 

5.2.1.2 Enterprise Hubs Operational Basis ..................................................................... 26 

5.2.1.3 Enterprise Hubs Year of Establishment ............................................................... 26 

5.2.1.4 Sectors Catered for by Enterprise Hubs .............................................................. 26 

5.2.1.5 Unit Types Available.......................................................................................... 27 

5.2.1.6 Facilities Available............................................................................................. 27 

5.2.1.7 Development Services Available ........................................................................ 28 

5.2.1.8 Allocation of Space ........................................................................................... 29 

5.2.1.9 Total Area of Rental Space................................................................................. 29 

5.2.1.10 Stages of Tenant Enterprises .......................................................................... 29 

5.2.1.11 Maximum Length of Tenancy ......................................................................... 30 

5.2.1.12 Metrics to Measure Performance / Success .................................................... 30 

5.2.1.13 How Hubs Engage in Innovation / Learning ..................................................... 31 

5.2.1.14 Collaborative Arrangements / Initiatives with Other Organisations................... 32 

5.2.1.15 How Hubs Support Community Development ................................................. 33 

5.2.2 Findings and Analysis (COVID-19 Impact, Supports Needed and Plans)..................... 34 

Page 120



4 | 
 

5.2.2.1 Amount of Hub Employees ................................................................................ 34 

5.2.2.2 Amount of Tenant Enterprises Located in Hubs .................................................. 35 

5.2.2.3 Amount of People Located in Hubs .................................................................... 35 

5.2.2.4 Amount of People That can be Located in Hubs .................................................. 36 

5.2.2.5 How the COVID-19 Crisis Impacted Hubs ............................................................ 37 

5.2.2.6 How the COVID-19 Crisis Impacted Tenant Enterprises ....................................... 38 

5.2.2.7 Supports, Services, Facilities Provided by Hubs in Response to COVID-19 ............. 39 

5.2.2.8 Government / Other Supports Received by Hubs in Response to COVID-19 .......... 40 

5.2.2.9 Challenges for Hubs in the Recovery .................................................................. 41 

5.2.2.10 Interventions / Supports Needed to Assist Hubs.............................................. 42 

5.2.2.11 Interventions & Supports Needed to Assist Tenant Enterprises ........................ 43 

5.2.2.12 Plans Within the Next 3 Years ........................................................................ 43 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 121



5 | 
 

List of Tables 

Table 1 Indices & Dublin.............................................................................................................. 10 

Table 2 Overview of Enterprise Hubs in Dublin ............................................................................. 16 

Table 3 Dublin Post Code Areas without Enterprise Hubs .............................................................. 19 

Table 4 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Local Authority Areas .............................................. 19 

Table 5 Census 2016 Unemployment Blackspots - Dublin .............................................................. 20 

Table 6 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas & Blackspots .................................. 20 

Table 7 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Unemployment Blackspots ...................................... 21 

Table 8 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Local Authority Areas 2019 & 2021 Comparison........ 22 

 

List of Figures 

Figure 1 Enterprise Hub Provider Configuration ............................................................................ 17 

Figure 2 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas ..................................................... 18 

Figure 3 Company Start-up Location in Dublin Post Code Areas ..................................................... 18 

Figure 4 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin City ....................................................................... 19 

Figure 5 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas 2019-2021 Comparison ................. 23 

Figure 6 Enterprise Hubs Status ................................................................................................... 25 

Figure 7 Enterprise Hubs Operational Basis .................................................................................. 26 

Figure 8 Enterprise Hubs Year of Establishment ............................................................................ 26 

Figure 9 Sectors Catered for by Enterprise Hubs ........................................................................... 26 

Figure 10 Unit Types Available..................................................................................................... 27 

Figure 11 Facilities Available........................................................................................................ 27 

Figure 12 Development Services Available ................................................................................... 28 

Figure 13 Allocation of Space....................................................................................................... 29 

Figure 14 Total Area of Rental Space............................................................................................ 29 

Figure 15 Stages of Tenant Enterprises......................................................................................... 29 

Figure 16 Maximum Length of Tenancy........................................................................................ 30 

Figure 17 Metrics to Measure Performance / Success ................................................................... 30 

Figure 18 How Hubs Engage in Innovation / Learning.................................................................... 31 

Figure 19 Collaborative Arrangements / Initiatives with Other Organisations ................................. 32 

Figure 20 How Hubs Support Community Development ................................................................ 33 

Figure 21 Amount of Hub Employees ........................................................................................... 34 

Figure 22 Amount of Tenant Enterprises Located in Hubs.............................................................. 35 

Figure 23 Amount of People Located in Hubs ............................................................................... 35 

Figure 24 Amount of People That can be Located in Hubs ............................................................. 36 

Figure 25 How the COVID-19 Crisis Impacted Hubs ....................................................................... 37 

Figure 26 How the COVID-19 Crisis Impacted Tenant Enterprises................................................... 38 

Figure 27 Supports, Services, Facilities Provided by Hubs in Response to C-19 ................................ 39 

Figure 28 Government / Other Supports Received by Hubs in Response to C-19............................. 40 

Figure 29 Challenges for Hubs in the Recovery ............................................................................. 41 

Figure 30 Interventions / Supports Needed to Assist Hubs ............................................................ 42 

Figure 31 Interventions / Supports Needed to Assist Tenant Enterprises ........................................ 43 

Figure 32 Plans Within the Next 3 Years ....................................................................................... 43 

 

 

Page 122

file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911168
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911170
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911171
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911172
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911174
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911180
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911182
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911183
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911189
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911190
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911191
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911192
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911193
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911194
file://///dccdata/cande/home/50804/Enterprise%20Hubs%20in%20Dublin%20Research%20Report.docx%23_Toc81911197


6 | 
 

1 Foreword 
Enterprise hubs are dynamic, inspirational and engaging centres, spaces or places in which 

entrepreneurs, innovators and enterprises converge. They are where ideas are generated, 

connections are made, synergies and collaborations are initiated, projects are launched and ultimately 

where a multitude of enterprises are started and developed from. Dublin is home to an extensive and 

diverse array of enterprise hubs, for-profit and not-for-profit, public and private, well established and 

newly established, hubs that cater to specific types of enterprises and hubs that cater for all types.  

Each and every one of these enterprise hubs play a vital role in Dublin’s entrepreneurship and 

innovation ecosystem and towards enterprise and economic development. As well as providing core 

work space and various development supports, they act as focal points and conduits for different 

ecosystem actors to interact and overlap, all as part of supporting enterprises to start and develop  

across Dublin City and County. The hubs provide many different and important supports, facilities and 

networks to assist their members or tenant enterprises and entrepreneurs.  

On account of the COVID-19 pandemic and associated economic crisis, enterprise hubs in Dublin have 

been significantly impacted in many ways. Despite this, the vast majority have continued to operate 

and provide extensive and in many cases additional supports to assist their tenant enterprises. The 

dedication of these hubs to support their tenant enterprises during such uncertain and challenging 

times is therefore particularly admirable.  

As we now look towards the future and recovery from the crisis, this report provides an important 

overview of enterprise hub provision in Dublin currently and of the  impact the crisis has had on hubs 

and their tenant enterprises. Crucially, it also provides insights directly from enterprise hub 

representatives regarding the crisis, challenges faced and interventions and supports needed both for 

hubs and for tenant enterprises going forward. This report will thus be used to inform future planning 

and recovery responses by the four Dublin Local Authorities and other stakeholder organisations.  

The report was led and produced by Dublin City Council in collaboration with Dun Laoghaire 

Rathdown, Fingal, and South Dublin - County Councils as part of the Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan 

to 2024 (DREP)1. I therefore wish to thank the County Councils and Heads of Enterprise and Economic 

Development for their assistance along with the DREP Steering Committee and the Action Partners. 

 

Greg Swift 

Head of Enterprise and Economic Development – Dublin City Council 

 

2 Acknowledgements 
- Enterprise hub representatives. Sincere thanks to those that kindly participated in the survey 

- Dublin Local Authority - Heads of Enterprise / Heads of Enterprise and Economic Development: 

Greg Swift – Dublin City Council LEO       Oisin Geoghegan – Fingal County Council LEO 

Owen Laverty – DLR County Council LEO      Tom Rooney – South Dublin County Council LEO 

- DREP - Strategic Objective 1, Action 1.1 Action Partners: Dublin City Council / LEO Dublin City (Action 
Leader), Community Enterprise Association Ireland (CEAI), Enterprise Ireland, Dublin LEOs, Dublin 
Business Innovation Centre (DBIC), Guinness Enterprise Centre (GEC), Inner City Enterprise (ICE)   
                                                                 
1 Government of Ireland - Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 2024 

Page 123

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Fingal
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DLR
https://www.localenterprise.ie/SouthDublin
https://communityenterprise.ie/
https://www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/
https://www.dublinbic.ie/
https://www.dublinbic.ie/
https://www.gec.ie/
https://innercityenterprise.com/
https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/Publications/Publication-files/Dublin-Regional-Enterprise-Plan-to-2024.pdf


7 | 
 

3 Executive Summary 
This report provides an overview of enterprise hub provision in Dublin, generally and in the context of 

the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and associated crisis. It features desktop and survey reviews of 

enterprise hubs in Dublin. The report highlights the extensive array of hubs across Dublin, the 

significant contribution they make towards enterprise and economic development, the vital role they 

play in Dublin’s entrepreneurship and innovation ecosystem and the impact that the crisis has had on 

hubs and their tenant enterprises. Within the report, a broad working definition of hubs was used: 

Enterprise hubs are innovation, incubation, enterprise, co-work, research – spaces, centres or 

places, which in addition to work-space, provide development supports such as networks, 

advice, events, training and mentoring to tenant enterprises and entrepreneurs. Enterprise hubs 

provide an integrated and proactive level of entrepreneurship and innovation ecosystem 

support, beyond operating on a sole landlord basis.  

The report was produced as part of completing Strategic Objective 1, Action 1.1: Supporting Enterprise 
Hub Provision in Dublin – Review and Support the development of enterprise hub provision in Dublin - 
in the Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 2024. Below, key findings are summarised. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

136 
Enterprise 

Hubs 
…are operated by 72 Hub 

Providers across Dublin 

…in the four Dublin 
Local Authority    

areas:                

Distribution 

of Hubs 

10% 
Fingal 

 

66% 
Dublin City 

 

15% 

Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown 9% 

South Dublin 

40% 

60% 

Hubs 
…operate one hub, 

which accounts for… 

 
…operate multiple hubs 

which accounts for… 24% 

76% 

Hub 
Providers 

In Dublin City, 

the distribution 

of hubs is split… 

  
North 

City 
South 74% 

26% City 

The largest cluster of 

hubs is in… 

   Dublin 2 
where 47 hubs are located. 

Other clusters exist in… 

   
D1, D8, D15, Blanchardstown, D18,  
DL Town, Sandyford, D24, Tallaght  

Page 124

https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/Publications/Publication-files/Dublin-Regional-Enterprise-Plan-to-2024.pdf


8 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Supports 

needed 
for…   Hubs 

Top Impacts 
on Tenants 

42% of identified enterprise hub providers participated in the research survey 

Survey - Key Findings 

COVID-19 
Impact  
on hubs…  

The most common 

development services 

available in enterprise 

hubs are… 

 
 
 

Events & Workshops 

Networking 

Mentoring & Coaching 

 

# of Hub Employees 

Before C19 
180 

Currently 
158 

 

# of Enterprises 

Before C19 

930  

Currently 

666 

 

# of People 

Before C19 
3,649  

Currently 
2,165 

-12% 
-28% -41% 

…People can 
be located 

in hubs   

 

Without Social Distancing 

With Social Distancing 3,100 

5,400 

Top Impacts 
on Hubs 

The provision of 

enterprise hubs 

is increasing in 

Dublin 

- Decreased Revenue / Rents,  
- Less Networking, Engagement, Collaboration 
- Decreased Occupancy 

 
- Changed to Remote Working 
- Decreased Sales / Income 

 
 

-  

 Hub - Key Challenges

Occupancy

Rent / Debt 
/ Sales 

Recovery

Shift to 
Hybrid / 
Remote 

Working

Encouraging 
Tenants to 

Return

Financial 
Security / 
Viability

Upgrade -
Funding

Grants / 
Subsidised 

Rent

Clarity / 
Promotion

Training / 
Mentoring

Tenant 
Support

Tax / Rates 
Reduction

The majority of hub providers plan to 

expand or retain their enterprise hub 

operations within the next 3 years.  

 
Tenant 

Enterprises 

Page 125



9 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4 Introduction  
Dublin is a unique city and region, renowned as a hub for culture, heritage and also  for 

entrepreneurship and innovation. Nationally, it is the most popular location for company start-ups 

and is also the location of many of the world’s leading technology companies, including Google, 

Facebook, Twitter, Microsoft, HP and Dell2. It is also one of the youngest capital cities in the European 

Union and features a young, dynamic and highly educated workforce.   

Some 554,554 residents live within the city administrative area while almost 1.4 million residents live 

in the county3. Furthermore, each day, the population of the city and county increases significantly as 

thousands of people commute to work4 from the greater Dublin area or further afield5. In this regard, 

675,000 people representing over 30% of the national workforce, are employed within Dublin City and 

County6. 

On account of various dynamic and extensive attributes, Dublin ranks competitively alongside many 

other leading and global cities. Relevant global indices and benchmarks along with Dublin’s position 

are displayed in the table below.  

 

 

                                                                 
2 IDA Ireland - Dublin A Technology Hub 
3 Central Statistics Office - Census 2016 Small Area Population Statistics 
4 Central Statistics Office - Census of Population 2016, Profile 11 Employment, Occupations and Industry  
5 DRA & MERA Regional Planning Guidelines for the Greater Dublin Area 2010 -2022 
6 CSO Labour Force Survey Quarter 1 2021 

Page 126

https://www.idaireland.com/newsroom/publications/dublin-technology-map
https://cso.maps.arcgis.com/
https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-cp11eoi/cp11eoi/dtpn/#:~:text=Figure%204.1%20presents%20the%20daytime,increase%20of%2026%20per%20cent.
https://emra.ie/dubh/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Greater-Dublin-Area-Regional-Planning-Guidelines-2010-2022-Volume-I.pdf
https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-lfs/labourforcesurveyquarter12021/employment/


10 | 
 

Index Dimension / Criteria Dublin 
Position 

Global Power City Index 2020 Economy, R&D, Cultural Interaction, Liveability, 
Environment, Accessibility 

31/48 
Overall7 

Startup Genome Global Startup 
Ecosystem Report 2020 

Performance, Funding, Market Reach, Talent, 
Connectedness, Knowledge, Infrastructure 

36/408 

Global Startup Ecosystem Index 
2021 (Best Cities for Startups) 

Quantity, Quality, Business 51/10009 

Innovation Cities Index 2021  
(Top 100) 

Cultural Assets, Human Infrastructure and 
Networked Markets 

92/50010 

FDI European Cities and Regions 
of the Future 2020/21 

Economic Potential, Human Capital & Lifestyle, Cost 
Effectiveness, Connectivity, Business Friendliness 

3/25 C 
2/25 R11 

Global Financial Centres Index 29 
(2021) 

Business Environment, Human Capital, Reputation, 
Infrastructure, Financial Sector Development,  

48/11412 

Global Cities Talent 
Competitiveness Index 2020 

Enable, Attract, Grow, Retain, Global Knowledge 
Skills 

13/15513 

Smart City Index Structures & Technology: Health and Safety, 
Mobility, Activities, Opportunities and Governance 

34/10914 

European Digital Social 
Innovation Index 2021 

Skills, Infrastructure, Diversity and Inclusion, 
Collaboration, Funding, Civil Society. 

18/6015 

Table 1 Indices & Dublin 

Dublin is the most popular location for company start-ups in Ireland, with over 10,000 launched during 

202016. Nationally, this represents almost half of all start-ups launched during 2020. Underpinning the 

high and consistent level of new company start-ups in Dublin is the vibrant entrepreneurship and 

innovation ecosystem that exists. The ecosystem is made up of diverse networks, linkages and 

synergies between various actors including investors, policymakers, support organisations, education 

institutions, entrepreneurs, enterprises, infrastructure providers and importantly enterprise hubs.  

Enterprise hubs play a vital and central role in the ecosystem through the key supports they provide 

and through their multifaceted interaction with many of the other actors directly and indirectly 

through the enterprises, organisations and entrepreneurs that they support17 18 19. Enterprise hubs 

are innovation, incubation, enterprise, co-work, research – spaces, centres or places, which in addition 

to core work-space, provide development supports such as networks, advice, events, training and 

mentoring to tenant enterprises and entrepreneurs. They provide an integrated and proactive level of 

entrepreneurship and innovation ecosystem support, beyond operating on a sole landlord basis.  

                                                                 
7 Global Power City Index 2020 
8 Startup Genome Global Startup Ecosystem Report 2020 
9 StartupBlink 2021 Global Startup Ecosystem Index (Best Cities for Startups) 
10 Innovation Cities Index 2021: Top 100 World’s Most Innovative Cities  
11 FDI European Cities and Regions of the Future 2020/2021 
12 Global Financial Centres Index 29 (2021) 
13 Global Cities Talent Competitiveness Index 2020 (p. 97 in Global Talent Competitiveness Index 2020) 
14 Smart Cities Index 2020 
15 European Digital Social Innovation Index 2021  
16 CRIF Vision-Net - Business in Ireland 2021 Barometer Annual Review 
17 National Association of Community Enterprise Centres – Strategic Plan 2019-2021  
18 UBI – Global World Rankings of Business Incubators and Accelerators   
19 Mohsen Kahil & Ellen Olafsen (2010) [p. 69-84 in] The Innovation for Development Report 

Page 127

http://mori-m-foundation.or.jp/pdf/GPCI2020_summary.pdf
https://startupgenome.com/report/gser2020
https://www.startupblink.com/
https://www.innovation-cities.com/worlds-most-innovative-cities-2021-top-100/25477/
https://www.fdiintelligence.com/article/76767?saveConsentPreferences=success
https://www.longfinance.net/media/documents/GFCI_29_Full_Report_2021.03.17_v1.1.pdf
https://www.insead.edu/sites/default/files/assets/dept/globalindices/docs/GTCI-2020-report.pdf
https://www.imd.org/globalassets/wcc/docs/smart_city/smartcityindex_2020.pdf
https://www.nesta.org.uk/data-visualisation-and-interactive/european-digital-social-innovation-index/
https://www.vision-net.ie/news/business-in-ireland-annual-review-2021/
https://www.meathenterprise.ie/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/NACEC-Strategic-Plan-2019-2021-v13.pdf
https://ubi-global.com/product/world-rankings-of-business-incubators-and-accelerators-2019-2020/
https://www.palgrave.com/gp/book/9780230239661


11 | 
 

Dublin is home to an extensive, dynamic and steadily increasing array of such enterprise hubs. 

Accordingly, Dublin and some of its enterprise hubs are featured on relevant indices and rankings:  

 Dublin ranked 4th in the Cushman and Wakefield European Co-working hotspot index 201920 

 The Guinness Enterprise Centre (GEC) ranked 2nd in the World Top 5 Private Business Incubator 

category of the UBI Global World Rankings of Business Incubators and Accelerators 2019- 202018  

 Dogpatch Labs ranked 61/150 in Deskbookers Best Coworking Spaces in the World ranking21 

 Pine Hub was the best coworking space in Dublin in the 2019 Coworker Members Choice Awards22  

 The Tara Building features in the Ridestore list of 100 Best Coworking Spaces in Europe23 

The predecessor report to this24: Enterprise & Coworking Space Providers in Dublin, was produced in 

order to develop a better understanding of the impact, contribution and trends regardi ng enterprise 

centres, spaces or hubs. It highlighted how enterprise hubs were becoming more prevalent across 

Dublin and were contributing significantly to and enhancing Dublin’s entrepreneurship and innovation 

ecosystem. At that time in late 2019, the economy was performing exceptionally well with record or 

exceptionally high levels of employment, economic activity25 and new companies being formed16. 

Since then, the COVID 19 pandemic and associated economic crisis drastically changed the traditional 

context for daily living, working, learning and investing26. Societal and economic activity was 

profoundly restricted during the various lockdowns. The previous record or high levels of employment, 

economic activity and new company formations were significantly and adversely impacted27 16. In 

particular, the high levels of employment saw the most extreme change as unemployment in Dublin 

rose above national unemployment levels in quarter 2, 202028. 

Enterprise hubs in Dublin were also significantly impacted on account of the pandemic. They were 

faced with unprecedented challenges as they tried to support their tenant enterprises and manage 

their operations despite restrictions, new health and safety requirements and great overall 

uncertainty. Going forward into the recovery, it is important to review enterprise hub provision, to 

ascertain the impact of the crisis and to identify how hubs can be supported in future. This report thus 

seeks to compliment the previous report on hub provision in Dublin and to review hub provision in 

the context of the impact of the COVID 19 pandemic. It was produced as part of the completion of 

Strategic Objective 1, Action 1.1 in the Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 20241.   

Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan to 2024 

S.O.1: Strengthen resilience and the potential for scaling amongst Dublin SMEs and Start-Ups 

A 1.1: Supporting Enterprise Hub Provision in Dublin – Review and Support the development of 

enterprise hub provision in Dublin 

Action Leader Action Partners For completion by 

Dublin City Council / LEO Dublin City CEAI, EI, Dublin LEOs, DBIC, GEC, ICE Q1 2024 

Action Outcome: Research report completed - featuring review of enterprise hub provision in 

Dublin, impact of the crisis on hubs and the identification of potential supports needed by hubs 

                                                                 
20 Cushman & Wakefield European Coworking Hotspot Index 2019  
21 Deskbookers – Best 150 Coworking Spaces in the World 
22 Coworker – 2019 Coworker Members Choice Awards Winners: Europe  
23 Ridestore Magazine – 100 Best Coworking Spaces in Europe  
24 Enterprise & Co-Working Space Providers in Dublin – Research Report 
25 Dublin Economic Monitor – Issue 20 
26 Department of Finance – Economic Insights, Economic Statistics during Covid 19 
27 Dublin Economic Monitor – Resources (Unemployment, Employment, PMI) 
28 Dublin Economic Monitor – Issue 22 

Page 128

https://www.cushmanwakefield.com/en/united-kingdom/insights/european-coworking-hotspot-index
https://www.deskbookers.com/en-gb/p/top-150-coworking-spaces-in-the-world/
https://www.coworker.com/mag/members-choice-awards-2019-europe
https://www.ridestore.com/mag/best-coworking-spaces-europe/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Documents/Enterprise-Co-Working-Space-Providers-in-Dublin-Research-Report-December-2019-.pdf
https://dmonitor-prd.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/13215641/Dublin-Economic-Monitor-IS20-2020-February.pdf
https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/20b2f-economic-insights-economic-statistics-during-covid-19/
https://www.dublineconomy.ie/resources/
https://www.dublineconomy.ie/dublin-economic-monitor/latest-dublin-economic-monitor-records-collapse-in-economic-activity/


12 | 
 

4.1 Research Report Goal & Objectives 
Following on from the previous research report in 2019, the goal of this report is to review enterprise 

hub provision in Dublin, generally and within the context of the impact of the COVID 19 pandemic and 

associated economic crisis. 

The objectives are to: 

 Ascertain the impact of the crisis on enterprise hubs and tenant enterprises / entrepreneurs  

 Obtain insights and ideas for potential interventions / supports to assi st enterprise hubs and tenant 

enterprises and entrepreneurs, currently and in the recovery 

 Review and update the profile of enterprise hubs and the contribution they make to the ecosystem 

and to enterprise and economic development 

 Identify trends within the enterprise hub sector 

The report and findings will be used to inform future planning and recovery responses by the four 

Dublin Local Authorities, other stakeholder organisations and various policies, strategies and plans.  

 

4.2 Research Methodology 
In order to review and analyse enterprise hub provision, the following approach was used.  

 Desktop Review. A desktop review was initially conducted to identify relevant enterprise hubs within 

Dublin. The identification of enterprise hubs was made in the context of the predecessor report24 to 

this and in acknowledgement of the dynamic and overlapping nature of the different types of 

enterprise hubs. Therefore, within this report and the associated research, the term ‘enterprise hub’ 

is used as an overall term, inclusive of specialist types of hubs such as incubators, scaling, research 

and development, co-working and community and enterprise hubs29. A broad working definition of 

enterprise hubs was used within the research report: 

Enterprise hubs are innovation, incubation, enterprise, co-work, research – spaces, centres or places, 

which in addition to work-space, provide development supports such as networks, advice, events, 

training and mentoring to tenant enterprises and entrepreneurs. Enterprise hubs provide an 

integrated and proactive level of entrepreneurship and innovation ecosystem support, beyond 

operating on a sole landlord basis. 

Please note: The desktop review was conducted during quarters 2 and 3, 2021 when the hubs featured 

in this report were identified at that point in time and according to the above mentioned working 

definition. If a hub was not featured in this report or has changed since, please inform the Economic 

Development Office of Dublin City Council. 

 Survey. Following the desktop review, all of the identified hub providers were invited to participate in 

a survey that sought to elucidate insights, ideas and perspectives from hub representatives. The survey 

featured a series of questions that were aligned with the research objectives, stated above.  

The survey invitation was sent to relevant hub representatives by the Local Enterprise Offices in Dublin 

City Council, Dun Laoghaire Rathdown County Council, Fingal County Council and South Dublin County 

Council. The survey was conducted during quarter 3, 2021. The report and research were led by Dublin 

City Council in collaboration with Dun Laoghaire Rathdown, Fingal and South Dublin - County Councils. 

                                                                 
29 Atlantic Economic Corridor – AEC Hubs Classification 2020-2023 

Page 129

https://connectedhubs.ie/files/AECHubsClassificationSystem-Master.pdf


13 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 Review & Analysis 
The findings and analysis of both the desktop review and survey are  featured below. The desktop 

review provides an initial and detailed overview of enterprise hubs in Dublin along with subsequent 

analysis regarding the distribution and location of hubs across the city and county of Dublin. The 

survey review reveals the findings from the survey of enterprise hub representatives. It provides key 

insights directly from hub representatives along with the identification of overarching trends within 

the enterprise hubs sector in Dublin. 

 

5.1 Desktop Review – Overview of Enterprise Hubs in Dublin 
The desktop review was conducted during quarters 2 and 3, 2021 to identify relevant hubs in Dublin. 

The overview tables below feature the 136 enterprise hubs and 72 enterprise hub providers that were 

identified. The hubs are categorised according to the local authority administrative area that they are 

located in. The number of other hubs that hub providers manage / operate is also noted.  

Enterprise hubs were counted individually within each local authority area where they are located. 

However, enterprise hub providers were counted once according to their primary / headquarters 

location. Thus, a hub provider that operates multiple hubs in different local authority administrative 

areas is only counted once as per its primary / headquarters location. 

Page 130



 
 

5.1.1 Table Overview of Enterprise Hubs in Dublin 
Dublin City 

# 

Providers 

# 

Hubs  

 

Enterprise Hubs 

 

Location 

  # 

Providers 

# 

Hubs  

 

Enterprise Hubs 

 

Location 

  # 

Providers 

# 

Hubs 

 

Enterprise Hubs 

 

Location 
1 1 Bal lymun Whitehall  

Enterprise Centre  

D11   19 31 Guinness Enterprise Centre  D8   30 61 Number 9 D1 

2 2 Bank of Ireland Work Bench D2 20 32 Greendale Coworking Space  D5 31 62 Office Suites Club  D2 

  3 Bank of Ireland Work Bench D2 21 33 Huckletree D2 32 63 Premier Business Centres  D2 

  4 Bank of Ireland Work Bench D2 22 34 Iconic Offices  D8   64 Premier Business Centres  D1 

  5 Bank of Ireland Work Bench D2   35 Iconic Offices  D2 33 65 Regus  D7 

  6 Bank of Ireland Work Bench D2   36 Iconic Offices  D2   66 Regus  D2 

  7 Bank of Ireland Work Bench D9   37 Iconic Offices  D2   67 Regus  D2 

3 8 Block T  D8   38 Iconic Offices  D2   68 Regus  D2 

4 9 Broombridge Business Centre  D7   39 Iconic Offices  D2   69 Regus  D4  

5 10 Carmichael  D7   40 Iconic Offices  D2 34 70 Space @ Dublin BIC D8 

6 11 Cluster D2   41 Iconic Offices  D2 35 71 SPADE Enterprise Centre  D7 

7 12 CoCreate  D1   42 Iconic Offices  D2 36 72 Tangent D2 

  13 CoCreate  D2   43 Iconic Offices  D2 37 73 Ta lent Garden D11 

8 14 Cork St. Studios  D8   44 Iconic Offices  D2 38 74 tcube  D2 

9 15 DCU Alpha  D11   45 Iconic Offices  D2 39 75 Terenure Enterprise Centre  D6W 

10 16 DHDA (Digital Hub)  D8   46 Iconic Offices  D2 40 76 The Chocolate Factory D1 

11 17 Dogpatch Labs  D1   47 Iconic Offices  D2 41 77 The Tara Building D2 

12 18 DoSpace D2   48 Iconic Offices  D2 42 78 The Buckley Coworking  D1 

13 19 DoCentre  D8 23 49 Innovate Communities  D9 43 79 The Tower D2 

14 20 eDot Connect D2 24 50 Invent DCU  D9 44 80 TU Dubl in Hothouse D7 

15 21 Element 78 D2 25 51 Li ffey Trust (Enterprise) Centre  D1 45 81 Us&Co  D2 

  22 Element 78 D7 26 52 MART  D6 46 82 Wework  D2 

16 23 FlexHuddle  D6W   53 MART  D6   83 Wework  D1 

17 24 Fumbally Exchange  D8   54 MART  D6   84 Wework  D2 

18 25 Glandore D2   55 MART  D8   85 Wework  D2 

  26 Glandore D2   56 MART  D12   86 Wework  D2 

P
age 131

https://ballymunwhitehallenterprisecentre.wordpress.com/
https://ballymunwhitehallenterprisecentre.wordpress.com/
http://gec.ie/
http://number9.ie/
https://businessbanking.bankofireland.com/campaigns/bank-of-ireland-workbench/
https://www.cdcfe.ie/%20/%20https:/www.cdcfe.ie/greendale-c-working-spaces-open-pop-up-shop-in-powerscourt-centre/
https://www.officesuites.ie/
https://businessbanking.bankofireland.com/campaigns/bank-of-ireland-workbench/
https://www.huckletree.com/locations/dublin-d2
https://www.premierbusinesscentres.com/dublin-city
https://businessbanking.bankofireland.com/campaigns/bank-of-ireland-workbench/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://www.premierbusinesscentres.com/dublin-city
https://businessbanking.bankofireland.com/campaigns/bank-of-ireland-workbench/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://www.regus.ie/
https://businessbanking.bankofireland.com/campaigns/bank-of-ireland-workbench/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://www.regus.ie/
https://businessbanking.bankofireland.com/campaigns/bank-of-ireland-workbench/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://www.regus.ie/
https://www.blockt.ie/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://www.regus.ie/
http://www.broombridgebusinesscentre.ie/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://www.regus.ie/
https://www.carmichaelireland.ie/what-we-do/services/office-accommodation/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://www.spacedublinbic.ie/
http://cluster.ie/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
http://www.spade.ie/
http://www.cocreate.ie/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://www.tcd.ie/tangent/
http://www.cocreate.ie/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://dublin.talentgarden.org/
http://corkststudios.com/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
http://tcubedublin.com/tcube/index.html
https://www.dcualpha.ie/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
http://www.terenure-enterprise.ie/
https://www.thedigitalhub.com/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
http://www.chocolatefactory.ie/
http://dogpatchlabs.com/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://thetarabuilding.com/
https://dospace.io/
http://iconicoffices.ie/
https://www.thebuckleycoworking.com/
https://www.docentre.com/
https://www.innovatecommunities.ie/social-innovation-hub
http://thedesigntower.com/
https://www.edotconnect.org/
http://dcuinvent.ie/
https://www.dit.ie/hothouse/incubator/
https://www.element78.co/
https://www.liffeytrust.ie/
https://usandco.com/
https://www.element78.co/
http://www.mart.ie/
https://www.wework.com/l/dublin
https://flexhuddle.com/
http://www.mart.ie/
https://www.wework.com/l/dublin
http://www.fumballyexchange.com/locations/dublin/
http://www.mart.ie/
https://www.wework.com/l/dublin
https://glandore.co/
http://www.mart.ie/
https://www.wework.com/l/dublin
https://glandore.co/
http://www.mart.ie/
https://www.wework.com/l/dublin


15 | 
 

  27 Glandore D2   57 MART  D12 47 87 Workhub  D2 

  28 Glandore D2 27 58 NCI  

Bus iness Incubation Centre  

D1   88 Workhub  D2 

  29 Glandore D2 28 59 New Work Junction D6   89 Workhub  D2 

  30 Glandore D4 29 60 Norths ide Enterprise Centre  D17   90 Workhub  D6 

  

Tota l  # of Providers in Area 47   

  

Hub Clusters D2, D1, D8   

  

  

Tota l  # of Hubs in Area 90   

 
 

Fingal 

# 
Providers 

# 
Hubs  

 
Enterprise Hubs 

 
Location 

  # 
Providers 

# 
Hubs  

 
Enterprise Hubs 

 
Location 

  # 
Providers 

# 
Hubs 

 
Enterprise Hubs 

 
Location 

1 1 Balbriggan Enterprise And 
Tra ining Centre BEaT  

Co N   4 6 Drinan Enterprise Centre  Co N     11 Regus  D9 

  2 Bank of Ireland Workbench D15 5 7 LINC Blanchardstown IT D15   12 Regus  Co N 

2 3 Base Enterprise Centre  D15 6 8 M-Space Malahide  Co N 8 13 The View  Co N 

3 4 Creative Dock Co N 7 9 Pine Hub D15         

  5 DoCentre  Co N   10 Regus  D15         

  

Tota l  # of Providers in Area 8   
  

Hub Clusters D15, Blanchardstown   
  

 

Tota l  # of Hubs in Area 13    

 

 
South Dublin 

# 

Providers 

# 

Hubs  

 

Enterprise Hubs 

 

Location 

  # 

Providers 

# 

Hubs  

 

Enterprise Hubs 

 

Location 

  # 

Providers 

# 

Hubs 

 

Enterprise Hubs 

 

Location 
1 1 ACE Park  D22     6 The Edge  D24   6 11 Synergy Centre ITT  D24 

  2 ACE Enterprise Centre  D22   4 7 Partas  - 
Brookfield Enterprise Centre  

D24     12 Synergy Global  D24 

2 3 Arrow Serviced Offices  D24     8 Partas  -  
Ki l linarden Enterprise Centre  

D24           

3 4 Elephant Flexi Offices  D24     9 Premier Business Centre  D24           

P
age 132

https://glandore.co/
http://www.mart.ie/
https://www.workhub.ie/
https://glandore.co/
https://www.ncirl.ie/Campus/Services-to-Business/Business-Incubation-Centre
https://www.ncirl.ie/Campus/Services-to-Business/Business-Incubation-Centre
https://www.workhub.ie/
https://glandore.co/
https://newworkjunction.com/co-working-rathmines/
https://www.workhub.ie/
https://glandore.co/
https://nec.ie/
https://www.workhub.ie/
http://beat.ie/
http://beat.ie/
https://www.drinanenterprisecentre.ie/
https://www.regus.ie/
http://corporatepark.ie/bank-of-ireland-workbench
https://thelincblog.wordpress.com/
https://www.regus.ie/
http://baseenterprisecentre.ie/
https://mspace.ie/
https://theview.ie/
https://creative-dock.com/
https://pine-hub.com/
https://www.docentre.com/
https://www.regus.ie/
https://acepark.ie/
https://www.theedgedublin.com/
https://www.synergycentre.ie/facilities/synergy-centre/
https://acepark.ie/
file://///dccdata/cande/home/43123/partas.ie/brookfield-enterprise-centre
file://///dccdata/cande/home/43123/partas.ie/brookfield-enterprise-centre
https://www.synergycentre.ie/facilities/synergy-global/
https://arrowservicedoffices.ie/
https://www.partas.ie/killinarden-enterprise-park
https://www.partas.ie/killinarden-enterprise-park
https://elephant.ie/flexible-serviced-offices-dublin/
https://www.premierbusinesscentres.com/citywest


16 | 
 

  5 Partas  - 
Ta l laght Enterprise Centre  

D24   5 10 The Link Business Centre  D12           

  

Tota l  # of Providers in Area 6   
  

Hub Clusters D24, Ta l laght   
  

  

Tota l  # of Hubs in Area 12   

 

 
Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 

# 
Providers 

# 
Hubs  

 
Enterprise Hubs 

 
Location 

  # 
Providers 

# 
Hubs  

 
Enterprise Hubs 

 
Location 

  # 
Providers 

# 
Hubs 

 
Enterprise Hubs 

 
Location 

  1 Bank of Ireland Workbench D4   6 8 Nutgrove Community Enterprise  
Centre CLG (Nutgrove Enterprise 

Park)  

D14     15 Regus  D18 

1 2 COWORKINN  D18     9 Office Suites Club  Co     16 Regus  D18 

2 3 Harbour View Co   7 10 Office Pods  D4   9 17 Saint Kieran’s  

Enterprise Centre  

D18 

3 4 Head Office  Co     11 Office Pods  Co   10 18 The Media Cube IADT  Co 

4 5 Hour Ki tchen  D14     12 Office Pods  Co   11 19 The Glasshouses  Co 

  6 MART  Co     13 Office Pods  Co     20 The Glasshouses  Co 

5 7 NOVA UCD  D4   8 14 Dun Laoghaire  
Enterprise Centre  

Co     21 Workhub  D18 

  

Tota l  # of Providers in Area 11   Hub Clusters D18, Dun Laoghaire Town, Sandyford     
  Tota l  # of Hubs in Area 21  

 

Total # of Providers in Dublin 72   

Total # of Hubs in Dublin 136  

  

Table 2 Overview of Enterprise Hubs in Dublin 

 

P
age 133

https://www.partas.ie/tallaght-enterprise-centre
https://www.partas.ie/tallaght-enterprise-centre
https://www.linkbc.ie/
https://businessbanking.bankofireland.com/campaigns/bank-of-ireland-workbench/
https://www.nutgrove-enterprisepark.ie/
https://www.nutgrove-enterprisepark.ie/
https://www.nutgrove-enterprisepark.ie/
https://www.regus.ie/
http://www.coworkinn.com/
https://www.officesuites.ie/
https://www.regus.ie/
http://harbourview.ie/
https://officepods.ie/
https://www.sandyford.ie/business-directory/view/st-kierans-enterprise-centre
https://www.sandyford.ie/business-directory/view/st-kierans-enterprise-centre
https://www.headoffice.ie/#welcome-1-section
https://officepods.ie/
http://www.mediacube.ie/
http://hourkitchen.ie/
https://officepods.ie/
https://www.theglasshouses.ie/
http://www.mart.ie/
https://officepods.ie/
https://www.theglasshouses.ie/
http://www.ucd.ie/innovation/start-ups/
https://www.dlenterprisecentre.ie/
https://www.dlenterprisecentre.ie/
https://www.workhub.ie/


 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.1.1 Findings and Analysis 
As seen in the overview tables above, an extensive range of enterprise hubs are located across Dublin. 

Stemming from the overview and from further analysis, the following findings were deduced.  

5.1.1.1 Enterprise Hub Provider Configuration 

The vast majority (55 / 76%) of hub providers operate just one hub in Dublin. The single hubs that 

these hub providers operate account for 55 / 40% of the total hubs located throughout Dublin. 

Conversely, a minority of hub providers (17 / 24%) operate multiple hubs, which interestingly account 

for the majority (81 / 60%) of the total hubs identified. 

 

 

 

 

 

5.1.1.2 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas  

Hubs exist in almost all the Dublin post code areas. The largest cluster is in the Dublin 2 area where 47 

hubs (35%) are located. As revealed in Figure 2 below, D1, D8 and D24 also feature notable 

concentrations of hubs. Of the 18 hubs that are located in ‘CO’ or County Dublin area, 11 are located 

in the Dun Laoghaire Rathdown area while 7 are located in the Fingal / North County Dublin area. 

40% 

60% 

Hubs 

…operate one hub, which accounts for… 

-  

…operate multiple hubs which accounts for… 
24% 

76% 

Hub Providers 

Figure 1 Enterprise Hub Provider Configuration 

Page 134



18 | 
 

 

Figure 2 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas 

  

9

47

5

1

5

2

6

9

4

3

3

2

5

1

5

2

9

18

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

1

2

3

4

5

6

6W

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

20

22

24

CO

Amount of Hubs

P
o

st
 C

o
d

e 
A

re
a

s
Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas

Figure 3 Company Start-up Location in Dublin Post Code Areas (Source: CRIF Vision Net 2022)  

Page 135



 
 

In regard to Dublin 2 being the location of the largest cluster of hubs in Dublin, it is pertinent to note 

the correlation that exists with Dublin 2 also being the location of the largest cluster of company start-

ups in Dublin. CRIF Vision Net provided a heat-map (displayed above in Figure 3) in the Business in 

Ireland 2021 Barometer Annual Review16 which reveals the ‘hottest postcodes’ in Dublin for company 

start-ups during 2020. As highlighted in the review, Dublin 2 accounted for 800 company start-ups, D1 

for 509 and D4 for 338. The least popular postcode areas were D10 (11), D17 (12) and D20 (28).  

Despite the extensive distribution of hubs throughout Dublin, there are a number of post code areas 

that do not currently have hubs located in them. These areas are listed in the table below. There are 

many factors that influence the location of company start-ups, however, interestingly there is a 

correlation between the post code areas that do not have enterprise hubs and the post code areas 

that have lower (D3, D13, D16, D20) or the lowest (D10) levels of company start-ups.    

Dublin Post Code Areas without Enterprise Hubs 

Dublin Post Code Area Local Authority Area 

Dublin 3 Dublin City 
Dublin 10 Dublin City 

Dublin 13 Fingal 

Dublin 16 Dun Laoghaire Rathdown / South Dublin 
Dublin 20 Dublin City / South Dublin 

Table 3 Dublin Post Code Areas without Enterprise Hubs 

5.1.1.3 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Local Authority Areas  

Enterprise hubs are located right across Dublin. As highlighted in the summary table below, the 

distribution of hubs is spread across each of the Dublin local authori ty areas. Dublin City accounts for 

a high concentration and the majority of hubs with 90 hubs or 66% located in the city administrative 

area, followed by Dun Laoghaire Rathdown with 21 / 15%, Fingal with 13 / 10% and South Dublin with 

12 / 9%. In each local authority area, clusters of hubs also exist, such as Dublin 2 (D2), D1 and D8 in 

Dublin City; D18, Dun Laoghaire Town and Blackrock in Dun Laoghaire Rathdown; D15 / 

Blanchardstown in Fingal; and D24 / Tallaght in South Dublin. 

Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Local Authority Areas 

Dublin Local Authority Hubs # % Clusters 
 Dublin City Council 90 66 D2, D1, D8 

 Dun Laoghaire Rathdown County Council  21 15 D18, DL Town, Sandyford 
 Fingal County Council 13 10 D15, Blanchardstown 

 South Dublin County Council 12 9 D24, Tallaght 
Total 136 100  

Table 4 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Local Authority Areas 

5.1.1.4 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin City 

Dublin City accounts for the majority of hubs with 90 hubs 

or 66% located in the city administrative area. In regard to 

the 90 hubs, there is a significant difference between the 

distribution of hubs in the north city and the south city. As 

can be seen in Figure 4, the south city accounts for the vast 

majority with 67 / 74% of enterprise hubs, while the north 

city accounts for 23 / 26% of hubs. (Please note: Some 

Dublin post code areas extend into other local authority 

areas. Only hubs located in the Dublin City administrative 

area were included in this analysis)  Figure 4 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin City 

South 
City
74%

North 
City
26%

Page 136



20 | 
 

5.1.1.5 Enterprise Hub Distribution and Dublin Unemployment Blackspots 

As part of recent censuses, the CSO analysed and highlighted areas with unemployment levels that 

are much higher relative to the State overall level. The most current census data available is still the 

Census 2016. On account of the COVID-19 crisis, the Census 2021 was postponed to be conducted 

during 2022.   

According to the 2016 Census, unemployment blackspots are defined as electoral divisions (ED) with 

a labour force that exceeds 200 people and where the unemployment rate exceeded 27%. 79 such 

black spots were identified throughout Ireland in the last census. In the context of Dublin, 

unemployment blackspots exist in the Dublin City and South Dublin administrative areas. By 

administrative area or county, Dublin City ranked 3rd highest nationally with 7 unemployment 

blackspots. The average unemployment rate in the 7 Dublin City blackspots was 30.4% compared to 

the county / administrative area unemployment rate of 12.9%. South Dublin ranked 7th nationally with 

4 unemployment blackspots and an average unemployment rate of 29.4% in the blackspots compared 

to the county / administrative area unemployment rate of 13.3%30. The current unemployment 

blackspots in Dublin (Dublin City and South Dublin) are displayed in the table below. The wider post 

code areas in which the electoral divisions exist are also referenced. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 
30 CSO 2017 – Census 2016 Summary Results – Part 2 (p. 25) 
31 CSO 2017 – Census 2016 Summary Results – Part 2 Appendices (p. 117) 

Census 2016 Unemployment Blackspots - Dublin31 

Dublin City 
Electoral Division Unemployment 

Rate % 
P. Code Electoral Division Unemployment 

Rate % 
P. Code 

Priorswood B  36.2 D17 Finglas North A 28.9 D11 
Ballymun D  32.1 D11 Finglas South C 28.7 D11 

Ballymun B  31.8 D11 Ballymun C 28.0 D9 
Kilmore C  29.9 D17    

South Dublin 

Electoral Division Unemployment 
Rate % 

P. Code Electoral Division Unemployment 
Rate % 

P. Code 

Tallaght-
Killinardan 

32.9 D24 Tallaght-
Fettercairn 

28.0 D24 

Clondalkin-
Cappaghmore 

32.2 D22 Clondalkin-
Rowlagh 

27.2 D22 

Table 5 Census 2016 Unemployment Blackspots - Dublin 

Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas & Blackspots 

Dublin Post Code Area # of U. Blackspots # of Hubs 
D9 1 4 

D11 4 3 

D17 2 1 
D22 2 2 

D24 2 9 
Table 6 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas & Blackspots 

Page 137

https://www.cso.ie/en/media/csoie/newsevents/documents/census2016summaryresultspart2/Census_2016_Summary_Results_%E2%80%93_Part_2.pdf
https://www.cso.ie/en/media/csoie/newsevents/documents/census2016summaryresultspart2/Census_2016_Summary_Results_%E2%80%93_Part_2.pdf


21 | 
 

As highlighted in Table 6 above, various enterprise hubs do exist in the wider post code areas in which 

the designated blackspots exist. Nonetheless, upon a much closer inspection of the specific blackspot 

areas / electoral divisions32 as highlighted in Table 7 below, it is interesting to note that 4 of the 7 

areas designated as blackspots in Dublin City are areas where there are no enterprise hubs in them. 

Although a slight correlation exists in Dublin City between blackspots and areas without hubs, in South 

Dublin the correlation is not evident. Only 1 of the 4 areas designated as a blackspot does not have an 

enterprise hub located in it. Finally and conversely, it is also important to note that the Dublin post 

code areas which do not currently have a hub in them (D3, D10, D13, D16, D20), do not have 

unemployment blackspot areas located within them. 

Table 7 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Unemployment Blackspots 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 
32 Central Statistics Office – Census 2016 Small Area Population Statistics  

Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Unemployment Blackspots 

Dublin City 

Blackspot Area Hub Blackspot Area Hub 

Priorswood B 0 Finglas North A 0 
Ballymun D 0 Finglas South C 0 

Ballymun B Ballymun Whitehall 
Enterprise Centre 

Ballymun C Innovate Communities 
Social Innovation Hub 

Kilmore C Northside Enterprise 
Centre  

 

South Dublin 
Blackspot Area Hub Blackspot Area Hub 

Tallaght-Killinardan Partas (Kilinardan) Tallaght-Fettercairn - Partas (Brookfield 
Enterprise Centre) 

- Premier Business Centre 
- Synergy Global 

Clondalkin-
Cappaghmore 

0 Clondalkin-Rowlagh ACE Enterprise Centre 
Neilstown 

 

Page 138

https://cso.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=4d19cf7b1251408c99ccde18859ff739


22 | 
 

5.1.2 Comparison with Desktop Review 2019  

As this report follows on from the previous Enterprise & Co-Working Space Providers in Dublin – 

Research Report 2019, it is possible to conduct some comparisons with the findings from the desktop 

review in 2019. It is important to note some considerations when comparing the data. For instance, a 

number of additional hubs were identified as part of the 2021 desktop review which were in existence 

in 2019. Some of the changes revealed in the below comparisons are due to enhanced identification 

of hubs in the 2021 review. The comparisons thus, do not uniformly confirm growth in the hub sector.    

The distribution of hubs across the 4 Dublin local authority areas remained relatively similar between 

2019 and 2021. Dublin City saw a 5% reduction in its share of hubs which was redistributed to Dun 

Laoghaire Rathdown and South Dublin County Councils via the slight increases in the amount of hubs 

identified in their respective areas. Clusters in each of the areas remained relatively similar as well, 

however, D1 in Dublin City and D18 in Dun Laoghaire Rathdown were identified as new cluster areas 

in the 2021 review.  

 

Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Local Authority Areas 
2019 & 2021 Comparison 

 2019 2021 2019 2021 
Dublin Local Authority Hubs 

# 
% Hubs 

# 
% Clusters Clusters 

 Dublin City Council 81 71 90 66 D2, D8 D2, D1, D8 
 
 

 Dun Laoghaire Rathdown CC 14 12 21 15 DL Town, 
Sandyford 
Business Pk. 

D18, DL 
Town, 
Sandyford 

 Fingal County Council 11 10 13 10 D15, 
Blanchards-
town 

D15, 
Blanchards-
town 

 South Dublin County Council 8 7 12 9 D24, 
Tallaght 

D24, 
Tallaght 
 

Total 114 100 136 100  

Table 8 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Local Authority Areas 2019 & 2021 Comparison 

Page 139



23 | 
 

As can be seen in Figure 5 above, there are slight changes in the amount of hubs located in Dublin post 

code areas between 2019 and 2021. A total of 114 hubs were identified in 2019, whereas 136 hubs 

were identified in the 2021 review. By comparing the data, a number of findings are evident: 

 The four post code areas (D10, D13, D16, D20) that were identified as areas without an enterprise hub 

in 2019, remain as areas without an enterprise hub in 2021. 

 Dublin 2 continues to be a significant outlier with the greatest cluster of hubs, again by a large margin. 

 All of the previously identified clusters of hubs in post code areas are still evident as clusters. 

 The number of hubs in the majority of post code areas remained relatively similar, however, D2 and 

Co / County Dublin saw the greatest change as 5 additional hubs were  identified in the 2021 review.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

7

42

1

4

1

4

2

4

9

3

3

2

2

5

1

3

2

6

13

9

47

5

1

5

2

6

9

4

3

3

2

5

1

5

2

9

18

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

1

2

3

4

5

6

6W

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

20

22

24

CO

Amount of Hubs

D
u

b
li

n
 P

o
st

 C
o

d
e 

A
re

a
s

Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas 
2019 & 2021 Comparison 

2019 2021

Figure 5 Enterprise Hub Distribution in Dublin Post Code Areas 2019-2021 Comparison 

Page 140



24 | 
 

5.2 Survey Review – Enterprise Hub Insights 
The 72 enterprise hub providers identified in the desktop review were subsequently invited to 

participate in a survey that sought to elucidate their insights, ideas and perspectives regarding: 

 The impact of the COVID-19 crisis on their hub(s) and tenant enterprises and entrepreneurs 

 Potential interventions / supports needed currently and in the recovery 

 Their contribution to the ecosystem and to development 

 Trends and outlooks for the future  

42% of the identified hub providers participated in the survey which provides an effective research 

sample size. Of the hub providers that participated, 67% operate single hubs while 33% operate 

multiple hubs. This sample thus aligns relatively closely with the overall configuration of enterprise 

hubs noted above in the desktop review (76% of enterprise hubs in Dublin operate single hubs / 24% 

operate multiple hubs). The survey review features the anonymised and compiled findings from the 

responses of different enterprise hub representatives. It provides key insights along with the 

identification of overarching trends within the enterprise hubs sector of Dublin. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
…of the identified Enterprise Hub providers 
participated in the research survey 42% 

Page 141



25 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2.1 Findings and Analysis (Configuration and Contribution) 

5.2.1.1 Enterprise Hubs Status 

 

Figure 6 Enterprise Hubs Status 

Among respondents, the most common hub status is Charity followed by Company Limited by 

Guarantee, Private Company Limited by Shares and then Public Limited Company. Of those that 

selected Other, different respondents clarified that they operate as a government agency,  university 

incubator, limited partnership or as a social enterprise.  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Public Limited
Company

Private
Company
Limited by

Shares

Company
Limited by
Guarantee

Designated
Activity

Company

Charity Sole Trader Other (please
specify)

Enterprise Hubs Status 

Page 142



26 | 
 

5.2.1.2 Enterprise Hubs Operational Basis 

The majority of hubs operate on a Not For Profit 

basis. Nonetheless, the minority at 40% is still 

significant which indicates that both For Profit and 

Not For Profit bases are pursued by hubs in Dublin. 

 

 

5.2.1.3 Enterprise Hubs Year of Establishment 

 

Figure 8 Enterprise Hubs Year of Establishment 

The majority of hubs were established during the last 15 years (2006-2021). There has been 

particularly consistent growth of hubs between 2014-2021, during which, at least one hub was 

established each year. Of the respondents that operate multiple hubs, the majority established their 

additional hubs during the last 11 years (2010-2021). Overall, the findings displayed in Figure 8 indicate 

a trend of steadily increasing provision of enterprise hubs in Dublin.  

5.2.1.4 Sectors Catered for by Enterprise Hubs 

 

Figure 9 Sectors Catered for by Enterprise Hubs 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20
21

20
20

20
19

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
14

20
13

20
12

20
11

20
10

20
09

20
08

20
07

20
06

20
05

20
04

20
03

20
02

20
01

20
00

19
99

19
98

19
97

19
96

19
95

19
94

19
93

19
92

19
91

19
90

<
1

9
9

0

Enterprise Hubs Year of Establishment

Single Hubs Multiple Hubs

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Food Production

Design / Art / Craft / Fashion

Technology

Retail

Professional Services

Health / Medical Technology

Communications, Media & Entertainment Services

Manufacturing / Engineering

Tourism

Charity / Social Enterprise

Other (please specify)

Sectors Catered for by Enterprise Hubs  

For 
Profit
40%

Not For 
Profit
60%

Figure 7 Enterprise Hubs Operational Basis 

Page 143



27 | 
 

The most common sector that respondents’ hubs cater for is Technology followed by 

Communications, Media & Entertainment Services and then Professional Services. A significant 

proportion of hubs (57%) also cater for Charities / Social Enterprises. Of those that stated Other, some 

specified other sectors or examples of activities which they cater for including: cookery classes, food 

photography / videography and government. 

5.2.1.5 Unit Types Available 

 

Figure 10 Unit Types Available 

The majority of hubs provide Small Office and Medium Office Units as well as Hot Desk and Co-working 

space. Many also provide Large Office Units (43%). Although a minority, a significant proportion 

provide Workshop / Studio / Makerspace (30%) and or Single Food Production Units (27%). Some 

respondents selected Other and specified additional units types that they provide such as Training 

Units and Classrooms, Virtual Office Units and Meeting Rooms. 

5.2.1.6 Facilities Available 

 

Figure 11 Facilities Available 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Small Office (1-5 staff)

Medium Office (5-10 staff)

Large Office (10+ staff)

Retail Unit

Hot Desk

Co-working

Shared Food Production Space

Single Food Production Unit

Workshop / Studio / Makerspace

Warehouse

Other

Unit Types Available

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Events Space / Room

Communal Social Spaces
(i.e. shared kitchen / garden)

Meeting / Conference Rooms

Training Rooms

High Speed Broadband Connectivity

24/7 Access

Virtual Office / Post Box

Other

Facilities Available

Page 144



28 | 
 

Various facilities are available to tenant enterprises / entrepreneurs / individuals in respondents’ hubs. 

Interestingly, all of the facility types listed in Figure 11 are available in the majority of respondents’ 

hubs. Of those that selected Other, some respondents provided examples of  additional facilities 

available to tenants, such as Wet Lab and Broadcast Studio. 

5.2.1.7 Development Services Available 

 

Figure 12 Development Services Available 

Respondents’ hubs provide a diverse range of development services to tenant enterprises / 

entrepreneurs. The majority provide Event / Workshop Management and Hosting followed by 

Facilitated Peer to Peer Specific Support Events / Activities, Networking Supports and Mentoring / 

Coaching. Among those that selected Other, some provided examples of additional services offered 

such as Accounting and Payroll, Community Events, Collaborations and Projects.  

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Mentoring / Coaching

Incubation / Start-up / Accelerator Programmes

HR Supports

Training

Networking Supports
(supply chain, customer / PR opportunities etc.)

Funding / Investment (by the Hub)

Investor Access

Advisory Board

Discounts
(local amenities, training programmes, software)

Competitions / Awards

Event / Workshop Management & Hosting

Facilitated Peer to Peer Specific Support Events /
Activities

Other

Development Services Available

Page 145



29 | 
 

5.2.1.8 Allocation of Space 

The most common allocation of space in hubs 

is Private Office, followed by Co-work / Hot 

Desk Space. Some respondents also allocate 

space for Meeting / Conference Room(s) and 

/ or for Workshop / Studio / Makerspace. 

Very few allocate space for Warehouse use. 

A number of respondents selected Other and 

provided examples of alternative space 

allocations such as food production, green 

room / recording, community child care, 

entertainment. 

 

 

5.2.1.9 Total Area of Rental Space 

 

Figure 14 Total Area of Rental Space 

The majority of respondents (57%) have a total area of rental space between 0-1500m2 in their hubs. 

A relatively small proportion (17%) provide large amounts of rental space, the largest being 20,000m2. 

Interestingly, the rental space that this small proportion of hubs provide accounts for the majority 

(59%) of rental space available within the overall sample of respondents. 

5.2.1.10 Stages of Tenant Enterprises 

Within respondents’ hubs, the most common 

stage that tenant enterprises are at is 0-2 years 

trading, closely followed by 3-4 years trading. 

These two stages combined, represent a vast 

majority and highlight how enterprise hubs are 

primarily catering for and supporting 

enterprises during the initial and vital years and 

stages of development. 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Metre Squared - Size Range

Total Area of Rental Space

46%

31%

13%

9% 1%

Private Office

Co-work / Hot
Desk Space

Meeting /
Conference
Room(s)

Workshop / Studio
/ Makerspace

Warehouse

Figure 13 Allocation of Space 

6%

36%

34%

24%

Pre-Launch

0-2 Years Trading

3-4 Years Trading

5+ Years Trading

Figure 15 Stages of Tenant Enterprises 

Page 146



30 | 
 

5.2.1.11 Maximum Length of Tenancy 

The majority of respondents do not have a maximum length of 

tenancy in their hubs. Among those that do, the average max 

length is just over 3.5 years. Some respondents commented that 

the enforcement of the max length is dependent on various 

circumstances. One respondent explained that although their 

hub does not have a max length of tenancy, their pricing is 

structured in a way that encourages rapidly growing enterprises 

to move on. Some respondents have a formal tenant turnover 

policy that involves actively encouraging and assisting tenant 

enterprises to expand and move on. As part of their tenant 

turnover policies, some hubs: increase fees annually, conduct 

biannual target meetings with tenant enterprises, or outline an 

exit strategy with tenant enterprises when tenancies commence. 

5.2.1.12 Metrics to Measure Performance / Success 

 

Figure 17 Metrics to Measure Performance / Success 

The majority of hubs use the metrics: Number of Tenant Enterprises (i.e. individual businesses / 

organisations), Rent Paid and Number of Jobs Created to measure performance / success. Of those 

that selected Other, some respondents explained that they measure performance / success in regard 

to the 'demonstrable engagement with the university research and talent networks',  [tenant] 

'satisfaction feedback' and [tenant] 'participation, solidarity, support, inclusiveness, diversity'. One 

respondent explained that their hub measures performance / success in terms of  'the range of 

deliverable projects', both established and completed which typically focus on ‘addressing perennial 

problems such as housing, education, healthcare, generational, environmental / climate challenges 

that are developed via in hub collaborations and subsequently scale’.   

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Number of Tenant Enterprises

Rent Paid

Number of Jobs Created

Investment Raised by Tenant Enterprises

Events Hosted

Connections Made

Other

Metrics to Measure Performance / Success

Yes
37%

No
63%

Figure 16 Maximum Length of Tenancy 

Page 147



31 | 
 

5.2.1.13 How Hubs Engage in Innovation / Learning 

 

Figure 18 How Hubs Engage in Innovation / Learning 

All respondents engage in one or more innovation / learning activities regarding their hub operations 

/ management. Furthermore, the majority of respondents engage in all  four innovation / learning 

activity types simultaneously. The most common activity is Feedback from Clients, followed closely 

and jointly by Networking with Other Hubs and Industry Events / Conferences. Some respondents also 

selected Other and provided examples of how they engage in innovation / learning, such as via: 

'business coaching', 'entrepreneurial social enterprise approach', in-house / in-hub community 

brainstorming, collaborations and projects. One respondent explained how innovation / learning 

regarding their hub takes place in the context of their 'ultimate goal' and 'five point mandate - urban 

regeneration, community consolidation, creative collaboration, innovation in enterprise and 

experiential, experimental and explorative learning'. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Networking with
Other Hubs

Industry Events /
Conferences

Staff Training /
Development

Feedback from
Clients

Other

How Hubs Engage in Innovation / Learning 

Page 148



32 | 
 

5.2.1.14 Collaborative Arrangements / Initiatives with Other Organisations 

 

Figure 19 Collaborative Arrangements / Initiatives with Other Organisations 

Among 90% of respondents, their hubs have collaborative arrangements / initiatives with other 

organisations. The majority of respondents have collaborative arrangements / initiatives with Higher 

Education Institutions, Enterprise Ireland and / or Local Authorities. Many have collaborative 

arrangements / initiatives with Community Groups and / or Other Enterprise Hubs. 10% of 

respondents stated that they did not have collaborative arrangements / initiatives with other 

organisations, however, one of these respondents also stated they 'keep in touch with other 

independent co-working spaces' and another stated 'we would like [to]'. Of those that selected Other, 

some respondents provided further details such as 'Google for Startups', Social Enterprise 

Development / Support Organisations, Local Business Networks, Local Chamber of Commerce, 

'European funded project with 4 other countries'. 

 

0% 20% 40% 60%

Business Innovation Centres (BICs)

Community Groups

Development Associations / Local Development
Companies

Higher Education Institutions

Local Authorities

National Association of Community Enterprise Centres
(NACEC)

Networks or Organisations outside of Ireland

Other Enterprise Hubs

State Agency: Enterprise Ireland

State Agency: IDA

State Agency: Other

Other

Collaborative Arrangements / Initiatives with Other Organisations

Page 149



33 | 
 

5.2.1.15 How Hubs Support Community Development 

 

Figure 20 How Hubs Support Community Development 

Almost 90% of respondents support community development in one or more ways. The majority of 

hubs support community development through facilitating Community Events / Networking and 

providing Meeting Rooms for Community Use. Many hubs provide Entrepreneurship - Outreach / 

Training Programmes, Education at Second, Third or Adult Level, General - Outreach / Training / 

Upskilling Programmes and / or Support for Community Organisations. Of those that selected Other, 

one respondent noted that their hub supports community development through offering scholarships. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Entrepreneurship - Outreach / Training Programmes

General – 0utreach / Training / Upskilling Programmes

Facilitates Community Events / Networking

Meeting Rooms for Community Use

Community Crèche

After School Care

Education: Second, Third, Adult Level

Supports Community Organisations (Men’s Shed, Tidy 
Towns, Meals on Wheels etc.)

Other

How Hubs Support Community Development

Page 150



34 | 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2.2 Findings and Analysis (COVID-19 Impact, Supports Needed and Plans)  

5.2.2.1 Amount of Hub Employees 

 

Figure 21 Amount of Hub Employees 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

1

2

2.5

3

4

5

6

8

10

13

15

20

21

35

39

# of Hubs

# 
o

f 
Em

p
lo

ye
es

Amount of Hub Employees

# of Hubs
(Before C-19)

# of Hubs
(Currently)

Page 151



35 | 
 

The total number of people directly employed to manage / operate all of respondents ’ hubs combined 

is currently 158 compared to 180 before COVID-19 which represents a 12% decrease. The majority of 

hubs employ between 1-3 people, which was the case before COVID-19 and is still currently. However, 

this majority has increased from 55% of hubs before C-19 to 69% currently as more hubs now employ 

between 1-3 people. 

5.2.2.2 Amount of Tenant Enterprises Located in Hubs 

 

Among respondents, the vast majority (76%) saw a decrease in the number of tenant enterprises  

located in their hubs. Overall, the number of enterprises located in respondents’ hubs combined, 

decreased by 28%, from 930 to 666. In Figure 22, hubs have been grouped in relevant ranges regarding 

the number of enterprises located in them. The majority of hubs host between 0-20 / 21-40 

enterprises. This majority has increased since before C-19, as there are now more hubs hosting in this 

range. Conversely, the amount of hubs that hosted larger numbers of enterprises (41+) before C-19 

has decreased.  

5.2.2.3 Amount of People Located in Hubs 

                                                                                                                                                                           

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

0-20 21-40 41-60 61-80 81-100

# 
o

f 
H

u
b

s

# of Tenant Enterprises

Amount of Tenant Enterprises Located in Hubs

# Before C-19 # Currently

Figure 22 Amount of Tenant Enterprises Located in Hubs  

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

0-20 21-40 41-60 61-80 81-100 101-120 121-140 141-160 161-180 181-200 201+

# 
o

f 
H

u
b

s

# of People Located in Hubs 

Amount of People Located in Hubs

# of People Before C-19 # of People Currently

Figure 23 Amount of People Located in Hubs 

Page 152



36 | 
 

Across all respondents, the amount of people (i.e. tenant enterprise employees / individuals) located 

in their hubs decreased. The total amount of people located in all the respondents ’ hubs combined, 

decreased from 3,649 (Before C-19) to 2,165 (Currently) representing a 41% decrease. In Figure 23 

Amount of People Located in HubsFigure 23, hubs have been grouped in relevant ranges regarding 

the number of people located in them. Before COVID-19, a slight majority (52% / 13) of hubs hosted 

between 0-100 people. This majority has increased (72% / 18) as more hubs now host in this range. 

Conversely, the amount of hubs that hosted larger numbers of people (100+) before C-19 has 

decreased with some of these hubs seeing the most significant decreases of people located in them 

from approximately 500-250 and 800-300 respectively. 

5.2.2.4 Amount of People That can be Located in Hubs 

 

Within all of the respondents’ hubs combined, the max amount of people that can be located is almost 

5,400 without social distancing measures in place while just over 3,100 people can be located with 

social distancing measures in place. On account of social distancing measures, there is a 42% decrease 

in overall capacity among respondents’ hubs. The average % decrease in capacity among respondents 

is 33%.  

 

 

 

0

2000

4000

6000

With social distancing Without social distancing

Amount of People That Can be Located in Hubs 

Figure 24 Amount of People That can be Located in Hubs 

Page 153



37 | 
 

5.2.2.5 How the COVID-19 Crisis Impacted Hubs 

Respondents provided many important insights and examples of how the COVID-19 crisis has 

impacted their hubs. The insights and examples were summarised and grouped under relevant 

categories regarding their prevalence. As seen in Figure 25, the most common impact was Decreased 

Revenue / Rents. In relation to this impact, respondents stated 'tenants are unable to pay rent', 'we 

have lost significant income due to an almost 50% decrease in occupancy', 'all our room hire / training  

stopped, [which] again had a big impact on income'. Many respondents highlighted how their 

engagement with tenants was greatly reduced, as was general networking and collaboration. These 

respondents noted the 'lack of people in the building', the loss of 'community buzz... due to lack of 

members' and the 'reduction in peer to peer networking opportunities'. One respondent stated that 

'innovation is a contact sport' and detailed how past successful initiatives within their hub were borne 

out of multidisciplinary collaboration among members and stakeholders, which 'cannot happen... 

without physical presence in the hub'. Various respondents highlighted the sharp decrease in 

occupancy with many stating their occupancy levels had decreased by 50%. In addition, various 

respondents highlighted the forced closure or failure of tenant enterprises and their decreased hub 

capacity due to social distancing requirements. Some other pertinent and detailed insights from 

respondents are noted below: 'we have had minimal interest during lock down', 'companies have 

questioned the need for offices at all', 'the uncertainty for the last year and a half and Government 

health restrictions have kept start-ups away from our hub', 'I had to work more hours every day in 

order to keep my users and myself protected from COVID', 'Each lockdown we have had to re-invent 

ourselves again'. It is clear that hubs have been impacted significantly and also simultaneously as 

multiple challenges converged, such as costs increasing while demand, capacity and revenue 

decreased. Although the overall sentiment among respondents is certainly negative, it is important to 

note some positive impacts also shared, such as enhanced online services and automation within 

hubs, tenants in some hubs successfully pivoted and developed by catering to new trends, and a strong 

solidarity or hub community 'spirit' developed among members in some hubs.   

Figure 25 How the COVID-19 Crisis Impacted Hubs 

Page 154



38 | 
 

5.2.2.6 How the COVID-19 Crisis Impacted Tenant Enterprises 

The main ways that tenant enterprises and their employees within respondents’ hubs have been 

impacted by the COVID-19 crisis are summarised and grouped in Figure 26. The 2 most common 

impacts were Changed to Remote Working and Decreased Sales / Income. Various respondents 

explained that 'nearly all our client companies have the majority of their staff and teams working 

remotely', 'people worked from home unless they had to attend the office', 'they are nervous to come 

back but slowly some are now, as working from home full-time isn't for everyone'. Another 

respondent stated 'all have adapted to remote working, and this has encouraged the use of 

internationally based staff'. In regard to Decreased Sales / Income, respondents explained that '50% 

of tenants [were impacted] due to loss of trading income', 'smaller businesses lost a lot of clients and 

revenue' and 'about 30% of tenants saw all their income disappear over-night'. Some respondents also 

highlighted the failure or forced closure of tenants and stated 'some businesses s topped completely' 

and 'some businesses have ceased trading and left'. Other notable impacts include Difficulties with 

Online Business Development / Networking, Reduced Staff and Wellbeing / Stress. Some other insights 

provided by respondents are noted below: 'tenants want smaller offices, with increased use of 

meeting spaces as required', 'requirements to work from home has impacted business operations and 

required new structures and reporting processes'. Although the vast majority of impacts are negative, 

some respondents also stated positive or neutral impacts such as 'reduced office accommodation and 

overhead costs', 'initially work dried up for many of the businesses but this has returned', 'some 

companies have been particularly impacted, [while others have] been quite robust, in some cases 

growing rapidly through COVID-19', 'some ceased trading altogether during the pandemic, others 

stopped for the main part of it, while some pivoted and used it to their advantage'. One respondent 

explained that their hub implemented various supports for tenants which has meant 'we are all (pretty 

much 100%) still operating and still very much connected'.    

Figure 26 How the COVID-19 Crisis Impacted Tenant Enterprises 

Page 155



39 | 
 

5.2.2.7 Supports, Services, Facilities Provided by Hubs in Response to COVID-19 

The vast majority (89%) of hubs provided new or adapted supports, services, facilities in response to 

COVID-19. Examples are summarised in Figure 27 under the 3 relevant categories. Typically, the hubs 

provided a mixture of supports, services, facilities to assist their tenants. The most common measures 

or initiatives were sanitation related under facilities, virtual offerings under services and rent 

assistance under supports.  

Some pertinent comments are included below which highlight the significant efforts made by 

respondents and their hubs to support tenant enterprises: 'We provided flexibility on leases, rent 

reductions, rent holidays and the use of deposits to cover rents. We also enabled returning companies 

to have their rent suspended while government Level 4 or 5 restrictions were in place', 'We 

consistently provided tailored lists of supports (Govt. and others) to our tenants, increased our 

communications with them, extended credit and write-offs, adjusted our business operations rules 

around deliveries and collections and day to day operations of the centre', 'We transported our 

community to a virtual online community and helped some of our members adapt to a new hybrid 

working model by creating bespoke product offers. We also supported members to find the right 

connection to assist with digital transformation', 'We set up a new virtual office service for the 

businesses who were forced to leave us. We added more hot desks and another co-working space. 

We provided video call space for business members. We also upgraded all offices that became vacant 

during the pandemic. We added a new hot desk booking and payment page to our website'.  

Figure 27 Supports, Services, Facilities Provided by Hubs in Response to C-19 

Page 156



40 | 
 

5.2.2.8 Government / Other Supports Received by Hubs in Response to COVID-19 

Figure 28 Government / Other Supports Received by Hubs in Response to C-19 

The majority (70%) of respondents received / availed of government or other supports in response to 

COVID-19. Examples of supports received / availed of are highlighted in Figure 28. Common among 

respondents was funding or grants received from Enterprise Ireland, for example as part of the 

Powering the Regions33 initiative or Enterprise Centre funding. Various respondents availed of the 

Employment Wage Subsidy Scheme34 or a Rates Rebate / Suspension. Other notable examples of 

supports received include: Council - Outdoor Dining Support, Website Grant and participation in the 

ENFUSE35 programme. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 
33 Enterprise Ireland: Powering the Regions – Enterprise Centre Scheme 
34 Revenue: Employment Wage Subsidy Scheme (EWSS) 
35 Dublin City Council / LEO Dublin City: ENFUSE 

Page 157

https://www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/funding-supports/powering-the-regions-enterprise-centre-scheme/
https://www.revenue.ie/en/employing-people/ewss/index.aspx
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/News/Press-Releases/ENFUSE.html


41 | 
 

5.2.2.9 Challenges for Hubs in the Recovery 

 

Figure 29 Challenges for Hubs in the Recovery 

Various challenges were highlighted by respondents regarding their hubs and the economic recovery 

after COVID-19. Challenges were summarised and grouped as seen in Figure 29. The 3 most common 

challenges were Rent / Debt / Sales Recovery, Encouraging Tenants to Return and Occupancy. Many 

respondents also cited Financial Security / Viability and Shift to Hybrid / Remote / Flexible Working as 

key challenges.  

Some pertinent and more detailed insights from respondents include: 'we are planning an expansion 

and development project somewhat in the dark - what market are we building for', 'we are seeing a 

struggle in encouraging people to work in open plan which pre-COVID was one of our most popular 

products',  'engaging our online community as people are no longer as interested in online events', 

'continued economic growth so that more start-ups are created and can grow', 'will there be a long 

term shift towards home (or local hub) working rather than main office & what will employers 

obligations be in this regard?', 'keeping us all from burning out, keeping us all positive, healthy, safe, 

focussed and motivated'. 

 

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12%

Occupancy

Encouraging Tenants to Return

Rent / Debt / Sales Recovery

Shift to Hybrid / Remote / Flexible Working

Financial Security / Viability

Social Distancing / Restrictions

Health & Safety / Sanitation

Upgrade facilities

Uncertainty

Funding for Hub / Programmes

Demand (Co-work / Hot Desk)

Rental / Overhead Costs

Staffing

Promotion

Competition

Physical Networking / Events / Training

Maintaining / Generating Sense of Community

Motivation / Focus / Stress

Challenges for Hubs in the Recovery

Page 158



42 | 
 

5.2.2.10 Interventions / Supports Needed to Assist Hubs 

Respondents provided various examples of interventions / supports needed to assist their hubs 

currently and in the recovery. Common suggestions among respondents were: funding towards 

upgrading hubs and equipment, support and subsidies for tenant enterprises, clarity regarding 

reopening and promotion of hubs. Some respondents noted the need for support to adapt their hubs 

and hub infrastructure to the 'new working style' and to hybrid demands.  

Detailed examples of supports needed and relevant insights provided by respondents include: 

'subsidies for tenants' rent to encourage small businesses and social enterprises to rent again at an 

affordable rate', perhaps the councils / government departments could rent space for clients / 

employees, 'a scheme to incentivise city centre workers / employers to use 'peripheral' co-working 

space (M50 ring) would help avoid carmageddon when everyone returns to work in the CBD, in socially 

isolated private cars', 'clarity on back to work guidance... workplace distancing, air quality obligations 

etc. Clarity on any legal implications of restricting access or accommodating unvaccinated persons in 

the workplace', 'guidance and data... around future ways of working, remote working trends, demands 

etc', funding / support for 'a programme budget to offer training etc. to our business members... 

would also help us to attract more businesses', 'with the increased workload brought on by COVID, I 

would love support to employ someone and therefore free myself to work on business development'.   

Figure 30 Interventions / Supports Needed to Assist Hubs 

Page 159



43 | 
 

5.2.2.11 Interventions & Supports Needed to Assist Tenant Enterprises 

 

Figure 31 Interventions / Supports Needed to Assist Tenant Enterprises 

Examples of interventions / supports needed to assist tenant enterprises currently and in the recovery 

are summarised above. Common examples provided by respondents include: grants, training, tax / 

rates reduction, subsidised rent and mentoring. Detailed examples and insights include: 'continuance 

of rates deferrals not strictly related to income / lost income', 'they need in person networking, events 

and pitching to begin again', 'perhaps a tax rebate for monies spent on rented accommodation for 

work-from-home employees', 'by supporting the commercial viability of the co working space and our 

ability to provide cheap office space, you support the tenants'.  

5.2.2.12 Plans Within the Next 3 Years 

 

Figure 32 Plans Within the Next 3 Years 

The vast majority of respondents plan to either expand or retain their operations within the next 3 

years. A slight majority plan to expand New Locations / Premises, Facilities (within existing hubs) and 

Development Services (within existing hubs). Some respondents provided examples of their plans 

which include: 1,500 sqm. expansion, 'more hot-desking options and meeting room booking flexibility, 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Existing Location(s) /
Premises

New Location(s) /
Premises

Unit Types (Within
existing hubs)

Facilities (Within
existing hubs)

Development Services
(Within existing hubs)

Plans Within the Next 3 Years

Expand Retain Reduce

Page 160



44 | 
 

24.7 office access', 'We have secured funding to expand our business canteen space. We wish to 

provide new training and development opportunities for our business members. We are also 

considering developing a new recording studio for video, podcasts etc.', 'more emphasis on food 

production and local artisanship and more co-working spaces', 'Digital Suite, Extra Food Units', 'Expand 

some of our services in social innovation to local community'.   

Overall, the plans of respondents within the next 3 years signal  both commitment to and confidence 

in the enterprise hub sector into the future. This is especially important, considering the significant 

impact that COVID-19 has had on hubs and their tenant enterprises. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 161



45 | 
 

 

Page 162



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) & International Relat ions Report 12 April 2022 1 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 

The European Programme Support Office (EPSO)        2 

Digital Information Platform           2 

Advisory Committee            3 

Procurement of EU Expertise          3 

Funding Needs Analysis           4 

Project Participation Appraisal Process - Strategic Objective Alignment     4 

Communication Plan            4 

Irish Regions European Office (IREO)         5 

EU Committee of the Regions (CoR)         5 

  

International Relations           5 

Agreements with other International cities         5 

Collaboration between Dublin / Belfast / Manchester / Liverpool      5 

City of Helsinki visit to Dublin          6 

Appendix 1             7 

Appendix 2              8 

 

 

 

Economic Development & Enterprise  
Strategic Policy Committee 

 

European Programme Support Office 
(EPSO) & International Relations Report  

 
12 April 2022 

 

Page 163



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) & International Relat ions Report 12 April 2022 2 | P a g e  

The European Programme Support Office 

 

In 2021, Dublin City Council launched Dublin City Council's EU Programme Participation  

Strategy 2021 – 2027 and the European Programme Support Office (EPSO) was established. 

The work of the EPSO is to implement the Strategy and to provide support services for staff 

participating or intending to participate in EU partnership projects, including capacity building, 

training and development and supporting linkages with EU Programmes and funding  

opportunities within the EU Funding Programmes to assist the City Council realise its priorities  

and contribute to areas identified by the European Commission, such as the Regional  

Policy Priorities, the path to Europe’s Digital Decade and delivering the European Green Deal.  

The office will have a key co-ordination, liaison and communications role both internally among Dublin 

City Council staff and with external stakeholders including other local, regional an d European 

authorities and representatives. 

The economic development policy and statutory role of Local Authorities were factors in establishing 

the EPSO.  Dublin City Council has significant experience in leveraging funding under various EU 

Programmes, which has resulted in Dublin City Council having a positive reputation both nationally and 

internationally.  

Digital Information Platform 

 

EPSO have gathered important content which is now available on CitiDesk, the City Council’s new 

intranet staff information portal and includes: 

 Information about the role of the EPSO 

 Dublin City Council’s EU Programme Participation Strategy 2021 -2027 

 Advisory Committee:   Terms of Reference and Members 

 List of past and existing EU projects where the City Council  participated 

 EU Policies and Programme information (including links to relevant Commission and Programme 

webpages) 

 Up to date Master List of all Calls for Proposals including Summary about each Call 

 Upcoming Open Days 

 National Contact Points 

 Potential partner organisations 

Page 164



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) & International Relat ions Report 12 April 2022 3 | P a g e  

 Online digital Training Needs Survey to assess which areas will be a priority for EPSO to provide DCC 

staff with the support for improving their understanding of EU Programmes and EU Projects  

 Online digital Staff self-assessment tool to assist staff aspiring to participate in EU Projects will be a 

self-assessment questionnaire which could help them with identifying what preparation is needed 

for engaging in an EU Project 

 Online Template Concept Project Note 

City Councillors can view this information on www.dublincity.ie  Economic Development & Enterprise 

pages.  ESPO is in discussion with Corporate Services to establish a platform on Sharepoint on line to 

host the data to allow access to external stakeholders. 

 

Advisory Committee 

 

Dublin City Council has  consulted with a number of EU offices located in local authorities around the 

country and considered it best practice  to adopt a cross-departmental strategic approach to the 

development of projects and the sourcing of funding to achieve the objectives as set out in the Dublin 

City Council Corporate Plan 2020 – 2024.  This cross-departmental approach to working together and 

sharing information would ensure that all teams are aware of new and existing projects  and funding 

opportunities in the wider organisation with a view to increasing efficiency.   This approach will avoid 

duplication of work and ensure resources are leveraged most effectively;  allow for prioritisation of 

projects where funding is limited; facilitate projects feeding into each other and allow teams to be 

aware of the wider scope of work happening internally.  

 

An Advisory Committee has be established to guide the work of the EPSO.  The Committee members  

are the Executive Managers/Director of Services of the Departments and have held its first meeting  

and agreed Terms of Reference for the Committee.   This Committee will be supported and resourced  

by EPSO through direct collaboration with each of the heads of Departments.  

 

Procurement of EU expertise 

 

Participation in EU Projects will require technical knowledge and expertise as well as time to prepare 

applications and negotiate partnerships and resources.  EPSO are currently preparing a tender 

document to establish Framework of EU experts who can provide assistance to staff and when the 

Page 165

http://www.dublincity.ie/


EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) & International Relat ions Report 12 April 2022 4 | P a g e  

Framework is in place, they can contact the panellists.  The following categories of expertise will be 

sought: 

 

 Thematic Policy Expert – Successful panellists will be knowledgeable in fields relevant to the work 

of Dublin City Council and/or areas of competency of the European Union 

 Proposal Writer – Successful panellists will have proven skills and experience to write proposals for 

EU projects 

Funding Needs Analysis 

A Funding Needs Analysis will be carried out by the EPSO to identify key priority funding areas and  

potential sources of funding for each area and scope out project ideas / foundations of proposals and  

will create summary documents for each proposal.  Based on the analysis, a portfolio of project  

proposals can be developed with a variety of cross-departmental themes.   

 

EPSO will have a key role to play in targeting and securing external funds that will contribute to the  

delivery of this Plan and in achieving the objectives and will align all of its activities towards achieving  

the strategic objectives set out in the Corporate Plan 2020 – 2024.  

Project Participation Appraisal Process - Strategic Objective Alignment 

The Evaluation Process will be developed further, to examine participation in var ious EU Programme 

opportunities. This process will align with the objectives set out in Dublin City Council’s Corporate Plan 

2020 – 2024, Dublin City Council EU Programme Participation Strategy 2021 – 2027 and the EU Goals 

2021 – 2027.   

Communication Plan 
 
EPSO will drive effective communication, both internally as well as externally, with key stakeholders 

and will connect staff with the appropriate people to gain knowledge of project requirements, 

opportunities and internal procedures.   It will communicate its role and services and in particular will 

enhance its relationship with the Irish Regions European Office (IREO) to ensure the Council is fully 

informed on forthcoming calls and is engaged in EU policy issues and appropriate funding 

opportunities. 

 

Page 166



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) & International Relat ions Report 12 April 2022 5 | P a g e  

The Communication Plan will include engagement on appropriate social media and publishing 

newsletters to cover events and stories related to DCC staff’s involvement in EU Projects, how -to 

manuals from proposal writing to partner searches and building relations with key stakeholders and 

organisations. 

Irish Regions European Office (IREO) 

A meeting will take place in Dublin on 13 April with Head Irish Regions European Office and Coordinator, 

Irish Delegation to the Committee of the Regions in Brussels.  If the elected members would like to 

highlight any items of interest to them, the EPSO team would be happy to follow up with IREO. 

 

EU Committee of the Regions 
 

In addition, the President of the EU Committee of the Regions will be visiting Dublin on Wed 15 and 

Thurs 16 June 2022.  The Lord Mayor is a CoR Alternate Member and will host the President in the 

Mansion House. 

To find out more please go to the City Council’s website or contact the office via 

europeanoffice@dublincity.ie  

International Relations 

Agreements with other International Cities 

Dublin City Council has received a growing number of requests for Agreements with other International 

cities.   As there is no existing criteria in place for the evaluation of such requests, it is generally 

accepted that it would be very beneficial if a process could be established to manage these requests.  A 

DRAFT report will be brought to the next Protocol Committee meeting will be held on 28 April.   

Collaboration between Dublin / Belfast / Manchester / Liverpool  

 

On 30 April, Lord Mayor Gilliland travelled to Belfast with officials from the Climate Action Office and 

International Relations to meet with the Lord Mayor of Belfast, the Mayors of Greater Manchester and 

Liverpool City Region to discuss areas for further collaborations, specifically relating to decarbonising 

transport, heat and industry and how the cities could learn from each other going forward.  The 

delegation visited Net Zero Technology Centre in Belfast to see new hydrogen technologies and got an 

overview of plans to advance technology around green hydrogen and hear about developments in 

Page 167

https://www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-enterprise/strategic-policy-committee/eu-programme-participation-strategy-2021-2027/eu-programme-participation
mailto:europeanoffice@dublincity.ie


EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) & International Relat ions Report 12 April 2022 6 | P a g e  

green hydrogen from organisations active in this area.  A number of bi-lateral meetings relating to 

possible opportunities of collaboration between the cities on Tourism, Culture, Night Time Economy, 

Sports were attend by Senior Management from CRES Department. 

 

A Statement of Intent was signed by the Lord Mayors and the Mayors of Liverpool City Region and 

Greater Manchester to demonstrate the four cities commitment to working north, south, east and west 

to collaborate on practical approaches to accelerate the delivery of net zero and share best practices, 

knowledge and experience. 

City of Helsinki visit to Dublin 

A large delegation from the City of Helsinki, led by their Deputy Mayor Nasima Razmyar and members  

of their Education Committee will make a study visit to Dublin on 18 & 19 May.   The purpose of the  

visit is to understand the structure of the educational system in Ireland, the education providers and  

how the different stakeholders work together in the field of education.   Contact details were provided 

to the City of Helsinki for the City of Dublin Education Training Board, the National Council for 

Curriculum and Assessment, Educate Together etc to allow them to arrange relevant meetings and site 

visits. 

  

A meeting will take place in the Hugh Lane Gallery with the delegation where they will meet with  

Representatives from the Arts Office, Hugh Lane Gallery and Comhairle na nOg and they will share  

with the group the important role the City Council plays, working closely with neighbouring primary  

and secondary schools in the city, in supporting equity and equality through their operational  

cultural and arts programmes.  The Lord Mayor will host the delegation in the Mansion House on the 

day also.   

 

Anthony Flynn 
 

Executive Manager 
 

Culture Recreation & Economic Services Department 
 

 

 

 

Page 168



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) & International Relat ions Report 12 April 2022 7 | P a g e  

 

Appendix 1 (page 7) 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 (page 8) 

Page 169



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) & International Relat ions Report 12 April 2022   

 

EU Funding Programmes & Open Calls for    2020  

S. No.  Programme Name Opening Date Deadline 

2 Creative Europe  Fostering European Media Talents and Skills 10-Feb-22 04-May-22 

3 Creative Europe European Cooperation Projects 01-Feb-22 05-May-22 

4 Citizens, Equality, Rights and Values Programme 
(CERV) 

Call for proposals to protect and promote the rights of 
the child (CERV-2022-CHILD) 

15-Dec-21 18-May-22 

5 Citizens, Equality, Rights and Values Programme 
(CERV) 

Circulation of European literary works 14-Jan-22 31-May-22 

6 European Territorial Cooperation -  Interreg NWE 
 

NWE Programme 2021-2027 22-Mar-22 15-Jun-22 

7 Creative Europe Markets & Networking 22-Feb-22 20-Jun-22 

8 Creative Europe European Co-Development 18-May-22 08-Sep-22 

9  Erasmus+ Erasmus Charter for Higher Education 23-Feb-22 03-May-22 
10 Erasmus+ Framework service contract - expertise and support in 

areas of competence of DG EAC and including Education, 
Training, Youth, Sport, Culture, Research and Innovation 

31-Mar-22 01-June-22 

11 LIFE Technical Assistance preparation for SIPs and SNAPs 17-May-22 08-Sept-22 

12 LIFE Specific Operating Grant Agreements (SGA OG) for non-
profit making entities 

17-May-22 21-Sept-22 

13 LIFE Standard Action Projects (SAPs) for circular economy 
and quality of life, nature and biodiversity, climate 
change mitigation and adaptation sub-programmes 

17-May-22 04-Oct-22 

14 LIFE LIFE Action Grants for clean energy transition sub-
programme 

17-May-22 16-Nov-22 

     

 
 
 

Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 
 
    

P
age 170



EU Programme Support Office (EPSO) & International Relat ions Report 12 April 2022   

 

 

EU Events for Q2 2022 

S.No.  Title Date Time Location  
EU Programme 
  

1 
Planning and implementing new mobility and public 
space visions 

05-Apr-22 10:00-16:00 Virtual Urbact 

2 
Designing sustainable urban projects: learnings from 
the Integrated approach in UIA projects 

07-Apr-22 10:00-12:00 Virtual  UIA 

3 
SHARE YOUR VIEWS – HOW TO SUPPORT AND 
CONNECT POLICYMAKING IN THE EU AND MEMBER 
STATES WITH SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH  

9-10 Apr-22 13:30-16:30 Virtual  Horizon Europe  

4 Vila Nova de Gaia Transnational meeting n.3 11-13 Apr-22 TBC Portugal Urbact 

5 Final Meeting KAIRÓS 26-29 Apr-22 TBC Mula, Spain Urbact 

6 
EU cities acting for just transitions and climate 
adaptation 

27-28 Apr-22 TBC Seville, Spain  UIA 

7 Study visit Malbork 25-27 May-22 TBC Malbork, Poland Urbact 

8 The gendered landscape of European Cities 09-10 June-22 TBC Umeå, Sweden Urbact 

9 URBACT City Festival 2022 

14-16 June-22 
Registrations 
open until: 11th 
April  

 
Pantin / Greater 
Paris, France 

Urbact 

Appendix 2 

     

P
age 171

https://uia-initiative.eu/en/events/save-date-designing-sustainable-urban-projects-learnings-integrated-approach-uia-projects
https://uia-initiative.eu/en/events/save-date-designing-sustainable-urban-projects-learnings-integrated-approach-uia-projects
https://horizoneurope.ie/event/share-your-views-how-to-support-and-connect-policymaking-in-the-eu-and-member-states-with-scientific-research
https://horizoneurope.ie/event/share-your-views-how-to-support-and-connect-policymaking-in-the-eu-and-member-states-with-scientific-research
https://horizoneurope.ie/event/share-your-views-how-to-support-and-connect-policymaking-in-the-eu-and-member-states-with-scientific-research
https://urbact.eu/final-meeting-kair%C3%B3s
https://uia-initiative.eu/en/events/eu-cities-acting-just-transitions-and-climate-adaptation
https://uia-initiative.eu/en/events/eu-cities-acting-just-transitions-and-climate-adaptation
https://urbact.eu/urbact-city-festival-2022


 1 
 

 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

Monday 12th April 2022  
 

Agenda Item 10: Management Reports 
 

Contents 
 

1. Economic Development Office .................................................................................................  

2. Local Enterprise Office: Training, Mentoring & Financial Grants .................................................  

3. Dublin Place Brand - Dublin.ie ..................................................................................................  

4. Smart Dublin & Smart Districts .................................................................................................  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172



 2 
 

1. Economic Development Office  

 

 Progress Report 
Economic Development Office  

31st March 2022 

 

Event Date 

Economic Development & Enterprise  SPC 12th April 2022 

Dublin Tech Summit  15-16th June 2022 

Dublin Economic Monitor Launch Event  June 17th (TBC) 

 

 

Dublin Region Enterprise Plan (DREP) 2024 – Innovation & Transformation 

Dublin Region Enterprise Plan 2022 – 2024 is led by the Department of Enterprise Trade & 

Emplayment; with representation from the four Dublin Local Authorities (Dublin City, 

Fingal, South Dublin and Dún Laoghaire Rathdown), IDA, Enterprise Ireland, Fáilte Ireland, 

SEAI, Dublin Regional Skills Forum, IBEC, TU Dublin, Dublin Chambers of Commerce 

(Dublin, Fingal, South Dublin and Dún Laoghaire), with contributions from the private 

sector.  

Project Delivery Teams were established in June 2021 to inform development of next Dublin 

Region Enterprise Plan up to 2024. Five Strategic Objectives have been identified for the 

next DREP, with Dublin City Council Economic Development Office leading on Strategic 

Objective 4 on Transition to Low Carbon Economy; whilst contributing to all other 4 

objectives.  

Strategic Objective 1 (SMEs & Startups):   Lead: Oisín Geoghan, LEO Fingal  

Strategic Objective 2 (Placemaking):   Lead: Aidan Sweeney, IBEC 

Strategic Objective 3 (Employment/Enterprise Inclusion): Lead: Tom Cooney, TUD 

Strategic Objective 4 (Low Carbon Transition):  Lead: Mary MacSweeney, DCC 

Strategic Objective 5 (Skills & talent):   Lead: Enda McDonnell, EI 

 

Climate & 

Innovation 

Climate & 

Innovation 

Page 173



 3 
 

The Dublin Region Enterprise Plan 2022 – 2024 will be launched in by Tánaiste, Leo 

Varadkar on April 1st. Once launched, the EDO team will begin to action the strategic 

objectives with the assistance of the DREP co-ordinator.  

Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor (DBEC) - Placemaking & Clustering  

 

The work of the Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor is being supported by a process that will 

involve the production of a Development Plan, Vision and Strategy and an Action Plan.  This 

work has been actively progressed by KPMG in consultation with the Chief Executive’s, the 

Directors of Economic Development and the members of the Advisory Group who make up 

the governance arrangements for DBEC. The Development plan forms stage one of a three 

stage process. Stage two has commenced and will involve the development of a detailed 

strategy (consultation, SWOT, Vision Development and Strategy Development). Finally, 

Stage three will see the development of an Action Plan.  The secretariat of DBEC which was 

managed by Fingal will be handed over to Newry to support the next phase of development 

of the corridor. 

KPMG have been invited to present to the EDE SPC Members at their meeting on 12/04/22.  

 

 

Local Economic & Community Plan (LECP) – Innovation & Transformation 

The development of the 2022 – 2027 Local Economic & Community Plan is now underway.  

The required Advisory Group has been formed and hosted their innagural meeting on March 

15th. The LECP will be developed via a six stage process and regular updates will be 

provided.   

 

Economic Development & Enterprise Strategic Policy Committee: SPC - Strategic 

Approach 

The next meeting of the Economic Development and Enterprise SPC is scheduled for April 

12th. The agenda will be confirmed early next week.   

 

 

Dublin City – A Vision for Dublin – Promotion & Investment 

Dublin City Council has completed an initial process designed to define a new vision for 

Dublin in response to the challenges facing Dublin city in the post Covid world.  In 

recognition that many of the issues faced are complex and inter-related, the process captured 

the perspectives of a range of stakeholders.  This process provided an opportunity for bold 

thinking and the creation of a new framework to position Dublin as a dynamic and leading 

City of the Future – and to enhance its resilience and competitiveness.  This work was 

progressed along-side the work programme to review the current City Development Plan and 

to develop a new plan for 2022 – 2028. 

 

 

MODOS- LAPN Grant Funding - Climate & Innovation 

The DCC & DLRD collaborative MODOS programme was developed and commenced 

delivery in Spring 2022. Training commenced on March 2nd for course one and March 9th for 

course two. Following a detailed promotion and communication campaign, 37 participants 

Page 174



 4 
 

registered to attend both courses.  Networking events were held on 21st March and one to one 

mentoring will also be provided to assist the participating businesses in taking action to 

embed circularity in their business practices.  

 

Dublin Economic Monitor – Climate & Innovation  

The Dublin Economic Monitor is a publication for the 4 Dublin Local Authorities, led by 

Dublin City Council’s Economic Development Office. The Q1 2022 DEM was published on 
March 3rd with an accompanying talking heads video and the content was disseminated 

through the website, press release, the mailing list, social media and by post. 
Planning is underway for the Q2 DEM with the key theme being Urban Regeneration. The 
annual launch event for the DEM is proposed to take place on the morning of June 17 th with 

details being finalised for the format of the early morning launch.  
Further details: www.dublineconomy.ie  

 
 

Event Sponsorship: 

The Economic Development Office provide support to various events across the city 

throughout the year that are designed to make a positive impact on delivering on our key 

priorities and strategic objectives. A new application form has been created to streamline the 

process.    

 

Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 2022: Placemaking & Clusters 

Dublin City Social Enterprise Awards 2022, will continue to be managed by Inner City 

Enterprise and funded by Dublin City Council and the Department of Rural and Community 

Development (DRCD).  

A digital brochure of all previous Social Enterprise Award recipients has been developed in 

line with the requests of the SPC members. The 2022 awards programme was launched 

during Local Enterprise Week and is now open for applications.  

 

Dublin Tech Summit - Placemaking & Clusters 

The Economic Development Office, the Local Enterprise Office and the Dublin Place Brand 

team will support the Dublin Tech Summit in 2022 which takes place on June 15-16th at the 

RDS.   

 

Your Dublin Your Voice: Placemaking & Clusters  

The YDYV Q1 Survey 2022 was conducted in February in conjunction with the DCC Irish 
Development Officer, over 1200 responses were received. Work on the Q2 YDYV survey is 
well progressed focusing on the use of E-scooters in the city centre, this is scheduled to go 

live on April, 19th.  
Further details: www.dublincity.ie/business/economic-development-and-

enterprise/economic-development/your-dublin-your-voice 
 

 

Smart Tourism Data: Placemaking & Clusters  

Economic Development staff continue to support the work of the Smart Tourism Data 

working group.  Developments with Mastercard will explore smart tourism data.  Three will 

explore available mobile data. Economic Development supported the Smart Cities application 

Page 175

http://www.dublineconomy.ie/


 5 
 

submission for the European Smart Tourism Campaign 2022. Projects being developed 

include smart trail apps for the greater Dublin region.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



 6 
 

2. Local Enterprise Office: Training, Mentoring & Financial Grants  

 
COVID-19 / Coronavirus 
We are actively promoting in our monthly newsletter, the department of enterprise supports to 
SME’s. New grant schemes are advertised on this page. In this way, we ensure that entrepreneurs 
have the latest information on any scheme that maybe suitable to assist their business.  
https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/What-We-Do/Supports-for-SMEs/COVID-19-supports/ 
Communications 
A monthly newsletter is disseminated to all subscribers, with reminder mailings also taking place.  

 February Newsletter: Issued 1st February with reminder  

 March Newsletter: issued 1st March with reminder 

 April newsletter: issued 4th April 
 
In addition bespoke newsletters took place during February & March: (from 01/02/2022)  

 Survey re LEO clients service & communication preferences: issued 16th Feb 

 Dublin City Enterprise Awards 2022: Seeking applications pre closing date of 17th Feb. Mailed 
1st Feb  

 Digitalise Your Business to Drive Growth: Issued 28th Feb to drive footfall to opening event of 
Local Enterprise Week 2022. 300 attendees achieved. 

 Win 3 months free desk/space in Guinness Enterprise Space: issued 22nd Feb with reminder 
on 28th Feb 

 Local Enterprise Week ’22 newsletter: A series of newsletters developed and started issuing 
18th February i.e. a generic promotion of a the week and spotlight events 

 Bootcamp 1 day Intensive Start Your Own Business course 7th March 
 
Case Studies 
Case studies bring the companies and the supports and services provide by LEO to life: 
All case studies https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/ 
 
Posting a new case study monthly. Case studies completed and promoted in February & March ‘22: 
 

 Stillgarden Distillery https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Stillgarden-
Distillery.html  

 Tir Deli https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/T%C3%ADr%20Deli.html  

 Afore After https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Afore-After.html  
 Bounce Back Recycling https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Bounce-

Back-Recycling.html  

 Attention Atire https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Attention-
Attire.html  

 Sandia Dublin https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Sandia-Dublin.html 

 Kopper Kreation https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Kopper-
Kreation1.html 

 Shock of Grey https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Shock-of-Grey.html 
 The Inkspot https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/The-Inkspot-

Limited.html  
 
Focused on those who had been through the Modos programme, participants of Showcase and the 
recent Dublin City Enterprise Award winner 2022.  
Cross promotion in newsletter and social media.  
 
 
 

Page 177

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Stillgarden-Distillery.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Stillgarden-Distillery.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/T%C3%ADr%20Deli.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Afore-After.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Bounce-Back-Recycling.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Bounce-Back-Recycling.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Attention-Attire.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Attention-Attire.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Sandia-Dublin.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Kopper-Kreation1.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Kopper-Kreation1.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/Shock-of-Grey.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/The-Inkspot-Limited.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Case-Studies/The-Inkspot-Limited.html


 7 
 

First Stop Shop 
Calls during January - March 2022: 581. At 60% level of 2020. 46% general enquires, 33% grants, 
21% mentoring & training.  
 

 
 
Emails during January - March 2022: 972 
TOV: 14% Grants: 17% - 31% of emails Measure 1 supports 
Training: 24% Starting a business: 19% Mentoring: 25% - 68% Measure 2 supports 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 178



 8 
 

 
Mentoring – Online Delivery 
Annual Target 2021: 1,000 hours 
1st Jan – 31st March ‘22: 297 hours delivered out of a target of 1000. 3 hours @ 28.47% of target 6 
hours @ 15.33% of target 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 179



 9 
 

Brexit Mentoring: 9 Brexit specific mentor sessions requested Jan to March ’22 inclusive vs 16 for 
the same period in 2021. 
 

 
 

Mentor Meetings: continuing monthly. Opportunity to gain feedback from the panel and also to 
update them on emerging products. Meeting held 25th January ’22, 1st &, 29th March. April meeting 
planned for 26th. 
 
Business Advice Clinics 
Annual target 2022: 500 participants, 48 Clinics 
1st January – 31st March 2022: 158 participants, 12 clinics 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 180



 10 
 

Business Support Forms (Those who seek to consult with a business advisor pre loan application)  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Training – Online delivery 
Our training programme has been adapted to reflect business requirements as a result of COVID-19 
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Online-Bookings/   
Annual target 2022: 3,000 participants 

Page 181

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Online-Bookings/


 11 
 

1st January – 31st March 2022: Courses 43, participants 1712 during Q1. Participant numbers are 
down approximately 33% year on year and reverting to pre-pandemic levels as society reopens more 
fully post  COVID-19 lockdowns. 
 

 
 

 
 
Training courses completed February 2022: 

Date Course Title 

02/02/2022 Modos sustainability taster session 

02/02/2022 Business Advice Clinics 

02/02/2022 Lean for Micro Training Programme 

03/02/2022 Modos sustainability taster session 

03/02/2022 Online marketing & social media course evenings 

09/02/2022 How to maximise your website 

10/02/2022 Business Advice Clinics 

15/02/2022 Business Advice Clinics 

22/02/2022 SYOB 3 (Mid Week) 

23/02/2022 Web analytics 

23/02/2022 Business Advice Clinics 

Page 182



 12 
 

 
Training courses completed March 2022: 

Date Course Title 

01/03/2022 Learn about tax & vat 

03/03/2022 Preparing your grant application  

04/03/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

07/03/2022 Driving growth through digitisation 

07/03/2022 Demystifying market research with mintel 

07/03/2022 Benefits of mentoring 

08/03/2022 Trading Online Information Session 

09/03/2022 Enterprise & Innovation hubs:  The unique offering 

09/03/2022 Intellectual Property with the patents office 

09/03/2022 Funding & Scaling 

09/03/2022 Lean for micro information session 

09/03/2022 Instagram for business 

10/03/2022 Improve your networking skills 

10/03/2022 Skills & Talent Development for SME's 

10/03/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

10/03/2022 Social Enterprise: Impact & Measurement 

11/03/2022 SYOB LEW ' 22 BOOTCAMP 

15/03/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

24/03/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

26/03/2022 SYOB 4 (Sat and Wed) 

29/03/2022 SYOB 5 (Mid Week) 

30/03/2022 Content creating - content to make your brand stand out 
 
Booking for April 2022: 

Date Course Title 

01/04/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

05/04/2022 The Key to Cash Flow 

05/04/2022 Management & Development for SME's 

06/04/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

06/04/2022 Mind Your Mind in Business 

06/04/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

13/04/2022 Creating marketing videos on your smartphone 

14/04/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

20/04/2022 HR Protecting Your Business 

21/04/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

21/04/2022 
FREE Library Talks: Becoming a successful entrepreneur & 
idea generation 

27/04/2022 How to brief your web designer 

27/04/2022 HR Protecting Your Business 

28/04/2022 Trading Online Information Session 

28/04/2022 Business Advice Clinic 

28/04/2022 Prepare your grant applications 

28/04/2022 
FREE Library Talks: Market Research - identifying clients, 
competitors & resources 

Page 183



 13 
 

 
The training schedule has been devised until end of 2022. We will monitor on an ongoing basis to 
ensure relevance to business requirements and relevance and responsiveness to working with 
COVID-19 and other market factors e.g. post Brexit and war in Ukraine which is affecting supply & 
demand for goods and services. 
 
Start Your Own Business Course 
 
This programme provides individuals who are seeking to start their own business with the skills, 
management tools and expertise in making the right decisions, planning and organising effectively. It 
helps individuals gauge what will be required in order to keep their new venture running effective ly 
and efficiently.  
 
Annual Target: 13 courses & 221 participants 
1st January – 31st March 2022: 5 courses & 1 boot camp, 145 participants. Down 54 participants 
compared to 2021. 144 participants achieved for same period 2020. 
 

 

Page 184



 14 
 

 
 
Research undertaken by the LEO unit during ’22 confirms that 50% of entrepreneurs who undertake 
the SYOB programme go on to establish a business.  
 
Microfinance Ireland: Pre-loan applications 
 

 
 
Management Development Programmes 
 
Lean For Micro https://leanformicro.ie/  

Page 185

https://leanformicro.ie/


 15 
 

To enhance companies competitiveness and profitability. LEO’s in the Dublin region are working 
together to host information sessions about the programme. 23 Dublin City clients took part in the 
information workshop on 19th January. A lean course commenced on 3rd February. Another 
information session took place as part of Local Enterprise Week ’22. Next information session for the 
Dublin region 7h & 14th April.  
 
Green for Micro www.localenterprise.ie/Green 
The objective of the Green for Micro programme - a new initiative from the Local Enterprise Offices - 
is to help prepare small businesses for the low carbon, more resource efficient economy of the 
future. Explanatory video https://www.localenterprise.ie/Green/What-is-Green-for-Micro/What-is-
Green-For-Micro.html  
Applicants receive 2 days mentoring/green consultation, with a value of €1,800. This delivers an 
audit of their green credentials with next steps. This product is suitable for businesses in 
construction and the built environment, retail, manufacturing, textiles and fashion, food, electronics, 
plastics, and packaging. 
Applications received in 2022 to date = 7 
 
Food Starter 
Four half days delivered online. The programme is designed to help those with a food idea/early 
stage of starting a food business i.e. 0 -24 months, post participation in the Digital School of Food. 
The programme overviews the Irish Food sector to the specifics of starting a food production 
business.  
Last programme took place 28th Feb, 3rd, 21st & 23rd March ’22. 

https://www.localenterprise.ie/FoodSupports/Food-Starter-Programme/  
 
Food Academy 
https://www.localenterprise.ie/FoodSupports/Food-Academy-Programme/  
A training programme aimed at supporting and nurturing start-up food businesses. An initiative with 
Bord Bia and Supervalu, providing a consistent level of food marketing knowledge to new and early 
stage food business owners. Opened for application 21st March. Marketing activity will take place to 
drive applications until they close on 8th April. 
 
Events 
  
Local Enterprise Week ’22 took place 7th – 12th March 
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Local-Enterprise-Week-
2022.html 
LEO DC opened the event with a digitisation event. 300 attendees logged in. Minister English 
provided a pre-recorded message. 
National spotlight events took place online. Staff have been encouraged to access the recordings for 
training purposes. Events can be watched back here  
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Local-Enterprise-Week-
2022.html 

 
International Women’s Day in person event 9th March Radisson Blu Hotel Golden Lane: 300 
registered for this LEO Dublin regional event. Barden recruitment sponsored the event. The keynote 
speaker was Anne Sheehan General Manager. LEO Dublin City provided the panellists. Full details: 
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Start-or-Grow-your-Business/Networking/Women-in-
Business/Network-Events/8th-March-2022-International-Women-s-Day-Event.html 
 

  

Page 186

http://www.localenterprise.ie/Green
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Green/What-is-Green-for-Micro/What-is-Green-For-Micro.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/Green/What-is-Green-for-Micro/What-is-Green-For-Micro.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/FoodSupports/Food-Starter-Programme/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/FoodSupports/Food-Academy-Programme/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Local-Enterprise-Week-2022.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Local-Enterprise-Week-2022.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Local-Enterprise-Week-2022.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Events%20/Local-Enterprise-Week-2022.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Start-or-Grow-your-Business/Networking/Women-in-Business/Network-Events/8th-March-2022-International-Women-s-Day-Event.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Start-or-Grow-your-Business/Networking/Women-in-Business/Network-Events/8th-March-2022-International-Women-s-Day-Event.html


 16 
 

 

 

Measure 1 (Grants) Approvals Metrics: April 2022 (January – March Approvals) 

4.1 M1 Grants Approvals Metrics: April 2022 

 #No of M1 Grant Applications Jobs  Value of M1 Grants  

Type of Grant Annual 

Target 

Total # No 

Approved 

2022 

Variance Total Jobs 

Created 

Target - 

Grant 

Approvals 

Total Jobs 

Created - 

From Grant 

Approvals 

2022 

Annual 

Target  

Total Value 

M1  Grant 

Approved 

2022 

Variance 

Feasibility Grant 23 3 20 25 3 €172,500 €26,500 €146,000 

Priming 16 0 16 32 0 €240,000 €0 €240,000 

Business 

Expansion Grant 

21 3 18 53 8 €525,000 €85,000 €440,000 

TOTAL  60 6 54 110 11 €937,500 €111,500 €826,000 

 

 

 

 

P
age 187



 17 
 

 

List of M1 Grants approved in 2022 to date 

 
 
 
 
 

GMIS No. Company Name Grant Type first name Executive Official Amount Approved Jobs  

9034072 FixxFi Limited Feasibility Andrew Dunne €5,500 1 

9027538-02 Altra Health Ltd Feasibility Adam Keane €6,000 1 

9034073 BoardX Limited Feasibility David Malone €15,000 1 

9034091 Egrtech Limited Business Expansion Emre Uzun €25,000 2 

9025861 Native Events Ltd. Business Expansion Megan Best €35,000 4 

9027535-02 Transit9 Business Expansion Keith MacHale €25,000 2 

    Total: €111,500.00 11 

 

 

P
age 188



 18 
 

  

 

Trading Online Metrics 2022:  
Trading Online Vouchers:  

1st January 2022 – 30th March 2022 
Target 2022 Metrics 2022 

No. of Trading Online Vouchers Approved: 
 

200 73 

Value of Trading Online Vouchers Approved:  €155,014.00 

No. of TOV Drawdowns Received:  52 

No. of TOV Drawdowns Paid:  61 

Total Amount Paid:  €122,667.95 
 

 

 

 

           Summary of TAME Metrics: As at 29th March 2022: 

  No of 
TAME 

Approvals 

Value of 
Approvals  

Payment 
made to 
date 

Decommital 
to date 

Balance to 
Drawdown 

Budget 
2022 

Fund 
available 
for new 
TAME 

Approval 
TAME Grants C/F 
from 2021  

5 8,454 1,020 0 €7,434 16,020.11  

TAME Grants 
Approved 2022 

4 

€8,603 €0 0 €8,603 45,000.00  

 Totals: 9 €17,057 €1,020 0 €16,037 €61,020.11 €44,983.11 

P
age 189



 19 
 

3. Dublin Place Brand - Dublin.ie 

  
Place Brand Strategy Development 

 

Work continued through February and March on the development of a place brand strategy 
with OCO Global. Phase one of included researching perceptions of Dublin from both an 

international audience and from Irish people and organisations based outside the capital. 
Additionally, Dublin was benchmarked against 20 other cities across a range of metrics and 
criteria. The next phases will include a review of the Dublin Place Brand’s creative assets, 

creating a stakeholder steering group to oversee the brand and the development of new 
communications plan. 

  
Campaigns & Events  
 

The Dublin Scholarship 

The Dublin Place Brand, in partnership with Education in Ireland, and Dublin’s Higher 

Education Institutions, are running an international digital marketing campaign targeted at 
post graduate students in France, Italy, Germany, and Spain. Students can enter to win a full 
postgrad scholarship at a Dublin HEI of their choosing plus a €10,000 stipend. The campaign 

will run from mid-April for several weeks. The digital ads will link to a page on Dublin.ie 
that will host the entry form and provide further information on studying in Dublin. 

 

Brigit 2022 – Dublin City Celebrating Women 

Over 30 individual events were featured and promoted on Dublin.ie in the lead up and on the 
day itself. 

Support for Ukraine 

The Place Brand’s support of Ukraine has included changing the colours of the brand to 
match the national flag on Dublin.ie, across our social media and JCDecaux digital 

advertising panels. 
 

   
 

 

 

 

 

Page 190



 20 
 

Local Enterprise Week 2022 
The Dublin Place Brand provided social media support leading up to and throughout Local 
Enterprise Week. 

 

Dublin.ie Website 

 
Design and development updates 

Following a delay, new performance and user experience upgrades for Dublin.ie were rolled 

out in March. 

 
Content: 

 Story Updates: An audit of the almost 300 site stories took place in December. This 
was done to ascertain how many need updates or removal. A writer has been engaged 

to update almost 150 site stories in Q2. 
 

 Enterprise Ireland content series: Work is ongoing with Enterprise Ireland to 
produce a content series over the next few months.  

 

Stakeholder Engagement  
 

 Education in Ireland / HEIs: The Dublin Scholarship campaign has provided an 
opportunity to further develop relationships with Education in Ireland and Dublin’s 
leading HEIs including UCD, Griffith College and TCD. 

  

 DCU and Failte Ireland: working on a collaborative project with Innovation 
students at DCU to come up with new and innovative ideas to encourage people from 
Ireland and Northern Ireland who live outside the capital to visit Dublin and spend at 

least one overnight.  
 

Page 191



 21 
 

 Regional Enterprise Plan: Presented the Dublin Place Brand to the Dublin Regional 
Enterprise Plan Programme Manager. We are working to incorporate the brand into 

the Regional Enterprise Plan and reach a wider number of Dublin’s key stakeholders. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 192



 22 
 

 

4. Smart Dublin & Smart Districts 

 

 

 

Strategic Policy Committee 

 

Economic Development & Enterprise  

April 2022 

 

Agenda Item: Smart City Update  

Smart Dublin is an initiative of the four Dublin Local Authorities to engage with smart 

technology providers, researchers and citizens to solve challenges and improve city life.  It 
aims to position Dublin as a world leader in the development of new urban solutions, using 

open data, and with the city region as a test bed.  

DCC Smart City Unit under the Smart Dublin umbrella has developed a world-leading Smart 

City programme.  It drives forward the use of new technologies to improve our city’s 
operations; improving efficiencies, reducing costs, driving economic growth and future 

proofing our communities.  

Smart Districts are strategically selected locations where targeted smart city projects can be 
fast-tracked to measure impact and potential scalability. Each Smart District is unique, with 
bespoke programmes developed to meet the specific needs of the district residents and also 
provide growing businesses with a wider variety of testbed locations. 

Dublin City Council supports three out of the five Smart Dublin districts; Smart Docklands, 
Smart DCU and our latest smart district Smart D8, a smart district focusing on Health and 
Well Being. It has also recently established a Smart Tourism Programme in partnership with 
Failte Ireland. 

 

 

 

Page 193



 23 
 

For more information on Smart Dublin Project, see the Public Trello Board: 

https://trello.com/b/188O9azF/smart-dublin-project-board 

 

1. Smart Dublin’s Regional programme highlights for the 

year of 2022  

Despite many challenges in 2021, Smart Dublin has experienced a 

number of successes across the Dublin Region. A review has been 

put together showing the main programme highlights for the 

year. The document captures the variety of projects across our 

four local authorities, five districts, and Smart Tourism 

programme. The Smart Dublin team would like to thank 

everybody who contributed to the programme during 2021 and 

look forward to continue working on the activities outlined in the 

report and to start on new initiatives planned for 2022.  

 

The Document is available to download at this link: Smart Dubl in 

Programme Highlights 2021.   

 

2. Dublin City Council launches new Telecoms Unit.  

 

On the 23rd of February 2022, Dublin City Council (DCC) launched a new Telecoms Unit to accelerate  

the rollout of digital infrastructure and 5G deployments across the city. The Unit will offer a ‘one 

stop shop’ service to support the delivery of telecoms both underground (ducting) and over ground 

(supporting mobile and wireless services). With 5G services expected to facili tate a new wave of 

innovation and economic growth, DCC is making sure Dublin is not left behind. The establishment of  

the Unit will also assist DCC in meeting its obligations under the ‘European Electronic Communication 

Code’.  

 

Read the full press release here: https://www.dublincity.ie/news/dublin-city-council-launches-

dedicated-telecoms-unit-accelerate-digital-infrastructure-investments  

 

 

3.  New citizen science initiative launched to gather flooding and 

rainfall data for Dublin 

Flooding will become more severe and more frequent as the impact of  

global warming continues, the International Panel on Climate Change 

has warned. Ireland as an island - with all of its major cities built on the 

coast - will be vulnerable. A UCD scientist and partner on the Smart 

Dublin programme is asking people in Dublin to help the city prepare 

Page 194

https://trello.com/b/188O9azF/smart-dublin-project-board
https://smartdublin.ie/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Smart-Dublin-Programme-Highlights-2021_Issued.pdf
https://smartdublin.ie/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Smart-Dublin-Programme-Highlights-2021_Issued.pdf
https://smartdublin.ie/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Smart-Dublin-Programme-Highlights-2021_Issued.pdf
https://www.dublincity.ie/news/dublin-city-council-launches-dedicated-telecoms-unit-accelerate-digital-infrastructure-investments
https://www.dublincity.ie/news/dublin-city-council-launches-dedicated-telecoms-unit-accelerate-digital-infrastructure-investments


 24 
 

for future floods by setting up weather stations. Francesco Pilla, an Associate Professor of Smart 

Cities and Urban Environment at the university, has funding from the EU Operandum project (of 

which DCC is a partner) to deploy up to 100 weather stations across Dublin and is appealing for 

schools, businesses and residents to use them to gather local rainfall data. As Dublin's exposure to 

flooding increases because of extreme weather events and rising sea levels, the data gathered may 

help the city to reduce its vulnerability.  

More information on the project and how to get involved here: 

https://www.rte.ie/news/dublin/2022/0319/1287300-weather-stations/ 

4. Relaunch of the Dublin City Council’s Staff Smart 

Mobility Hub 

The Smart Mobility Hub offers DCC staff an alternative to 

using their private cars for their business travel. The scheme 

provides e-vehicles (e-cars and e-bikes) which are free for 

staff to use during the workday, based in office car parks, and 

simple to book via an app. The project is co-funded with 

Enterprise Ireland under their Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) programme, which al lows 

the public sector to test and design new innovative services pre-procurement.  

 

The Smart Mobility Hub is a multi-partner project, supported by UCD and Science Foundation 

Ireland, and designed and delivered in collaboration with Fingal County Council, and multiple 

commercial partners including Nifty Cars, GTS and Bleeperbike. Phase two of the pilot has been 

delayed due to COVID, but has recently relaunched in multiple DCC sites, the largest being at Civic 

Offices. The pilot project will encourage staff to use the shared vehicles onsite, to provide feedback 

on their experience, and to build a comprehensive picture of the business needs before scal ing up 

this type of service. 

 Link for more information: 

https://smartdublin.ie/smart-mobility-hub-privacy-policy-terms-and-conditions-and-fqs/ 

 

5. Open Data Climate Action Challenge  

Smart Dublin are running their latest Open Data challenge 

seeking data based solutions, which support climate action. 

The challenge will have 5 pillars which include energy & 

buildings, nature-based solutions, transport, resource 

management and flood resilience. The challenge launched on 

Wednesday 30th of March and the deadline for applications 

will close on the 26th of April.  

More information on how to apply can be found here: https://smartdublin.ie/dublin-region-climate-

action-open-data-challenge-2022/  

Page 195

https://www.rte.ie/news/dublin/2022/0319/1287300-weather-stations/
https://smartdublin.ie/smart-mobility-hub-privacy-policy-terms-and-conditions-and-fqs/
https://smartdublin.ie/dublin-region-climate-action-open-data-challenge-2022/
https://smartdublin.ie/dublin-region-climate-action-open-data-challenge-2022/


 25 
 

 

6. Academy of the Near Future Design 

your Future City Week 

Academy of the Near Future held a week of  

workshops for Transition Year students (21-

24th March) to learn about technology, 

innovation, smart cities and careers in STEM. 

The ‘Design Your Future City’ TY Week is a 

collaboration between CONNECT at Trinity 

College Dublin and Dublin City Council. The 

Academy of the Near Future also partnered 

with Virgin Media to deliver this week-long programme for Transition Year students. Students 

explored the future of cities through collaborative and interdisciplinary workshops and discussion, 

sparking creativity and critical thinking.  

Read more here: https://smartdublin.ie/academy-of-the-near-future-design-your-future-city/  

 

7. Civic Dollars, Double Dollar Week update 

Civic Dollars ran a double dollar week from the 14th 

to the 20th of March to encourage additional 

participation. In March Dublin City Council have 

enabled the reporting feature on the app to allow 

users to report littering or damages in the parks. 

Since its launch in November 2021, the app has 

attracted 1203 users, encouraged 1666 hours of 

activity in the park and 1442 dollars donated to local  

community groups. Interestingly, 43% of the total dollars earned have been donated  to local 

community groups rather than for individual rewards. The pilot will run until the end of April 2022 

and a feedback survey will be issued at the start of April which will form part of a final review.  

Read more about Civic Dollars here. 

 

8. Trinity Innovation Awards  

On Tuesday 22nd of February, Trinity College 

Dublin held the Trinity Innovation Awards 

hosted by Provost, Linda Doyle. The event, now 

in its fifth year has already established itsel f as 

a major event in the College calendar and 

celebrates innovation and entrepreneurship at 

Trinity College Dublin. New awards added this 

year included recognition for Consultancy and the Partner award for the outstanding contribution of  

an enterprise partner. Dublin City Council’s Smart City Programme Manager, Jamie Cudden received 

this year’s Partner Award. 

Read more here: https://www.tcd.ie/news_events/articles/leading-researchers-and-inventors-

celebrated-at-trinity-innovation-awards/  

Page 196

https://connectcentre.ie/
https://smartdublin.ie/academy-of-the-near-future-design-your-future-city/
https://civicdollars.com/
https://www.tcd.ie/news_events/articles/leading-researchers-and-inventors-celebrated-at-trinity-innovation-awards/
https://www.tcd.ie/news_events/articles/leading-researchers-and-inventors-celebrated-at-trinity-innovation-awards/


 26 
 

 

9. Smart Dún Laoghaire District Official Launch 

Smart Dublin officially launched its newest smart district, Smart Dún Laoghaire  

supported by Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown County Council on the 10th March. The 

Programme will focus on delivering smart projects that meet the needs of  the 

local community, including the areas of sustainable mobility, urban resi l ience 

and innovation-promotion.  Read more about the launch here. 

For any queries in relation to any of the above please contact: 

Jamie Cudden, Smart City Programme Manager Jamie.cudden@dublincity.ie  or; Nicola 

Graham, Smart City Operations Manager Nicola.graham@dublincity.ie  

 

 

 

Page 197

https://smartdublin.ie/smart-dun-laoghaire-programme-launched/
mailto:Jamie.cudden@dublincity.ie
mailto:Nicola.graham@dublincity.ie

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3a Motion received from Odran Reid and Management Response
	4 Dublin Belfast Economic Corridor Update - William Hynes & Daragh McGreal, KPMG
	Dublin-Belfast Economic Corridor�
	Contents
	Project overview
	DBEC in a wider context
	Evolution of DBEC
	Comparator corridors�
	Consultation feedback
	Indicative findings
	Slide Number 9

	5 Dublin Regional Enterprise Plan 2024 - Caroline Power, Programme Manager, Fingal County Council
	6 Dublin Place Brand Strategy Development - Judith O'Doherty, Eutopia Strategy and Mark O'Connell, OCO Global
	7 Dublin City Local Economic and Community Plan Update - Mary MacSweeney, Senior Executive Officer/Deputy Head of Enterprise & Economic Development
	8a Dublin City Branding & Placemaking Research Report
	8b Makerspace Provision in Dublin Research Report
	8c Enterprise Hubs Research Report
	9 European Programme Support Office & International Relations Report - Anthony Flynn, Executive Manager, CRES
	SPC_Appendix 1_2_EU Programmes_Open Calls_Events

	10 Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports

